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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (this “10-Q”) contains statements that constitute forward-looking statements as
that term is defined by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, as amended. These statements concern our
business, operations and financial performance and condition as well as our plans, objectives and expectations for our
business operations and financial performance and condition, which are subject to risks and uncertainties. All statements
other than statements of historical fact included in this 10-Q are forward-looking statements. These statements may include
words such as “aim,” “anticipate,” “assume,” “believe,” “can have,” “could,” “due,” “estimate,” “expect,” “goal,” “intend,”
“likely,” “may,” “objective,” “plan,” “potential,” “positioned,” “predict,” “should,” “target,” “will,” “would” and other words
and terms of similar meaning in connection with any discussion of the timing or nature of future operating or financial
performance or other events or trends. For example, all statements we make relating to our plans and objectives for future
operations, growth or initiatives and strategies are forward-looking statements.

99 ¢ 99 ¢ EERT3 99 ¢ 99 ¢ 99 ¢

These forward-looking statements are based on current expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections about our
business and the industry in which we operate and our management’s beliefs and assumptions. We derive many of our
forward-looking statements from our own operating budgets and forecasts, which are based upon many detailed assumptions.
While we believe that our assumptions are reasonable, we caution that predicting the impact of known factors is very
difficult, and we cannot anticipate all factors that could affect our actual results.

All of our forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that may cause our actual results to differ
materially from our expectations. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations
include, but are not limited to:

our ability to adequately complete projects in a timely manner,
our ability to compete successfully in the highly competitive energy services market,
changes in state, local and regional economies and government budgets,

our ability to win new contracts, to renew existing contracts (including with our three primary customers and
the two primary customers of Lime Energy Co. (“Lime Energy”) and to compete effectively for contracts
awarded through bidding processes,

our ability to successfully integrate our acquisitions, including our acquisitions of Lime Energy, The Weidt
Group Inc., Onsite Energy Corporation, and Energy and Environmental Economics, Inc. (“E3, Inc.”) and
execute on our growth strategy,

our current expectations with respect to preliminary estimated adjustments to record our assets and liabilities at
their respective estimates of fair values under acquisition accounting,

our ability to make principal and interest payments on our outstanding debt as they come due and comply with
financial and other covenants in our Credit Agreement (as defined herein), and

our ability to obtain financing and to refinance our outstanding debt as it matures.

The above is not a complete list of factors or events that could cause actual results to differ from our expectations,
and we cannot predict all of them. All written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us, or persons acting on our
behalf, are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements and risk factors disclosed in this 10-Q and under
“Risk Factors,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and elsewhere in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2018, as such disclosures may be amended,
supplemented or superseded from time to time by other reports we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
including subsequent Annual Reports on Form 10-K and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and
public communications. You should evaluate all forward-looking statements made in this 10-Q and otherwise in the context
of these risks and uncertainties.

Potential investors and other readers are urged to consider these factors carefully in evaluating the forward-looking
statements and are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements we make. These forward-looking
statements speak only as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and are not guarantees of
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future performance or developments and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that are in many
cases beyond our control. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking
statements publicly, whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements
WILLDAN GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except par value)

(Unaudited)
September 27, December 28,
2019 2018
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ — 3 15,259
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $555 and $442 at September
27,2019 and December 28, 2018, respectively 51,960 61,346
Contract assets 86,676 51,851
Other receivables 4,934 1,893
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 4,817 5,745
Total current assets 148,387 136,094
Equipment and leasehold improvements, net 11,690 7,998
Goodwill 103,090 97,748
Right-of-use assets 12,767 —
Other intangible assets, net 68,808 44,364
Other assets 9,771 2,386
Deferred income taxes, net 8,099 12,321
Total assets $ 362,612 § 300,911
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 34254  $ 36,829
Accrued liabilities 45,937 37,401
Contingent consideration payable 1,573 3,113
Contract liabilities 5,938 5,075
Notes payable 8,220 8,572
Finance lease obligations 529 320
Lease liability 4,194 —
Total current liabilities 100,645 91,310
Contingent consideration payable 1,235 1,616
Notes payable 95,062 62,214
Finance lease obligations, less current portion 230 224
Lease liability, less current portion 9,726 —
Deferred lease obligations — 724
Other noncurrent liabilities 683 534
Total liabilities 207,581 156,622
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 10,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and
outstanding — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 40,000 shares authorized; 11,317 and 10,968 shares issued
and outstanding at September 27, 2019 and December 28, 2018, respectively 113 110
Additional paid-in capital 123,588 114,008
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (480) —
Retained earnings 31,810 30,171
Total stockholders’ equity 155,031 144,289
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 362,612 § 300,911

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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WILLDAN GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Contract revenue

Direct costs of contract revenue (inclusive of directly

related depreciation and amortization):
Salaries and wages
Subcontractor services and other direct costs
Total direct costs of contract revenue

General and administrative expenses:

Salaries and wages, payroll taxes and employee

benefits

Facilities and facility related

Stock-based compensation

Depreciation and amortization

Other
Total general and administrative expenses
Income from operations

Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net
Other, net
Total other expense, net
Income before income taxes

Income tax (benefit) expense
Net income

Other comprehensive income:
Net unrealized loss on derivative contracts
Comprehensive income

Earnings per share:
Basic
Diluted

Weighted-average shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 27, September 28, September 27, September 28,
2019 2018 2019 2018
$ 117,494 $ 71,386 313,683 $ 185,814

16,145 11,233 46,679 33,358

66,677 36,840 175,248 86,453

82,822 48,073 221,927 119,811

15,761 11,125 46,167 31,875

2,250 1,492 6,069 4,087

4,107 1,705 8,148 4,431

5,788 1,117 11,308 3,292

5,471 2,961 16,230 11,226

33,377 18,400 87,922 54,911

1,295 4,913 3,834 11,092
(1,257) (22) (3,599) (75)

2 17 31 36
(1,255) 5) (3,568) (39)

40 4,908 266 11,053

(376) 1,597 (1,373) 2,224

$ 416 $ 3,311 1,639 § 8,829
$ 42) $ — (480) $ —
$ 374§ 3,311 1,159 § 8,829
$ 004 § 0.37 0.15 § 1.00
$ 0.04 $ 0.35 0.14 $ 0.95
11,217 8,844 11,097 8,798

11,789 9,343 11,714 9,283
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WILLDAN GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Balances at December 29, 2017
Shares of common stock issued in connection with employee stock
purchase plan
Shares of common stock issued in connection with incentive stock plan
Stock-based compensation expense
Net income

Balance at March 30, 2018
Shares of common stock issued in connection with incentive stock plan
Shares used to pay taxes on stock grants
Stock-based compensation expense
Net income

Balance at June 29, 2018
Shares of common stock issued in connection with employee stock
purchase plan
Shares of common stock issued in connection with incentive stock plan
Restricted Stock Awards
Stock-based compensation expense
Net income

Balance at September 28, 2018

Balance at December 28, 2018
Shares of common stock issued in connection with employee stock
purchase plan
Shares of common stock issued in connection with incentive stock plan
Unregistered sales of equity securities and use of proceeds
Issuance of restricted stock award and units
Stock-based compensation expense
Net loss
Net unrealized loss on derivative contracts

Balance at March 29, 2019

Shares of common stock issued in connection with incentive stock plan
Shares used to pay taxes on stock grants

Stock-based compensation expense

Net income

Net unrealized loss on derivative contracts

Balance at June 28, 2019

Shares of common stock issued in connection with employee stock
purchase plan

Shares of common stock issued in connection with incentive stock plan
Issuance of restricted stock award and units

Unregistered sales of stock

Stock-based compensation expense

Net income

Net unrealized loss on derivative contracts

Balance at September 27, 2019

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements

(in thousands)

(Unaudited)
Additional Accumulated
Common Stock Paid-in Other Comprehensive
Shares Amount Capital (Loss)/Gain Retained Earnings Total
8799 § 8 § 50,976 $ — 3 20,141 71,205
30 — 617 — — 617
32 1 278 — — 279
— — 1,064 — — 1,064
— — — — 2,203 2,203
881 § 8 § 52,935 § — S 22,344 75,368
11 — 61 — — 61
(15) — (442) — — (442)
— — 1,662 — — 1,662
— — — — 3,315 3,315
8857 § 89 § 54216 § — 3 25,659 79,964
35 — 682 — — 682
8 — 136 — — 136
21 — — — — —
— — 1,705 — — 1,705
— — — — 3,311 3,311
8921 § 8 § 56,739 § — 8 28,970 85,798
Additional Accumulated
Common Stock Paid-in Other Comprehensive
Shares Amount Capital (Loss)/Gain Retained Earnings Total
10,968 § 110 § 114,008 $ — 8 30,171 144,289
28 — 749 — — 749
21 — 291 — — 291
(66) (1) (2,515) — — (2,516)
175 2 ) — — —
— — 1,817 — — 1,817
— — — — 417) (417)
— — — (219) — (219)
11,126 § 111 $ 114348 § 219) § 29,754 143,994
77 1 231 — — 232
) — (346) — — (346)
— — 2,224 — — 2,224
— — — — 1,640 1,640
— — — (219) — (219)
11,194 8§ 112 8§ 116457 § (438) § 31,394 147,525
34 — 991 — — 991
14 — 334 — — 334
22 — — — —
53 1 1,699 — — 1,700
— — 4,107 — — 4,107
_ _ — — 416 416
— — (42) — (42)
11,317 § 113 § 123,588 § (480) $ 31,810 155,031




Table of Contents

WILLDAN GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

(Unaudited)
Nine Months Ended
September 27, September 28,
2019 2018
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 1,639 $ 8,829
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 11,624 3,391
Deferred income taxes, net (285) (1,460)
Gain on sale/disposal of equipment 5) (17)
Provision for doubtful accounts 256 317
Stock-based compensation 8,148 4,431
Accretion and fair value adjustments of contingent consideration (540) (713)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from business acquisitions:
Accounts receivable 13,491 19,492
Contract assets (20,221) (18,252)
Other receivables (3,004) 1,518
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,060 78
Other assets (336) (78)
Accounts payable (5,836) (1,960)
Accrued liabilities 1,164 (1,672)
Contract liabilities 705 (2,320)
Deferred lease obligations — (15)
Right-of-use assets 429 —
Net cash provided by operating activities 8,289 11,569
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of equipment and leasehold improvements (5,636) (720)
Proceeds from sale of equipment 45 41
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired (46,539) (2,994)
Net cash used in investing activities (52,130) (3,673)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Change in excess of outstanding checks over bank balance (1,514) —
Payments on contingent consideration (1,381) (3,768)
Payments on notes payable (1,371) (383)
Payments on debt issuance costs (749) —
Borrowings under term loan facility and line of credit 105,000 —
Repayments under term loan facility and line of credit (72,500) (2,500)
Principal payments on finance leases (338) (321)
Proceeds from stock option exercise 858 476
Proceeds from sales of common stock under employee stock purchase plan 1,740 1,299
Shares used to pay taxes on stock grants (2,862) (442)
Proceeds from unregistered sales of equity 1,699 —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 28,582 (5,639)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (15,259) 2,257
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 15,259 14,424
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ —  $ 16,681
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest $ 3314  $ 75
Income taxes 2,247 2,061
Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing and financing activities:
Loss on cash flow hedge valuations, net of tax (480) —
Contingent consideration related to business acquisitions — 943
Other payable for working capital adjustment — 698
Equipment acquired under finance leases — 281

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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WILLDAN GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION, ORGANIZATION AND OPERATIONS OF THE COMPANY
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and reflect all adjustments, which consist of only normal recurring
adjustments, which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair presentation of the consolidated results for the
interim periods presented. Willdan Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company’) operates and reports its quarterly
financial results based on the 13-week period ending on the Friday closest to March 31, June 30 and September 30 and the 13
or 14-week period ending on the Friday closest to December 31, as applicable, with consideration of business days. Results
for the interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results for the full year. Certain information and footnote disclosures
normally included in annual consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been condensed or
omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations. The condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in
conjunction with the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2018.

The condensed consolidated statement of stockholders' equity includes repurchases of shares of our common stock
from employees to satisfy tax withholding obligations incurred in connection with the vesting of restricted stock or
performance stock units, which amount is presented as a reduction of additional paid-in capital and common stock.

Nature of Business

The Company is a provider of professional technical and consulting services to utilities, private industry, and public
agencies at all levels of government. The Company enables its clients to realize cost and energy savings by providing a wide
range of specialized services without having to incur and maintain the overhead necessary to develop staffing in-house. Such
services include energy and sustainability, engineering, construction management and planning and economic and financial
consulting. The Company operates its business through a nationwide network of offices spread across 24 states and the
District of Columbia. Its clients primarily consist of public and governmental agencies, including cities, counties, public
utilities, redevelopment agencies, water districts, school districts and universities, state agencies, federal agencies, a variety
of other special districts and agencies, private utilities and industry and tribal governments. The Company’s business with
public and private utilities is concentrated primarily in California, New York and North Carolina and its business with public
agencies is concentrated in California, New York and Arizona.

Principles of Consolidation

The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Willdan Group, Inc. (“WGI”) and its
wholly-owned subsidiaries, Willdan Energy Solutions (“WES”), Willdan Engineering, Willdan Infrastructure, Public Agency
Resources and Willdan Financial Services and their respective subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Company accounts for variable interest entities in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”)
810, Consolidation. Under ASC 810, a variable interest entity (“VIE”) is created when any of the following criteria are
present: (a) the equity investment at risk in the entity is not sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without
additional subordinated financial support provided by other parties, including the equity holders; (b) the entity’s equity
holders as a group either (i) lack the direct or indirect ability to make decisions about the entity, (ii) are not obligated to
absorb expected losses of the entity or (iii) do not have the right to receive expected residual returns of the entity; or (c) the
entity’s equity holders have voting rights that are not proportionate to their economic interests, and the activities of the entity
involve or are conducted on behalf of the equity holder with disproportionately few voting
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WILLDAN GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

rights. If an entity is deemed to be a VIE pursuant to ASC 810, the enterprise that has both (i) the power to direct the
activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance and (ii) the obligation to absorb the
expected losses of the entity or right to receive benefits from the entity that could be potentially significant to the VIE is
considered the primary beneficiary and must consolidate the VIE. In accordance with ASC 810, the Company performs
ongoing reassessments of whether an enterprise is the primary beneficiary of a VIE.

As of September 27, 2019, the Company had one VIE—Genesys Engineering, P.C. (“Genesys”). Pursuant to New
York law, the Company does not own capital stock of Genesys and does not have control over the professional decision
making of Genesys’ engineering services. The Company, however, has entered into an administrative services agreement
with Genesys pursuant to which WES, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, will provide Genesys with ongoing
administrative, operational and other non-professional support services. The Company manages Genesys and has the power
to direct the activities that most significantly impact Genesys’ performance, in addition to being obligated to absorb expected
losses from Genesys. Accordingly, the Company is the primary beneficiary of Genesys and consolidates Genesys as a VIE.

Management also concluded there is no noncontrolling interest related to the consolidation of Genesys because
management determined that (i) the shareholder of Genesys does not have more than a nominal amount of equity investment
at risk, (i) WES absorbs the expected losses of Genesys through its deferral of Genesys’ service fees owed to WES, and the
Company has, since entering into the administrative services agreement, had to continuously defer the service fees for
Genesys, and (iii) the Company believes Genesys will continue to have a shortfall on payment of its service fees for the
foreseeable future, leaving no expected residual returns for the shareholder.

Segment Information

WGI is a holding company with five wholly-owned subsidiaries. The Company presents segment information
externally consistent with the manner in which the Company’s chief operating decision maker reviews information to assess
performance and allocate resources. WGI performs administrative functions on behalf of its subsidiaries, such as treasury,
legal, accounting, information systems, human resources and certain business development activities, and earns revenue that
is only incidental to the activities of the enterprise. As a result, WGI does not meet the definition of an operating segment.
The Company’s two segments are Energy and Engineering and Consulting. The Company’s principal segment, Energy,
consists of the business of its subsidiary, WES, which offers energy and sustainability consulting services to utilities, public
agencies and private industry. The Company’s Engineering and Consulting segment includes the operation of the Company’s
remaining direct subsidiaries, Willdan Engineering, Willdan Infrastructure, Public Agency Resources and Willdan Financial
Services. Willdan Engineering provides civil engineering-related construction management, building and safety, city
engineering, city planning, geotechnical, material testing and other engineering consulting services to its clients. Willdan
Infrastructure, which was launched in fiscal year 2013, provides engineering services to larger rail, port, water, mining and
other civil engineering projects. Public Agency Resources primarily provides staffing to Willdan Engineering. Willdan
Financial Services provides economic and financial consulting to public agencies. See Note 11 “—Segment Information” for
segment information for the current and prior period.

Contract Assets and Liabilities

Billing practices are governed by the contract terms of each project based upon costs incurred, achievement of
milestones or pre-agreed schedules. Billings do not necessarily correlate with revenue recognized using the percentage-of-
completion method of revenue recognition. Contract assets include unbilled amounts typically resulting from revenue under
long-term contracts when the percentage-of-completion method of revenue recognition is utilized and revenue recognized
exceeds the amount billed to the customer and right to payment is not unconditional. In addition, contract assets include
retainage amounts withheld from billings to the Company’s clients pursuant to provisions in the contracts. Contract liabilities
consist of advance payments and billings in excess of revenue recognized and deferred revenue.
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WILLDAN GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The increase in contract assets and contract liabilities for the nine months ended September 27, 2019 were primarily
attributable to our recent acquisitions and normal business operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet financing arrangements or liabilities. In addition, the Company
does not have any majority-owned subsidiaries or any interests in, or relationships with, any special-purpose entities that are
not included in the condensed consolidated financial statements. The Company has, however, entered into an administrative
services agreement with Genesys pursuant to which WES, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, will provide Genesys
with ongoing administrative, operational and other non-professional support services. The Company manages Genesys and
has the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact Genesys’ performance, in addition to being obligated to
absorb expected losses from Genesys. Accordingly, the Company is the primary beneficiary of Genesys and consolidates
Genesys as a variable interest entity.

Contract Accounting

The Company enters into contracts with its clients that contain various types of pricing provisions, including fixed
price, time-and-materials and unit-based provisions. The Company recognizes revenues in accordance with ASU 2014-09,
Revenue from Contracts with Customer, codified as ASC Topic 606 and the related amendments (collectively, “ASC 606”).
As such, the Company identifies a contract with a customer, identifies the performance obligations in the contract, determines
the transaction price, allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation in the contract and recognizes revenues
when (or as) the Company satisfies a performance obligation.

The following table reflects the Company’s two reportable segments and the types of contracts that each most
commonly enters into for revenue generating activities.

Segment Contract Type Revenue Recognition Method
Time-and-materials Time-and-materials
Energy Unit-based Unit-based
Software license Unit-based
Fixed price Percentage-of-completion
Time-and-materials Time-and-materials
Engineering and Consulting Unit-based Unit-based
Fixed price Percentage-of-completion

Revenue on the vast majority of the Company’s contracts is recognized over time because of the continuous transfer
of control to the customer. Revenue on fixed price contracts is recognized on the percentage-of-completion method based
generally on the ratio of direct costs incurred-to-date to estimated total direct costs at completion. The Company uses the
percentage-of-completion method to better match the level of work performed at a certain point in time in relation to the
effort that will be required to complete a project. In addition, the percentage-of-completion method is a common method of
revenue recognition in the Company’s industry.

Many of the Company’s fixed price contracts involve a high degree of subcontracted fixed price effort and are
relatively short in duration, thereby lowering the risks of not properly estimating the percent complete. Revenue on time-and-
materials and unit-based contracts is recognized as the work is performed in accordance with the specific rates and terms of
the contract. The Company recognizes revenues for time-and-materials contracts based upon the actual hours incurred during
a reporting period at contractually agreed upon rates per hour and also includes in revenue all reimbursable costs incurred
during a reporting period. Certain of the Company’s time-and-materials contracts are subject to maximum contract values
and, accordingly, when revenue is expected to meet the maximum contract value, these contracts are generally recognized
under the percentage-of-completion method, consistent with fixed price contracts. For unit-based contracts, the Company
recognizes the contract price of units of a basic production product as revenue when

11
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WILLDAN GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

the production product is delivered during a period. Revenue recognition for software licenses issued by the Energy segment
is generally recognized at a point in time, utilizing the unit-based revenue recognition method, upon acceptance of the
software by the customer and in recognition of the fulfillment of the performance obligation. Certain additional performance
obligations beyond the base software license may be separated from the gross license fee and recognized on a straight-line
basis over time. Revenue for amounts that have been billed but not earned is deferred, and such deferred revenue is referred
to as contract liabilities in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.

To determine the proper revenue recognition method for contracts, the Company evaluates whether two or more
contracts should be combined and accounted for as one single contract and whether the combined contract should be
accounted for as one performance obligation. With respect to the Company’s contracts, it is rare that multiple contracts
should be combined into a single performance obligation. This evaluation requires significant judgment and the decision to
combine a group of contracts or separate a single contract into multiple performance obligations could change the amount of
revenue and profit recorded in a given period. Contracts are considered to have a single performance obligation if the
promise to transfer the individual goods or services is not separately identifiable from other promises in the contracts, which
is mainly because the Company provides a significant service of integrating a complex set of tasks and components into a
single project or capability.

The Company may enter into contracts that include separate phases or elements. If each phase or element is
negotiated separately based on the technical resources required and/or the supply and demand for the services being
provided, the Company evaluates if the contracts should be segmented. If certain criteria are met, the contracts would be
segmented which could result in revenues being assigned to the different elements or phases with different rates of
profitability based on the relative value of each element or phase to the estimated total contract revenue.

Contracts that cover multiple phases or elements of the project or service lifecycle (development, construction and
maintenance and support) may be considered to have multiple performance obligations even when they are part of a single
contract. For contracts with multiple performance obligations, the Company allocates the transaction price to each
performance obligation using the best estimate of the standalone selling price of each distinct good or service in the contract.
For the periods presented, the value of the separate performance obligations under contracts with multiple performance
obligations (generally measurement and verification tasks under certain energy performance contracts) were not material. In
cases where the Company does not provide the distinct good or service on a standalone basis, the primary method used to
estimate standalone selling price is the expected cost plus a margin approach, under which the Company forecasts the
Company’s expected costs of satisfying a performance obligation and then adds an appropriate margin for the distinct good
or service.

The Company provides quality of workmanship warranties to customers that are included in the sale and are not
priced or sold separately or do not provide customers with a service in addition to assurance of compliance with agreed-upon
specifications and industry standards. The Company does not consider these types of warranties to be separate performance
obligations.

In some cases, the Company has a master service or blanket agreement with a customer under which each task order
releases the Company to perform specific portions of the overall scope in the service contract. Each task order is typically
accounted for as a separate contract because the task order establishes the enforceable rights and obligations, and payment
terms.

Under ASC 606, variable consideration should be considered when determining the transaction price and estimates
should be made for the variable consideration component of the transaction price, as well as assessing whether an estimate of
variable consideration is constrained. For certain of the Company’s contracts, variable consideration can arise from
modifications to the scope of services resulting from unapproved change orders or customer claims. Variable consideration is
included in the transaction price to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will
not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is resolved. The Company’s estimates of variable
consideration and determination of whether to include estimated amounts in the
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transaction price are based largely on assessments of legal enforceability, the Company’s performance, and all information
(historical, current and forecasted) that is reasonably available to the Company.

Due to the nature of the work required to be performed on many of the Company’s performance obligations, the
estimation of total revenue and cost at completion is complex, subject to many variables and requires significant judgment.
As a significant change in one or more of these estimates could affect the profitability of the Company’s contracts, the
Company reviews and updates the Company’s contract-related estimates regularly through a company-wide disciplined
project review process in which management reviews the progress and execution of the Company’s performance obligations
and the estimate at completion (EAC). As part of this process, management reviews information including, but not limited to,
any outstanding key contract matters, progress towards completion and the related program schedule and the related changes
in estimates of revenues and costs. Management must make assumptions and estimates regarding labor productivity and
availability, the complexity of the work to be performed, the cost and availability of materials, the performance of
subcontractors, and the availability and timing of funding from the customer, among other variables.

The Company recognizes adjustments in estimated profit on contracts under the cumulative catch-up method. Under
this method, the impact of the adjustment on profit recorded to date is recognized in the period the adjustment is identified.
Revenue and profit in future periods of contract performance is recognized using the adjusted estimate. If at any time the
estimate of contract profitability indicates an anticipated loss on the contract, the Company recognizes the full amount of
estimated loss in the period it is identified.

Contracts are often modified to account for changes in contract specifications and requirements. The Company
considers contract modifications to exist when the modification either creates new rights or obligations or changes the
existing enforceable rights or obligations. Most of the Company’s contract modifications are for goods or services that are not
distinct from existing contracts due to the significant integration provided in the context of the contract and are accounted for
as if they were part of the original contract. The effect of a contract modification that is not distinct from the existing contract
on the transaction price and the Company’s measure of progress for the performance obligation to which it relates is
recognized as an adjustment to revenue (either as an increase in or a reduction of revenue) on a cumulative catch-up basis.

For contract modifications that result in the promise to deliver goods or services that are distinct from the existing
contract and the increase in price of the contract is for the same amount as the standalone selling price of the additional goods
or services included in the modification, the Company accounts for such contract modifications as a separate contract.

The Company includes claims to vendors, subcontractors and others as a receivable and a reduction in recognized
costs when enforceability of the claim is established by the contract and the amounts are reasonably estimable and probable
of being recovered. The amounts are recorded up to the extent of the lesser of the amounts management expects to recover or
to costs incurred.

Billing practices are governed by the contract terms of each project based upon costs incurred, achievement of
milestones or pre-agreed schedules. Billings do not necessarily correlate with revenue recognized using the percentage-of-
completion method of revenue recognition.

Direct costs of contract revenue consist primarily of that portion of technical and nontechnical salaries and wages
that has been incurred in connection with revenue producing projects. Direct costs of contract revenue also include
production expenses, subcontractor services and other expenses that are incurred in connection with revenue producing
projects.

Direct costs of contract revenue exclude that portion of technical and nontechnical salaries and wages related to
marketing efforts, vacations, holidays and other time not spent directly generating revenue under existing contracts. Such
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costs are included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of
comprehensive income. Additionally, payroll taxes, bonuses and employee benefit costs for all Company personnel are
included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive
income since no allocation of these costs is made to direct costs of contract revenue. No allocation of facilities costs is made
to direct costs of contract revenue. Other companies may classify as direct costs of contract revenue some of the costs that the
Company classifies as general and administrative costs. The Company expenses direct costs of contract revenue when
incurred.

Included in revenue and costs are all reimbursable costs for which the Company has the risk or on which the fee was
based at the time of bid or negotiation. No revenue or cost is recorded for costs in which the Company acts solely in the
capacity of an agent and has no risks associated with such costs.

Accounts receivable are carried at original invoice amount less an estimate made for doubtful accounts based upon a
review of all outstanding amounts on a quarterly basis. Management determines allowances for doubtful accounts through
specific identification of amounts considered to be uncollectible and potential write-offs, plus a non-specific allowance for
other amounts for which some potential loss has been determined to be probable based on current and past experience. The
Company’s historical credit losses have been minimal with governmental entities and large public utilities, but disputes may
arise related to these receivable amounts. Accounts receivable are written off when deemed uncollectible. Recoveries of
accounts receivable previously written off are recorded when received.

Retainage, included in contract assets, represents amounts withheld from billings to the Company’s clients pursuant
to provisions in the contracts and may not be paid to the Company until specific tasks are completed or the project is
completed and, in some instances, for even longer periods. At September 27, 2019 and December 28, 2018, contract assets
included retainage of $5.2 million and $6.7 million, respectively.

Disaggregation of Revenue

The following tables provides information about disaggregated revenue of the Company’s two segments Energy and
Engineering and Consulting, by contract type, client type and geographical region for the nine months ended September 27,
2019:

Engineering and
Energy Consulting Total
(in thousands)

Contract Type

Time-and-materials $ 10,154  $ 42,624 $ 52,778
Unit-based 188,388 10,719 199,107
Fixed price 59,420 2,378 61,798
Total $ 257,962 $ 55,721  § 313,683
Client Type

Commercial $ 28,063 $ 4,176  $ 32,239
Government 41,400 51,251 92,651
Utilities 188,499 294 188,793
Total $ 257,962 § 55,721  $ 313,683
Geography

Domestic $ 257962 $ 55,721  $ 313,683
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Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of costs over fair value of the assets acquired. The Company completes its annual
testing of goodwill as of the last day of the first month of its fourth fiscal quarter each year to determine whether there is
impairment. Goodwill, which has an indefinite useful life, is not amortized, but instead tested for impairment at least
annually or more frequently if events and circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. Impairment losses for
reporting units are recognized to the extent that a reporting unit’s carrying amount exceeds its fair value. The reporting units
for purposes of testing goodwill impairment coincide with the Company’s reportable segments used for segment reporting
purposes.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company uses the three-tier hierarchy of fair value measurement, which prioritizes the inputs. These tiers
include: Level 1 (the highest priority), defined as observable inputs, such as quoted prices in active markets, Level 2, defined
as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable; and Level 3 (the lowest
priority), defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop its
own assumptions.

The Company’s financial instruments consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents, accounts receivable, contract
assets, other receivables, prepaid expenses and other current assets, accounts payable, accrued liabilities and contract
liabilities, and approximate their fair values because of the relatively short period of time between the origination of these
instruments and their expected realization or payment.

The carrying amounts of certain other assets and contingent consideration are discounted to their present value
because the time between the origination of these instruments and their expected realization or payment is greater than one
year.

The carrying amounts of the derivative financial instrument is valued based on Level 2 inputs.

The carrying amounts of debt obligations approximate their fair values since the terms are comparable to terms
currently offered by local lending institutions for loans of similar terms to companies with comparable credit risk.

On January 31, 2019, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement that the Company designated as
cash flow hedge to fix the variable interest rate on a portion of the Company’s 2018 Term Loan Facility (as defined in Note 7
“—Debt Obligations”). The interest rate swap agreement has a total notional amount of $35.0 million, a fixed annual interest
rate of 2.47% and expires on January 31, 2022. For further discussion of this derivative contract, see Note 13 “—Derivative
Financial Instruments” below.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the condensed consolidated financial statements. Estimates also affect the reported amounts of
revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Liquidity
The Company’s primary source of liquidity is cash generated from operations. As of September 27, 2019, as a result
of the timing of payments where checks outstanding were in excess of the Company’s cash balance, the Company had $0.0 of

cash and cash equivalents. In addition, as of September 27, 2019, the Company had $97.5 million outstanding on its Term A
Loan (as defined in Note 7 “—Debt Obligations”), a $50.0 million Revolving Credit Facility
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(as defined in Note 7 “—Debt Obligations”) with $5.0 million outstanding and $2.7 million in letters of credit issued, and a
$50.0 million Delayed Draw Term Loan (as defined in Note 7 “—Debt Obligations”) with no amounts outstanding, each with
a syndicate of financial institutions as lenders and BMO Harris Bank, N.A. (“BMO”), as administrative agent, and scheduled
to mature on June 26, 2024 (see Note 7 “—Debt Obligations” below). Subsequent to September 27, 2019, the Company
borrowed $27.0 million under its Delayed Draw Term Loan to finance the purchase of its acquisition of Energy and
Environmental Economics, Inc. (“E3, Inc.”), which reduced the future borrowing capacity under the Delayed Draw Term
Loan to $23.0 million (see Note 14 “—Subsequent Events”). The Company believes that cash generated by operating
activities and funds available under its Credit Facilities (as defined in Note 7 “—Debt Obligations”) will be sufficient to
finance its operating activities for at least the next 12 months.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified in the condensed consolidated balance sheets to conform to the
current year presentation.

Adoption of New Accounting Standards
Stock Compensation

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-07, Compensation — Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to
Nonemployee Share-Based Payment Accounting, which expands the scope of current stock compensation recognition
standards to include share-based payment transactions for acquiring goods and services from nonemployees. ASU 2018-07
became effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within that fiscal year.
Effective December 29, 2018, the Company adopted ASU 2018-07 and the impact did not have a material effect on the
Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Intangibles-Goodwill and Other

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350), which eliminates
the requirement to compare the implied fair value of reporting unit goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill
(commonly referred to as Step 2) from the goodwill impairment test. The new standard does not change how a goodwill
impairment is identified. The Company will continue to perform its quantitative and qualitative goodwill impairment test by
comparing the fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying amount, but if the Company were required to recognize a
goodwill impairment charge, under the new standard the amount of the charge would be calculated by subtracting the
reporting unit’s fair value from its carrying amount. Under the prior standard, if the Company were required to recognize a
goodwill impairment charge, Step 2 required us to calculate the implied value of goodwill by assigning the fair value of a
reporting unit to all of its assets and liabilities as if that reporting unit had been acquired in a business combination and the
amount of the charge was calculated by subtracting the reporting unit’s implied fair value of goodwill from its actual
goodwill balance. The new standard is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019,
with early adoption permitted, and should be applied prospectively from the date of adoption. The Company adopted the new
standard for future goodwill impairment tests at the beginning of the fourth quarter of 2019 because it significantly simplifies
the evaluation of goodwill for impairment. The adoption of ASU 2017-04 did not have a material impact on the Company’s
condensed consolidated financial statements.

Proposed Accounting Standards

A variety of proposed or otherwise potential accounting standards are currently being studied by standard-setting
organizations and certain regulatory agencies. Because of the tentative and preliminary nature of such proposed standards,
the Company has not yet determined the effect, if any, that the implementation of such proposed standards would have on its
condensed consolidated financial statements.
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2. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Acquisition of Onsite Energy Corporation

On July 2, 2019, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets and liabilities of Onsite Energy Corporation
(“Onsite Energy”), an energy efficiency services and project implementation firm that specializes in energy upgrades and
commissioning for industrial facilities. The Company believes the acquisition will expand its presence in the California-
based industrial energy management services. Pursuant to the terms of the Asset Purchase Agreement, dated July 2, 2019, by
and between WES and Onsite Energy, WES will pay a maximum aggregate purchase price of $26.4 million, subject to certain
holdback and working capital adjustments, to be paid in cash. Onsite Energy’s financial information is included within the
Energy segment. The Company expects to finalize the purchase price allocation with respect to this transaction during the
second quarter of fiscal year 2020.

The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination in accordance with ASC 805. Under ASC 805, the
Company recorded the acquired assets and assumed liabilities at their estimated fair value with the excess allocated to
goodwill. Goodwill represents the value the Company expects to achieve through the operational synergies, the expansion
into new markets and the acquired company’s assembled work force. The Company estimates that the entire $5.3 million of
goodwill resulting from the acquisition will be tax deductible.

Consideration for the acquisition includes the following:

__Onsite Energy
(in thousands)
Cash paid $ 24,273
Other working capital adjustment -
Total consideration $ 24273

The following table summarizes the preliminary amounts for the acquired assets recorded at their estimated fair
value as of the acquisition date:

__Onsite Energy
(in thousands)
Current assets $ 22,493
Non-current assets' 10
Equipment and leasehold improvements, net 39
Right-of-use assets 828
Current lease liability (168)
Non-current lease liability (660)
Liabilities (12,222)
Backlog 800
Customer relationships 7,374
Tradename 500
Goodwill 5,279
Net assets acquired $ 24,273

(1) Excluded from non-current assets are equipment and leasehold improvements, net, right-of-use assets, customer
relationships, tradename, backlog and goodwill.
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The following unaudited pro forma financial information for the three and nine months ended September 27, 2019
and September 28, 2018 assumes that the acquisitions of substantially all of the assets and liabilities of Onsite Energy and
The Weidt Group and that the acquisition of all the outstanding shares of Lime Energy each occurred on the first day of the
year prior to the year of acquisition:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 27, September 28,  September 27, September 28,
2019 2018 2019 2018
(in thousands, except per share data)

Pro forma revenue $ 117,494 § 119,354 $ 328,731 $ 318,248
Pro forma income from operations $ 1,295 $ 6,173  $ 6,258 $§ 12,426
Pro forma net income' $ 416 $ 3317  $ 3284 § 6,299
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 0.04 $ 031 $ 030 $ 0.58
Diluted $ 0.04 $ 029 % 028 $ 0.56
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 11,217 10,857 11,097 10,810
Diluted 11,789 11,356 11,714 11,285

(1) Adjustments to pro forma net income include income from operations, amortization and interest expenses.

This pro forma supplemental information does not purport to be indicative of what the Company’s operating results
would have been had the acquisitions of substantially all of the assets of Onsite Energy and The Weidt Group and the
acquisition of all the outstanding shares of Lime Energy each occurred on the first day of the year prior to the year of
acquisition and may not be indicative of future operating results.

There were $0.1 million in acquisition related costs associated with Onsite Energy that were included in other
general and administrative expenses in the condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive income for the three and
nine months ended September 27, 2019.

During the three and nine months ended September 27, 2019, the acquisition of Onsite Energy contributed $4.8
million in revenue and $1.0 million in income from operations, respectively.

Acquisition of The Weidt Group

On March 8, 2019, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of the energy practice division of The Weidt
Group Inc. (“The Weidt Group”). The Company believes the acquisition will expand its presence in the upper Midwest and
better position the Company to help utilities make their grids more resilient. Pursuant to the terms of the Asset Purchase
Agreement, dated March 8, 2019, by and among the Company, WES and The Weidt Group, WES paid a cash purchase price
of $22.1 million, inclusive of working capital adjustments. The Weidt Group’s financial information is included within the
Energy segment. The Company expects to finalize the purchase price allocation with respect to this transaction during the
first quarter of 2020.
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The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination in accordance with ASC 805. Under ASC 805, the
Company recorded the acquired assets and assumed liabilities at their estimated fair value with the excess allocated to
goodwill. Goodwill represents the value the Company expects to achieve through the operational synergies, the expansion
into new markets and the acquired company’s assembled work force. The Company estimates that the entire $11.5 million of
goodwill resulting from the acquisition will be tax deductible.

Consideration for the acquisition includes the following:

The Weidt Group
(in thousands)
Cash paid $ 22,136
Other working capital adjustment -
Total consideration $ 22,136

The following table summarizes the preliminary amounts for the acquired assets recorded at their estimated fair
value as of the acquisition date:

The Weidt Group
(in thousands)

Current assets $ 2,317
Non-current assets' 25
Equipment and leasehold improvements, net 198
Right-of-use assets 1,730
Current lease liability (245)
Non-current lease liability (1,533)
Liabilities (612)
Backlog 750
Customer relationships 4,330
Tradename 550
Developed technology 3,170
Goodwill 11,456

Net assets acquired $ 22,136

(1) Excluded from non-current assets are equipment and leasehold improvements, net, right-of-use assets, customer
relationships, tradename, developed technology, backlog and goodwill.

During the three months ended September 27, 2019, the Company made adjustments to the preliminary purchase
price allocation related to The Weidt Group which resulted in an aggregate increase of $1.0 million in the carrying value of
backlog, customer relationships, tradename, and developed technology and an offsetting $1.0 million decrease to the carrying
value of goodwill. The increase in the fair value of intangible assets resulted in an additional amortization expense charge of
$0.2 million for the three months ended September 27, 2019.
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The following unaudited pro forma financial information for the three and nine months ended September 27, 2019
and September 28, 2018 assumes that the acquisitions of substantially all of the assets and liabilities of Onsite Energy and
The Weidt Group and that the acquisition of all the outstanding shares of Lime Energy each occurred on the first day of the
year prior to the year of acquisition:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 27, September 28, September 27,  September 28,
2019 2018 2019 2018
(in thousands, except per share data)

Pro forma revenue $ 117,494 $§ 119,354 $§ 328,731 $§ 318,248
Pro forma income from operations $ 1,295  $ 6,173  $ 6,258 § 12,426
Pro forma net income' $ 416  $ 3,317  $ 3284 $ 6,299
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 004 $ 031 $ 030 $ 0.58
Diluted $ 004 § 029 § 028 § 0.56
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 11,217 10,857 11,097 10,810
Diluted 11,789 11,356 11,714 11,285

(1) Adjustments to pro forma net income include income from operations, amortization and interest expenses.

This pro forma supplemental information does not purport to be indicative of what the Company’s operating results
would have been had the acquisition of substantially all of the assets and liabilities of Onsite Energy, The Weidt Group, and
that the acquisition of all the outstanding shares of Lime Energy each occurred on the first day of the year prior to the year of
acquisition and may not be indicative of future operating results.

There were $0.1 million and $0.4 million in acquisition related costs associated with The Weidt Group that were
included in other general and administrative expenses in the condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive income for
the three and nine months ended September 27, 2019, respectively.

During the three and nine months ended September 27, 2019, the acquisition of The Weidt Group contributed $3.5
million and $7.6 million in revenue and $0.6 million and $1.1 million in income from operations, respectively.

Acquisition of Lime Energy

On October 1, 2018, the Company, through two of its wholly-owned subsidiaries, WES and Luna Fruit, Inc., a
Delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of WES (“Merger Sub”), entered into an agreement to acquire all of the
outstanding shares of capital stock of Lime Energy Co. (“Lime Energy”), pursuant to an agreement and plan of merger dated
October 1, 2018 (the “Merger Agreement”), by and among WES, Merger Sub, Lime Energy, and Luna Stockholder
Representative, LLC, as representative of the participating securityholders of Lime Energy. The Company believes the
addition of Lime Energy’s capabilities will significantly expand and diversify its client base within the energy efficiency
services market and geographic presence across the United States. Lime Energy’s financial information is included within the
Energy segment. The Company expects to finalize the purchase price allocation with respect to this transaction during the
fourth quarter of 2019.

On November 9, 2018, the Company completed the acquisition and, pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub

was merged with and into Lime Energy, with Lime Energy surviving as a wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of the Company.
The aggregate purchase price paid in the acquisition was $122.4 million, inclusive of closing holdbacks and
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adjustments. A portion of the purchase price was deposited into escrow accounts to secure certain potential post-closing
obligations of the participating securityholders. The Company paid the purchase price for the acquisition using a combination
of cash on hand (including $50.0 million of the $56.4 million in net proceeds received from the Company’s equity offering in
October 2018) and proceeds from the Company’s borrowings under a term loan under its 2018 Credit Facilities (see Note 7
“—Debt Obligations” below).

The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination in accordance with ASC 805. Under ASC 805, the
Company recorded the acquired assets and assumed liabilities at their estimated fair value with the excess allocated to
goodwill. Goodwill represents the value the Company expects to achieve through the operational synergies, the expansion
into new markets and the acquired company’s assembled work force. The Company estimates that the entire $46.1 million of
goodwill resulting from the acquisition will not be tax deductible. Consideration for the acquisition includes the following:

Lime Energy
(in thousands)
Cash paid $ 122,439
Other working capital adjustment -
Total consideration $ 122,439

The following table summarizes the preliminary amounts for the acquired assets and liabilities recorded at their
estimated fair value as of the acquisition date:

Lime Energy
(in thousands)

Current assets' $ 45,401
Non-current assets’ 13,847
Cash 1,090
Equipment and leasehold improvements, net 1,892
Liabilities (38,110)
Customer relationships 34,400
Tradename 5,970
Developed technology 10,600
Backlog 1,230
Goodwill 46,119

Net assets acquired $ 122,439

(1) Excluded from current assets is cash

(2) Excluded from non-current assets are equipment and leasehold improvements, net, customer relationships,
tradename, developed technology, backlog and goodwill.

During the three months ended September 27, 2019, the Company made adjustments to the preliminary purchase
price allocation related to Lime Energy which resulted in an aggregate increase of $11.4 million in the carrying value of
liabilities, customer relationships, developed technology, and backlog and an offsetting $11.4 million decrease to the carrying
value of goodwill. The increase in the fair value of intangible assets resulted in an additional amortization expense charge of
$1.9 million for the three months ended September 27, 2019.

There were no acquisition related costs associated with Lime Energy for the three months ended September 27,
2019. There were $0.2 million in acquisition related costs associated with Lime Energy included in other general and
administrative expenses in the condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive income for nine months ended
September 27, 2019.
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The following unaudited pro forma financial information for the three and nine months ended September 27, 2019
and September 28, 2018 assumes that the acquisition of all the outstanding shares of Lime Energy and that the acquisitions of
substantially all of the assets and liabilities of Onsite Energy and The Weidt Group each occurred on the first day of the year
prior to the year of acquisition:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 27, September 28, September 27, September 28,
2019 2018 2019 2018
(in thousands, except per share data)

Pro forma revenue $ 117494 § 119,354 $ 328,731 $ 318,248
Pro forma income from operations $ 1,295 $ 6,173 $ 6,258 $§ 12,426
Pro forma net income' $ 416 $ 3317 $ 3284 $ 6,299
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 0.04 $ 031 $ 030 $ 0.58
Diluted $ 004 $ 029 3 028 $ 0.56
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 11,217 10,857 11,097 10,810
Diluted 11,789 11,356 11,714 11,285

(1) Adjustments to pro forma net income include income from operations, amortization and interest expenses.

This pro forma supplemental information does not purport to be indicative of what the Company’s operating results
would have been had the acquisition of all the outstanding shares of Lime Energy and that the acquisitions of substantially all
of the assets and liabilities of Onsite Energy and The Weidt Group each occurred on the first day of the year prior to the year
of acquisition and may not be indicative of future operating results.

During the three and nine months ended September 27, 2019, the acquisition of Lime Energy contributed $40.8
million and $116.2 million in revenue and $1.3 million and $2.5 million in income from operations, respectively.

Acquisition of Newcomb Anderson McCormick

On April 30, 2018, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, WES, acquired all of the outstanding equity
interests of Newcomb Anderson McCormick, Inc. (“NAM?”). NAM is an energy engineering and consulting company with
offices in San Francisco and Los Angeles that provides clients with mechanical engineering expertise and comprehensive
energy efficiency programs and services. Pursuant to the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement, dated April 30, 2018, by
and among the Company, WES and NAM, WES paid NAM sharcholders a cash purchase price of $4.0 million, inclusive of
earn-out payments and working capital adjustments. The Company finalized the purchase price allocation with respect to
this transaction during the second quarter of 2019. NAM’s financial information is included within the Energy segment.
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3. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

As of September 27, 2019, the Company had $103.1 million of goodwill, which primarily relates to the Energy
segment and the acquisitions within this segment of Lime Energy, NAM, Integral Analytics and Abacus Resource
Management Company (“Abacus”) and substantially all of the assets of Onsite Energy, The Weidt Group, Genesys and 360
Energy Engineers, LLC (“360 Energy”). The remaining goodwill relates to the Engineering and Consulting segment and the
acquisition within this segment of Economists.com, LLC. The changes in the carrying value of goodwill by reporting unit for
the nine months ended September 27, 2019 were as follows:

December 28, Additional Additions / September 27,
2018 Purchase Cost Adjustments 2019
(in thousands)
Reporting Unit:
Energy $ 96999 $ 16,735 $ (11,393) $ 102,341
Engineering and Consulting 749 — — 749

$ 97,748 § 16,735 § (11,393) § 103,090

The gross amounts and accumulated amortization of the Company’s acquired identifiable intangible assets with
finite useful lives as of September 27, 2019 included in other intangible assets, net in the accompanying condensed
consolidated balance sheets, were as follows:

September 27, 2019 December 28, 2018
Gross Accumulated Gross Accumulated Amortization
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization Period
(in thousands) (in years)

Finite:

Backlog $ 4564 $ 3214 § 2514 § 2,155 02 -5.0

Tradename 11,351 4,400 10,301 3,118 3.0 -6.0

Non-compete agreements 1,420 1,270 1,420 1,042 4.0 -5.0

Developed technology 18,180 3,286 12,920 944 50 - 8.0

Customer relationships 51,923 6,460 25,219 2441 50 -10.0
Total finite intangible assets 87,438 $§ 18,630 52374 $ 9,700

In-process research and technology' — — 1,690 —
Total intangible assets $ 87438 $§ 18,630 $ 54,064 $ 9,700

(1) In-process research and technology will not be amortized until put into use.

As part of prior acquisitions, the Company recorded at the time of the acquisition acquired in-process research and
development (“IPR&D”) for projects in progress that had not yet reached technological feasibility. [IPR&D is initially
accounted for as an indefinite-lived intangible asset. Once a project reaches technological feasibility, the Company
reclassifies the balance to developed technology and begins to amortize the intangible asset over its estimated useful life.
During the three and nine months ended September 27, 2019, the Company reclassified $1.7 million of acquired IPR&D to
developed technology and commenced amortization over its estimated useful life of 7 years.

The Company’s amortization expense for acquired identifiable intangible assets with finite useful lives was $4.9

million and $8.9 million for the fiscal three and nine months ended September 27, 2019 as compared to $0.7 million and $2.1
million for the fiscal three and nine months ended September 28, 2018, respectively. Estimated amortization
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expense for acquired identifiable intangible assets for the remainder of fiscal year 2019 and the succeeding years are as
follows:

Future Intangible Asset

Amortization expense

(in thousands)
Fiscal year:

Remainder of 2019 $ 3,040
2020 11,589
2021 10,186
2022 9,936
2023 9,278
2024 5,781
Thereafter 18,998

$ 68,808

At the time of acquisition, the Company estimates the fair value of the acquired identifiable intangible assets based
upon the facts and circumstances related to the particular intangible asset. Inherent in such estimates are judgments and
estimates of future revenue, profitability, cash flows and appropriate discount rates for any present value calculations. The
Company preliminarily estimates the value of the acquired identifiable intangible assets and then finalizes the estimated fair
values during the purchase allocation period, which does not extend beyond 12 months from the date of acquisition.

The Company tests its goodwill at least annually for possible impairment. The Company completes its annual
testing of goodwill as of the last day of the first month of its fourth fiscal quarter each year to determine whether there is
impairment. In addition to the Company’s annual test, it regularly evaluates whether events and circumstances have occurred
that may indicate a potential impairment of goodwill. No impairment was recorded during the nine months ended September
27,2019.

4. EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS)
Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the weighted-average number
of common shares outstanding. Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of

common shares outstanding and dilutive potential common shares for the period. Potential common shares include the
weighted-average dilutive effects of outstanding stock options and restricted stock awards using the treasury stock method.
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The following table sets forth the number of weighted-average common shares outstanding used to compute basic
and diluted EPS:

Three months ended Nine months ended
September 27, September 28, September 27, September 28,
2019 18 19 18
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Net income $ 416 §$ 3311 § 1,639 $ 8,829
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 11,217 8,844 11,097 8,798
Effect of dilutive stock options and restricted stock
awards 572 499 617 485
Weighted-average common shares outstanding-diluted 11,789 9,343 11,714 9,283
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 004 $ 037 $ 0.15 $ 1.00
Diluted $ 004 $§ 035 $ 0.14 § 0.95

For the three and nine months ended September 27, 2019, 155,000 options were excluded from the calculation of
dilutive potential common shares, as compared to 241,000 and 215,000 options for the three and nine months ended
September 28, 2018, respectively. These options were not included in the computation of dilutive potential common shares
because the assumed proceeds per share exceeded the average market price per share for the 2019 and 2018 periods,
respectively. Accordingly, the inclusion of these options would have been anti-dilutive.

S. EQUIPMENT AND LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS, NET

Equipment and leasehold improvements consisted of the following at September 27, 2019 and December 28, 2018:

September 27, December 28,

2019 2018
(in thousands)

Furniture and fixtures $ 4264 $ 3,551
Computer hardware and software 13,975 10,874
Leasehold improvements 2,282 1,419
Equipment under finance leases 1,850 1,304
Automobiles, trucks, and field equipment 3,533 2,635

25,904 19,783
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (14,214) (11,785)
Equipment and leasehold improvements, net $ 11,690 § 7,998

Included in accumulated depreciation and amortization is $366,000 and $374,000 of amortization expense related to
equipment held under finance leases in the nine months ended September 27, 2019 and fiscal year 2018, respectively.
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6. ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Accrued liabilities consist of the following:

September 27, December 28,

2019 2018
(in thousands)
Accrued bonuses $ 1,803 $ 5,273
Accrued interest 35 127
Paid leave bank 4,259 3,512
Compensation and payroll taxes 1,529 2,544
Accrued legal 18 153
Accrued workers’ compensation insurance 188 273
Accrued rent — 233
Employee withholdings 1,452 2,137
Client deposits 234 280
Accrued subcontractor costs 34,164 21,446
Other 2,255 1,423
Total accrued liabilities $ 45937 $ 37,401

7. DEBT OBLIGATIONS

Debt obligations, excluding obligations under finance leases (see Note 8 “—Leases” below), consist of the
following at September 27, 2019 and December 28, 2018:
September 27, December 28,

2019 2018
(in thousands)

Outstanding borrowings on Term A Loan $§ 97,500 $ 70,000
Outstanding borrowings on Revolving Credit Facility 5,000 —
Other debt agreements 1,531 1,711

Total debt 104,031 71,711
Issuance costs and debt discounts (749) (925)

Subtotal 103,282 70,786
Less current portion of long-term debt 8,220 8,572

Long-term debt portion $ 95062 $ 62214

New Credit Facilities

On June 26, 2019, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into an Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with a syndicate of financial institutions as lenders and BMO Harris Bank, N.A.
(“BMO?”), as administrative agent. The Credit Agreement amends and restates the Company’s prior credit agreement, which
was entered into on October 1, 2018 with a syndicate of financial institutions as lenders and BMO and was scheduled to
mature on October 1, 2023.

The Credit Agreement provides for (i) a $100.0 million term loan (the “Term A Loan™), (ii) up to $50.0 million in
delayed draw term loans (the “Delayed Draw Term Loan”), and (iii) a $50.0 million revolving credit facility (the “Revolving
Credit Facility” and, collectively with the Term A Loan and the Delayed Draw Term Loan, the “Credit Facilities”), each
maturing on June 26, 2024. The Company may borrow under the Delayed Draw Term Loan any time and from time to time
until June 26, 2022; provided that each borrowing under the Delayed Draw Term Loan must be a minimum of $10.0 million,
the Company may not make more than five borrowings under the Delayed Draw Term Loan and any borrowings made under
the Delayed Draw Term Loan will permanently reduce future borrowing capacity under the Delayed Draw Term Loan. In
addition, the Company must satisfy certain conditions prior to borrowing under the Delayed Draw Term Loan, including, but
not limited to, that upon giving effect to such borrowing under the Delayed
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Draw Term Loan and any Credit Event (as defined in the Credit Agreement) in connection therewith, the Company will be in
compliance with all financial covenants on a pro forma basis and the Company’s consolidated total leverage ratio will be no
greater than 0.25x less than the consolidated total leverage ratio covenant compliance level in effect at the time of such
borrowing. On October 28, 2019, the Company borrowed $27.0 million under the Delayed Draw Term Loan to finance the
purchase of its acquisition of E3, Inc., which reduced the future borrowing capacity under the Delayed Draw Term Loan to
$23.0 million.

The Company may also request lenders to add incremental term loans or increase the aggregate commitment under
the Revolving Credit Facility by an aggregate amount of up to $100.0 million, subject to meeting certain conditions, and only
if the existing or new lenders agree to provide the additional term or revolving commitments.

Borrowings under the Credit Facilities bear interest at a rate equal to either, at the Company’s option, (i) the highest
of the prime rate, the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.50% or one-month LIBOR plus 1.00% (the “Base Rate”) or (ii) LIBOR, in
each case plus an applicable margin ranging from 0.125% to 1.00% with respect to Base Rate borrowings and 1.125% to
2.00% with respect to LIBOR borrowings. The applicable margin varies based upon the Company’s consolidated total
leverage ratio. The Company will also pay commitment fees for the unused portion of the Revolving Credit Facility and the
Delayed Draw Term Loan, which ranges from 0.15% to 0.35% per annum depending on the Company’s consolidated total
leverage ratio, and fees on the face amount of any letters of credit outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility, which
range from 0.84% to 2.00% per annum, in each case, depending on whether such letter of credit is a performance or financial
letter of credit and the Company’s consolidated total leverage ratio. The Term A Loan issuance costs are amortized to interest
expense over the term of the loan, and as of September 27, 2019, issuance costs of $0.7 million remained unamortized. The
Delayed Draw Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility issuance cost of $0.8 million are included in assets in the
accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.

The Term A Loan amortizes quarterly in installments of $2.5 million beginning with the fiscal quarter ending
September 27, 2019, with a final payment of all then remaining principal and interest due on the maturity date of June 26,
2024. Any Delayed Draw Term Loan will amortize quarterly in an amount equal to 2.5% of the aggregate outstanding
borrowings under the Delayed Draw Term Loan, beginning with the first full fiscal quarter ending after the initial borrowing
date, with a final payment of all then remaining principal and interest due on the maturity date of June 26, 2024. The amounts
outstanding under the Credit Facilities may be prepaid in whole or in part at any time without penalty.

Willdan Group, Inc. is the borrower under the Credit Agreement and its obligations under the Credit Agreement are
guaranteed by its present and future domestic subsidiaries (other than inactive subsidiaries). In addition, subject to certain
exceptions, all such obligations are secured by substantially all of the assets of Willdan Group, Inc. and the subsidiary
guarantors.

The Credit Agreement requires compliance with financial covenants, including a maximum total consolidated
leverage ratio and a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio. The Credit Agreement also contains customary restrictive
covenants including (i) restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness and additional liens on property, (ii)
restrictions on permitted acquisitions and other investments and (iii) limitations on asset sales, mergers and acquisitions.
Further, the Credit Agreement limits the Company’s payment of future dividends and distributions and share repurchases by
the Company. Subject to certain exceptions, the borrowings under the Credit Agreement are also subject to mandatory
prepayment from (a) any issuances of debt or equity securities, (b) any sale or disposition of assets, (c) insurance and
condemnation proceeds (d) representation and warranty insurance proceeds related to insurance policies issued in connection
with acquisitions and (e) excess cash flow. The Credit Agreement includes customary events of default.

The Company believes that, as of September 27, 2019, it was in compliance with all covenants contained in the
Credit Agreement.
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On January 31, 2019, the Company entered into an interest swap agreement for $35.0 million notional amount. The
interest swap agreement was designated as a cash flow hedge to fix the variable interest rate on a portion of the outstanding
principal amount under the Company’s 2018 Term Loan Facility. The interest swap fixed annual rate is 2.47% and the
amortization is quarterly in an amount equal to 10% annually. The interest swap agreement expires on January 31, 2022. As
of September 27, 2019, the Company’s composite interest rate, exclusive of the effects of upfront fees, undrawn fees and
issuance cost amortization, was 4.40%.

Prior Credit Facilities
2018 Credit Facility

On October 1, 2018, in connection with the acquisition of Lime Energy, the Company entered into a credit
agreement (the “2018 Credit Agreement”) with a syndicate of financial institutions as lenders, and BMO Harris Bank, N.A.,
as administrative agent. The 2018 Credit Agreement initially provided for up to a $90.0 million delayed draw term loan
facility (the “2018 Term Loan Facility”) and a $30.0 million revolving credit facility (collectively, the “2018 Credit
Facilities”), each maturing on October 1, 2023. On October 10, 2018, as a result of the Company’s completed equity offering,
the amount available for borrowing under the 2018 Term Loan Facility was reduced to $70.0 million. On November 9, 2018,
in connection with the closing of the acquisition of Lime Energy, the Company borrowed $70.0 million (the “2018 Term
Loan”) under the 2018 Term Loan Facility. The proceeds of such borrowing were used to pay part of the consideration owed
in connection with the acquisition along with related fees and expenses. On June 26, 2019, in connection with the Company
entering into the Credit Agreement, the 2018 Credit Agreement was amended and restated.

The 2018 Credit Facilities bore interest at a rate equal to either, at the Company’s option, (i) the highest of the prime
rate, the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.50% or one-month LIBOR plus 1.00% (“Base Rate”) or (ii) LIBOR, in each case plus an
applicable margin ranging from 0.25% to 3.00% with respect to Base Rate borrowings and 1.25% to 4.00% with respect to
LIBOR borrowings. The applicable margin was based upon the Company’s consolidated total leverage ratio. The Company
was also required to pay a commitment fee for the unused portion of the revolving credit facility, which ranged from 0.20%
to 0.40% per annum depending on the Company’s consolidated total leverage ratio, and fees on the face amount of any letters
of credit outstanding under the revolving credit facility, which ranged from 0.94% to 4.00% per annum, in each case,
depending on whether such letter of credit was a performance or financial letter of credit and the Company’s consolidated
total leverage ratio.

Borrowings under the 2018 Credit Agreement were guaranteed by all of the Company’s direct and indirect domestic
subsidiaries (other than inactive subsidiaries). In addition, subject to certain exceptions, all such obligations were secured by
substantially all of the assets of Willdan Group, Inc. and the subsidiary guarantors.

2017 Credit Facility

On January 20, 2017, the Company and each of its subsidiaries, as guarantors, entered into an Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement (the “2017 Credit Agreement”) with BMO, as lender. The 2017 Credit Agreement amended and
extended the Company’s prior credit agreement. The 2017 Credit Agreement provided for a $35.0 million revolving line of
credit, including a $10.0 million standby letter of credit sub-facility, and was scheduled to mature on January 20, 2020.
Borrowings under the 2017 Credit Agreement bore interest at a rate equal to either, at the Company’s option, (i) the highest
of the prime rate, the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.5% or one-month London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 1% (the
“Base Rate”) or (ii) LIBOR, in each case plus an applicable margin ranging from 0.25% to 1.00% with respect to Base Rate
borrowings and 1.25% to 2.00% with respect to LIBOR borrowings. The applicable margin was based upon the consolidated
leverage ratio of the Company. The Company was also required to pay a commitment fee for the unused portion of the
revolving line of credit, which ranged from 0.20% to 0.35% per annum, and fees on any letters of credit drawn under the
facility, which ranged from 0.94% to 1.50%, in each case, depending on the Company’s consolidated leverage ratio.
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Borrowings under the 2017 Credit Agreement were guaranteed by all of the Company’s direct and indirect
subsidiaries and secured by substantially all of the Company’s and the Guarantors’ assets. On October 1, 2018, in connection
with the Company entering into the 2018 Credit Agreement, the 2017 Credit Agreement was terminated.

Other Debt Agreements
Insurance Premiums

The Company has also financed, from time to time, insurance premiums by entering into unsecured notes payable
with insurance companies. During the Company’s annual insurance renewals in the fourth quarter of its fiscal year ended
December 28, 2018, the Company elected to finance its insurance premiums for the 2019 fiscal year with a note payable
bearing interest at an annual rate of 4.3%, payable in monthly principal and interest installments of $149,881 through October
2019. Included in the Company’s insurance renewal terms are individual stop loss amount of $100,000 and an aggregate of
125%. As of September 27, 2019 and December 28, 2018, the unpaid balance of the financed premiums totaled $0.3 million
and $1.5 million, respectively.

Software Agreements

The Company has also financed, from time to time, software costs by entering into unsecured notes payable with
software providers. During the fiscal year ended December 28, 2018, the Company elected to finance its IBM software costs
of $0.2 million with a note payable bearing interest at an annual rate of 4.656%, payable in monthly principal and interest
installments of $6,315 through November 2021. As of September 27, 2019 and December 28, 2018, the unpaid balance
related to the IBM software agreement totaled $150,000 and $211,000, respectively.

Utility Customer Agreement

In connection with the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of Onsite Energy, the Company assumed a
contract dispute settlement agreement between Onsite Energy and one of its utility customers dated December 20, 2018 (the
“Utility Customer Agreement”) where Onsite Energy agreed to pay $1.7 million, bearing interest at an imputed annual rate of
4.332%, payable in quarterly principal and interest installments through June 2021. The unpaid balance of the Utility
Customer Agreement totaled $1.1 million as of September 27, 2019.

8. LEASES

The Company is obligated under finance leases for certain furniture and office equipment that expire at various
dates through the year 2022.

The Company also leases certain office facilities under non-cancelable operating leases that expire at various dates
through the year 2027.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The FASB issued this update to increase
transparency and comparability among organizations by recognizing lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet and
disclosing key information about leasing arrangements. The updated guidance was effective for annual periods beginning
after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years.

Change in Accounting Policy
On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) using the modified retrospective
method. Under this guidance, the net present value of future lease payments is recorded as right-of-use assets and lease

liabilities. In addition, the Company elected the ‘package of practical expedients’ permitted under the transition guidance
within the new standard, which among other things, allowed the Company to carry forward the
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historical lease classification. In addition, the Company elected not to utilize the hindsight practical expedient to determine
the lease term for existing leases. The Company elected the short-term lease recognition exemption for all leases that qualify.
This means, for those leases that qualify, the Company did not recognize right-of-use assets or lease liabilities, including not
recognizing right-of-use assets or lease liabilities for existing short-term leases of those assets in transition. The Company
also elected the practical expedient to not separate lease and non-lease components for our facilities leases. Adoption of the
new standard resulted in the recording of additional right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities of approximately $10.9
million and $11.9 million, respectively, as of January 1, 2019. The adoption of Topic 842 did not impact the Company’s
retained earnings, consolidated net earnings or cash flows.

From time to time, the Company enters into non-cancelable leases for some of our facility and equipment needs.
These leases allow the Company to conserve cash by paying a monthly lease rental fee for the use of facilities and equipment
rather than purchasing them. The Company’s leases have remaining terms ranging from one to eight years, some of which
may include options to extend the leases for up to five years, and some of which may include options to terminate the leases
within one year. Currently, all of the Company’s leases contain fixed payment terms. The Company may decide to cancel or
terminate a lease before the end of its term, in which case we are typically liable to the lessor for the remaining lease
payments under the term of the lease. Additionally, all of our month-to-month leases are cancelable by the Company or the
lessor, at any time and are not included in our right-of-use asset or lease liability. As of September 27, 2019, the Company
had no leases with residual value guarantees. Typically, the Company has purchase options on the equipment underlying its
long-term leases. The Company may exercise some of these purchase options when the need for equipment is on-going and
the purchase option price is attractive. Nonperformance-related default covenants, cross-default provisions, subjective default
provisions and material adverse change clauses contained in material lease agreements, if any, are also evaluated to determine
whether those clauses affect lease classification in accordance with “ASC” Topic 842-10-25. Leases are accounted for as
operating or financing leases, depending on the terms of the lease.

Financing Leases

The Company leases certain equipment under financing leases. The economic substance of the leases is a financing
transaction for acquisition of equipment and leasehold improvements. Accordingly, the right-of-use assets for these leases are
included in the balance sheets in equipment and leasehold improvements, net of accumulated depreciation, with a
corresponding amount recorded in current portion of financing lease obligations or noncurrent portion of financing lease
obligations, as appropriate. The financing lease assets are amortized over the life of the lease or, if shorter, the life of the
leased asset, on a straight-line basis and included in depreciation expense. The interest associated with financing lease
obligations is included in interest expense.

Right-of-use assets

Operating leases are included in right-of-use assets, and current portion of lease liability and noncurrent portion of
lease liability, as appropriate. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are recognized based on the present value of the future
minimum lease payments over the lease term at commencement date. As most of the Company’s leases do not provide an
implicit rate to calculate present value, the Company determines this rate by estimating the Company’s incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset also includes any lease payments made and initial
direct costs incurred at lease commencement and excludes lease incentives. Our lease terms may include options to extend or
terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option. Lease expense for minimum lease
payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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The following is a summary of the lease expense recorded for the three and nine months ended September 27, 2019:

Three Months Ended

September 27, 2019

Nine Months Ended
September 27, 2019

(in thousands)

Operating lease cost $ 1,288 § 3,558
Finance lease cost:
Amortization of assets 242 366
Interest on lease liabilities 19 28
Total net lease cost $ 1,549 $ 3,952

The following is a summary of lease information presented on the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheet

as of September 27, 2019 and for the nine months then ended:

September 27, 2019

Operating leases:

(in thousands)

Right-of-use assets $ 12,767
Lease liability $ 4,194
Lease liability, less current portion 9,726
Total lease liabilities $ 13,920
Finance leases (included in equipment and leasehold improvements, net):
Equipment and leasehold improvements, net $ 1,850
Accumulated depreciation (1,148)
Total equipment and leasehold improvements, net $ 702
Finance lease obligations $ 529
Finance lease obligations, less current portion 230
Total finance lease obligations $ 759
Weighted average remaining lease term (in years):
Operating Leases 3.74
Finance Leases 1.56
Weighted average discount rate:
Operating Leases 515 %
Finance Leases 4.91 %
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The following is a summary of other information and supplemental cash flow information related to finance and
operating leases for nine months ended September 27, 2019:

Nine Months Ended
September 27, 2019
(in thousands)

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:

Operating cash flow from operating leases $ 3,645
Operating cash flow from finance leases 98
Financing cash flow from finance leases 338

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities:
Operating leases 3,029

The following is a summary of the maturities of lease liabilities as of September 27, 2019:

Operating Finance
(in thousands)

Fiscal year:

Remainder of 2019 $ 1,276  $ 177
2020 4,355 464
2021 3,520 137
2022 2,778 8
2023 1,641 —
2024 and thereafter 1,963 —
Total lease payments $ 15,533  § 786
Less: Imputed interest (1,613) 27)
Total lease obligations 13,920 759
Less: Current obligations 4,194 529
Noncurrent lease obligations $ 9,726 $ 230

The imputed interest for finance lease obligations represents the interest component of finance leases that will be
recognized as interest expense in future periods. The financing component for operating lease obligations represents the
effect of discounting the operating lease payments to their present value.

Capital Leases

Prior to the adoption of ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), the Company leased certain equipment under capital
leases. The economic substance of these leases was a financing transaction for purchase of the equipment and leasehold
improvements, accordingly, the leases were included in the balance sheets in equipment and leasehold improvement, net of
accumulated depreciation, with a corresponding amount recorded in current portion of lease obligations or noncurrent portion
of lease obligations, as appropriate. The capital lease assets were amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease
or, if shorter, the life of the leased asset, and were included in depreciation expense in the statements of operations. The
interest associated with capital leases was included in interest expense in the statements of operations.

As of December 28, 2018, the Company had $0.5 million of capital lease obligations outstanding, $0.3 million of
which was classified as a current liability.

As of December 28, 2018, $0.5 million of leased assets were capitalized in equipment and leasehold improvements,
net of accumulated depreciation.
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9. COMMITMENTS
Employee Benefit Plans

The Company has a qualified profit sharing plan pursuant to Code Section 401(a) and qualified cash or deferred
arrangement pursuant to Code Section 401(k) covering all employees. Employees may elect to contribute up to 50% of their
compensation limited to the amount allowed by tax laws. Company contributions are made solely at the discretion of the
Company’s board of directors.

The Company also has a defined contribution plan (the “Plan”) covering employees who have completed three
months of service and who have attained 21 years of age. During the nine months ended September 27, 2019, the Company
elected to make matching contributions equal to 50% of the participants’ contributions to the Plan up to 6% of the individual
participant’s compensation. Under the defined contribution plan, the Company may make discretionary matching
contributions to employee accounts.

The Company made matching contributions of approximately $1.6 million during the nine months ended September
27,2019.

The Company has a discretionary bonus plan for regional managers, division managers and others as determined by
the president and chief executive officer of the Company. Bonuses are awarded if certain financial goals are achieved. The
financial goals are not stated in the plan; rather they are judgmentally determined each year. In addition, the board of
directors may declare discretionary bonuses to key employees and all employees are eligible for bonuses for outstanding
performance. The Company’s compensation committee of the board of directors determines the compensation of the
president and chief executive officer and other executive officers.

Post-Employment Health Benefits

In May 2006, the Company’s board of directors approved providing lifetime health insurance coverage for Win
Westfall, the Company’s former chief executive officer and former member of the board of directors, and his spouse and for
Linda Heil, the widow of the Company’s former chief executive officer, Dan Heil. These benefits relate to past services
provided to the Company. Accordingly, there is no unamortized compensation cost for the benefits.

10. INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting basis and tax basis of the
Company’s assets and liabilities, subject to a judgmental assessment of the recoverability of deferred tax assets. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in
tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is recorded when it is
more-likely-than-not that some of the deferred tax assets may not be realized. Significant judgment is applied when assessing
the need for valuation allowances. Areas of estimation include the Company’s consideration of future taxable income and
ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies. Should a change in circumstances lead to a change in judgment about
the utilization of deferred tax assets in future years, the Company would adjust the related valuation allowances in the period
that the change in circumstances occurs, along with a corresponding increase or charge to income.

During each fiscal year, management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient

future taxable income will be generated to utilize existing deferred tax assets. Beginning in fiscal year 2017, the Company
determined that it was more-likely-than-not that the entire California net operating loss will not be utilized
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prior to expiration. Significant pieces of objective evidence evaluated included the Company’s history of utilization of
California net operating losses in prior years for each of its subsidiaries, as well as the Company’s forecasted amount of net
operating loss utilization for certain members of the combined group. As a result, the Company recorded a valuation
allowance in the amount of $86,000 at the end of fiscal year 2018 related to California net operating losses. There was no
change to the valuation allowance during the nine month period ended September 27, 2019.

For acquired business entities, if the Company identifies changes to acquired deferred tax asset valuation
allowances or liabilities related to uncertain tax positions during the measurement period and they relate to new information
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date, those changes are considered a measurement
period adjustment and the Company records the offset to goodwill. The Company records all other changes to deferred tax
asset valuation allowances and liabilities related to uncertain tax positions in current period income tax expense.

The Company recognizes the tax benefit from uncertain tax positions if it is more likely than not that the tax
positions will be sustained on examination by the tax authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax
benefit is measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate
settlement. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. As of
September 27, 2019, the Company recorded a liability of $0.1 million for uncertain tax positions related to miscellaneous tax
deductions taken in open tax years. Included in this amount are $0.1 million of tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect
the effective tax rate. Interest and penalties of $0.03 million have been recorded related to unrecognized tax benefits as of
September 27, 2019.

Based on management’s estimates and determination of an effective tax rate for the year, the Company recorded an
income tax benefit of $0.44 million and $1.4 million for the three and nine months ended September 27, 2019, as compared
to an income tax expense of $1.6 million and $2.2 million for the three and nine months ended September 28, 2018,
respectively. During the three and nine months ended September 27, 2019, the difference between the effective tax rate and
the federal statutory rate is primarily attributable to the recognition of tax deductions related to the vesting of performance-
based restricted stock units, exercise of non-qualified stock options, disqualifying dispositions arising from the sale of
employee stock purchase and incentive stock options, and the reduction of the Company’s uncertain tax position. The income
tax benefit related to these deductions has been included as an increase of 1,649.65% to the Company’s effective tax rate for
the nine months ended September 27, 2019. The effective tax rate also varies from the federal statutory rate due to the impact
of state income tax expense and certain expenses that are non-deductible for tax purposes, including meals and entertainment,
excess compensation for covered employees and compensation expense related to employee stock purchase and incentive
stock options.

During the nine months ended September 27, 2019, the Internal Revenue Service continued its audit of the
Company’s tax return for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2016. The Company is unable to determine the impact of this
examination due to the audit process having not been completed.

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company’s two segments are Energy and Engineering and Consulting. The Company’s chief operating decision
maker, which continues to be its chief executive officer, receives and reviews financial information in this format. The
Company’s principal segment, Energy, consists of the business of its subsidiary WES. WES provides energy efficiency
consulting services to utilities, public agencies, municipalities, private industry and non-profit organizations. The
Engineering and Consulting segment includes the operation of the Company’s remaining subsidiaries, Willdan Engineering,
Willdan Infrastructure, Public Agency Resources and Willdan Financial Services. The Engineering and Consulting segment
offers a broad range of engineering and planning services to the Company’s public and private sector clients, expertise and
support for the various financing techniques employed by public agencies to finance their operations and infrastructure along
with the mandated reporting and other requirements associated with these financing services to cities, related municipal
service agencies and other entities.
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The accounting policies applied to determine the segment information are the same as those described in the
summary of significant accounting policies included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 28, 2018. There were no intersegment sales in the three month periods ended September 27, 2019 and September
28, 2018. The Company’s chief operating decision maker evaluates the performance of each segment based upon income or
loss from operations before income taxes. Certain segment asset information including expenditures for long-lived assets has
not been presented as it is not reported to or reviewed by the chief operating decision maker. In addition, enterprise-wide
service line contract revenue is not included as it is impracticable to report this information for each group of similar services.

Financial information with respect to the reportable segments as of and for the fiscal three and nine months ended
September 27, 2019 and as of and for the fiscal three and nine months ended September 28, 2018 is as follows:

Engineering Unallocated Consolidated
Energy & Consulting Corporate Interseg Total
(in thousands)

Fiscal Three Months Ended September 27, 2019

Contract revenue $ 97,934 $ 19,560  $ — 3 —  $ 117,494
Depreciation and amortization 5,425 363 — — 5,788
Interest expense, net 20 — 1,237 — 1,257
Segment profit (loss) before income tax expense 1,669 2,586 (4,215) — 40
Income tax expense (benefit) 461 715 (1,552) — (376)
Net income (loss) 1,208 1,871 (2,663) — 416
Segment assets’ 246,675 23,366 115,701 (23,130) 362,612
Fiscal Three Months Ended September 28, 2018
Contract revenue $ 50,085 $ 21,301 $ — 3 — 3 71,386
Depreciation and amortization 926 191 — — 1,117
Interest expense 18 4 — — 22
Segment profit (loss) before income tax expense 4,349 2,395 (1,836) — 4,908
Income tax expense (benefit) 1,415 779 (597) — 1,597
Net income (loss) 2,934 1,616 (1,239) — 3,311
Segment assets’ 103,752 20,057 39,930 (23,130) 140,609
Fiscal Nine Months Ended September 27, 2019
Contract revenue $ 257,910 $ 55,773 $ — 3 — 3 313,683
Depreciation and amortization 10,353 955 — — 11,308
Interest expense, net 20 — 3,579 — 3,599
Segment profit (loss) before income tax expense 2,316 6,603 (8,653) — 266
Income tax expense (benefit) 640 1,825 (3,838) — (1,373)
Net income (loss) 1,676 4,779 (4,816) — 1,639
Segment assets' 246,675 23,366 115,701 (23,130) 362,612
Fiscal Nine Months Ended September 28, 2018
Contract revenue $ 129,143 $ 56,671 $ — 3 — 3 185,814
Depreciation and amortization 2,693 599 — — 3,292
Interest expense 65 10 — — 75
Segment profit (loss) before income tax expense 7,483 5,801 (2,231) — 11,053
Income tax expense (benefit) 1,506 1,167 (449) — 2,224
Net income (loss) 5,977 4,634 (1,782) — 8,829
Segment assets' 103,752 20,057 39,930 (23,130) 140,609

(1) Segment assets represent segment assets, net of intercompany receivables.

12. CONTINGENCIES
Claims and Lawsuits

The Company is subject to claims and lawsuits from time to time, including those alleging professional errors or
omissions that arise in the ordinary course of business against firms that operate in the engineering and consulting
professions. The Company carries professional liability insurance, subject to certain deductibles and policy limits, for such
claims as they arise and may from time to time establish reserves for litigation that is considered probable of a loss.

In accordance with accounting standards regarding loss contingencies, the Company accrues an undiscounted

liability for those contingencies where the incurrence of a loss is probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated, and
discloses the amount accrued and an estimate of any reasonably possible loss in excess of the amount accrued, if
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such disclosure is necessary for the Company’s financial statements not to be misleading. The Company does not accrue
liabilities when the likelihood that the liability has been incurred is probable but the amount cannot be reasonably estimated,
or when the liability is believed to be only reasonably possible or remote.

Because litigation outcomes are inherently unpredictable, the Company’s evaluation of legal proceedings often
involves a series of complex assessments by management about future events and can rely heavily on estimates and
assumptions. If the assessments indicate that loss contingencies that could be material to any one of the Company’s financial
statements are not probable, but are reasonably possible, or are probable, but cannot be estimated, then the Company will
disclose the nature of the loss contingencies, together with an estimate of the possible loss or a statement that such loss is not
reasonably estimable. While the consequences of certain unresolved proceedings are not presently determinable, and a
reasonable estimate of the probable and reasonably possible loss or range of loss in excess of amounts accrued for such
proceedings cannot be made, an adverse outcome from such proceedings could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s earnings in any given reporting period. However, in the opinion of the Company’s management, after consulting
with legal counsel, and taking into account insurance coverage, the ultimate liability related to current outstanding claims and
lawsuits is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial statements.

13. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company uses certain interest rate derivative contracts to hedge interest rate exposures on its variable rate debt.
The Company’s hedging program is not designated for trading or speculative purposes.

The Company recognizes derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities on the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets at fair value. The Company records changes in the fair value (i.e., gains or losses) of the derivatives that have
been designated as cash flow hedges in its consolidated balance sheets as accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
and in its condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive (loss) income as a loss or gain on cash flow hedge valuation.

On January 31, 2019, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement that the Company designated as
cash flow hedge to fix the variable interest rate on a portion of the Company’s 2018 Term Loan Facility. The interest rate
swap agreement total notional amount of $35.0 million, has a fixed annual interest rate of 2.47% and expires on January 31,
2022. As of September 27, 2019, the effective portion of the Company’s interest rate swap agreement designated as a cash
flow hedge before tax effects was $0.7 million, of which no amounts were reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income to interest expense in the nine months ended September 27, 2019. The Company expects to reclassify
$0.3 million from accumulated other comprehensive income to interest expense within the next twelve months.

The fair values of the Company’s outstanding derivatives designated as hedging instruments were as follows:

Fair Value of Derivative
Instruments as of

Balance Sheet Location September 27, 2019 December 28, 2018

(in thousands)
Interest rate swap agreement Accrued liabilities $ (228) $ —
Interest rate swap agreement Other noncurrent (liabilities) assets $ (436) § —

The impact of the effective portions of derivative instruments in cash flow hedging relationships and fair value
relationships on other comprehensive income was $ 0.1 million and $0.5 million for the three and nine months ended
September 27, 2019, respectively.
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The accumulated balances and reporting period activities for the three and nine months ended September 27, 2019
related to reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are summarized as follows:

(Loss) on Accumulated Other
Derivative Instruments Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands)
Balances at December 28, 2018 $ — 3 —
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications (219) (219)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income:

Interest rate contracts, net of tax' — —
Net current-period other comprehensive loss (219) (219)
Balances at March 29, 2019 $ 219) $ (219)
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications $ 2190 $ (219)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income:

Interest rate contracts, net of tax' —
Net current-period other comprehensive loss (219) (219)
Balances at June 28, 2019 $ (438) $ (438)
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications $ 42 s (42)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income:

Interest rate contracts, net of tax' — —
Net current-period other comprehensive loss 42) (42)
Balances at September 27, 2019 $ (480) $ (480)

(1) This accumulated other comprehensive component is reclassified to “Interest expense” in our consolidated
statements of income.

14. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company evaluates subsequent events in accordance with ASC Topic 855, Subsequent Events. The Company
evaluates subsequent events up until the date the condensed consolidated financial statements are issued.

On October 28, 2019 (the “E3, Inc. Closing Date”), the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary WES,
acquired all of the capital stock of E3, Inc. pursuant to the terms of a stock purchase agreement (the “Stock Purchase
Agreement”) by and among the Company, WES, E3, Inc., each of the stockholders of E3, Inc. (the “E3, Inc. Stockholders”)
and Ren Orans, as seller representative of the E3, Inc. Stockholders. E3, Inc. is an energy consulting firm that helps utilities,
regulators, policy makers, developers, and investors make strategic decisions as they implement new public policies, respond
to technological advances, and address customers’ shifting expectations in clean energy. The Company agreed to pay up to
$44.0 million for the purchase of all of the capital stock of E3, Inc., which purchase price consists of (i) $27.0 million in cash
paid on the E3, Inc. Closing Date (subject to holdbacks and adjustments), (ii) $5.0 million in shares of the Company’s
common stock, based on the volume-weighted average price per share of the Company’s common stock for the ten trading
days immediately following, but not including, the E3, Inc. Closing Date and (iii) up to $12.0 million in cash if E3, Inc.
exceeds certain financial targets during the three years after the E3, Inc. Closing Date, as more fully described below (such
potential payments of up to $12.0 million, being referred to as “Earn-Out Payments” and $12.0 million in respect thereof,
being referred to as the “Maximum Payout”).

The amount of the Earn-Out Payments to be paid will be determined based on E3, Inc.’s earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”). The E3, Inc. Stockholders will receive Earn-Out Payments in each of the
three years after the E3, Inc. Closing Date (the “Earn-Out Period”) based on the amount by which E3, Inc.’s EBITDA
exceeds certain targets. The amounts due to the E3, Inc. Stockholders as Earn-Out Payments will in no event, individually or
in the aggregate, exceed the Maximum Payout. Earn-Out Payments will be made in annual installments
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for each of the three years of the Earn-Out Period. In addition, the Earn-Out Payments will be subject to certain subordination
provisions in favor of the lenders under the Company’s Credit Agreement.

The Purchase Agreement also contains customary representations and warranties regarding WES, the Company, E3,
Inc. and the E3, Inc. Stockholders, indemnification provisions and other provisions customary for transactions of this nature.

The Company borrowed $27.0 million under its Delayed Draw Term Loan on October 28, 2019 to fund the $27.0
million cash payment paid on the E3, Inc. Closing Date, which reduced the future borrowing capacity under the Delayed
Draw Term Loan to $23.0 million. See Note 7 “—Debt Obligations” for a description of the Delayed Draw Term Loan.

E3, Inc.’s financial information will be included within the Energy segment beginning in the fourth quarter of fiscal

year 2019. The Company expects to finalize the purchase price allocation with respect to this transaction during the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2020.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Overview

We are a provider of professional technical and consulting services to utilities, private industry and public agencies
at all levels of government. We enable our clients to realize cost and energy savings by providing a wide range of specialized
services. We assist our clients with a broad range of complementary services relating to energy services and engineering and
consulting services.

We operate our business through a nationwide network of offices spread across 24 states and the District of
Columbia. As of September 27, 2019, we had 1,365 employees which includes licensed engineers and other professionals.

We seek to establish close working relationships with our clients and expand the breadth and depth of the services
we provide to them over time. Our business with public and private utilities is concentrated primarily in New York,
California and North Carolina, but we also have business with utilities in other states. We currently serve more than 25 major
utility customers across the country, including 18 of the top 25 major U.S. utilities. Our business with public agencies is
concentrated in New York and California. We provide services to many of the cities and counties in California. We also serve
special districts, school districts, a range of public agencies and private industry.

We were founded in 1964, and Willdan Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation, was formed in 2006 to serve as our
holding company. Historically, our clients were public agencies in communities with populations ranging from 10,000 to
300,000 people. Since expanding into energy services, our client base has grown to include investor-owned and other public
utilities, as well as substantial energy users in government and business.

We consist of a group of wholly-owned companies that operate within two segments for financial reporting
purposes:

Energy. Our Energy segment consists of the business of our subsidiary Willdan Energy Solutions (“WES”)
which offers energy efficiency and sustainability consulting services to utilities, public agencies and private
industry under a variety of business names, including Willdan Energy Solutions, Abacus Resource
Management, 360 Energy Engineers, Genesys Engineering, Integral Analytics, NAM, Lime Energy, The Weidt
Group and Onsite Energy Corporation (“Onsite Energy”). This segment is currently our largest segment based
on contract revenue, representing approximately 82.2% and 69.5% of our consolidated contract revenue for the
nine months ended September 27, 2019 and September 28, 2018, respectively. We expect that consolidated
contract revenue generated from our Energy segment as a percentage of our total consolidated contract revenue
will continue to grow in fiscal year 2019 as a result of our most recent acquisitions in this segment, including
The Weidt Group, Lime Energy and Onsite Energy.

Engineering and Consulting. Our Engineering and Consulting segment includes the operations of our
subsidiaries, Willdan Engineering, Willdan Infrastructure, Public Agency Resources and Willdan Financial
Services. Willdan Engineering provides civil engineering-related construction management, building and safety,
city engineering, city planning, geotechnical, material testing and other engineering consulting services to our
clients. Willdan Infrastructure, which was launched in fiscal year 2013, provides engineering services to larger
rail, port, water, mining and other civil engineering projects. Public Agency Resources primarily provides
staffing to Willdan Engineering. Contract revenue for the Engineering and Consulting segment represented
approximately 17.8% and 30.5% of our consolidated contract revenue for the nine months ended September 27,
2019 and September 28, 2018, respectively.

Recent Developments
Acquisition of E3, Inc.
On October 28, 2019 (the “E3, Inc. Closing Date”), we, through our wholly owned subsidiary WES, acquired all of

the capital stock of Energy and Environmental Economics, Inc. (“E3, Inc.”) pursuant to the terms of a stock
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purchase agreement (the “Stock Purchase Agreement”) by and among us, WES, E3, Inc., each of the stockholders of E3, Inc.
(the “E3, Inc. Stockholders”) and Ren Orans, as seller representative of the E3, Inc. Stockholders. E3, Inc. is an energy
consulting firm that helps utilities, regulators, policy makers, developers, and investors make strategic decisions as they
implement new public policies, respond to technological advances, and address customers’ shifting expectations in clean
energy. We agreed to pay up to $44.0 million for the purchase of all of the capital stock of E3, Inc., which purchase price
consists of (i) $27.0 million in cash paid on the E3, Inc. Closing Date (subject to holdbacks and adjustments), (ii) $5.0
million in shares of the Company’s common stock, based on the volume-weighted average price per share of our common
stock for the ten trading days immediately following, but not including, the E3, Inc. Closing Date and (iii) up to $12.0 million
in cash if E3, Inc. exceeds certain financial targets during the three years after the E3, Inc. Closing Date (such potential
payments of up to $12.0 million, being referred to as “Earn-Out Payments” and $12.0 million in respect thereof, being
referred to as the “Maximum Payout”).

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, E3, Inc. had revenues of $16.1 million, gross profit of $10.8 million
and pre-tax income of $3.9 million. For the six months ended June 30, 2019, E3, Inc. had revenues of $8.2 million, gross
profit of $5.5 million and pre-tax income of $2.3 million. Additionally, E3, Inc.’s top customer accounted for 12% of its
consolidated revenue in fiscal year 2018 and its top two customers accounted for 26% of its consolidated revenue in the six
months ended June 30, 2019. The consolidated financial statements for E3, Inc. as of and for the six months ended June 30,
2019 and 2018 and as of and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 are filed as exhibits 99.1 and 99.2,
respectively, to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements,
giving effect to our acquisition of E3, Inc., as of and for the six months ended June 28, 2019 and for the year ended
December 28, 2018 are filed as exhibit 99.3 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

We believe the acquisition of E3, Inc. will continue to expand our portfolio of energy consulting resources and
further develop our footprint in the clean energy industry.

Components of Revenue and Expense
Contract Revenue

We generally provide our services under contracts, purchase orders or retainer letters. The agreements we enter into
with our clients typically incorporate one of three principal types of pricing provisions: time-and-materials, unit-based and
fixed price contracts. Revenue on our time-and-materials and unit-based contracts are recognized as the work is performed in
accordance with specific terms of the contract. As of September 27, 2019, approximately 63.5% of our contracts were unit-
based contracts, approximately 16.8% of our contracts were time-and-materials contracts and approximately 19.7% of our
contracts were fixed price contracts. Some of these contracts include maximum contract prices, but contract maximums are
often adjusted to reflect the level of effort to achieve client objectives, and thus the majority of these contracts are not
expected to exceed the maximum. Contract revenue on our fixed price contracts is determined on the percentage-of-
completion method based generally on the ratio of direct costs incurred to date to estimated total direct costs at completion.
Many of our fixed price contracts involve a high degree of subcontracted fixed price effort and are relatively short in
duration, thereby lowering the risks of not properly estimating the percent complete.

Adjustments to contract cost estimates are made in the periods in which the facts requiring such revisions become
known. When the revised estimate indicates a loss, such loss is recognized in the current period in its entirety. Claims and
change orders that have not been finalized are evaluated to determine whether or not a change has occurred in the enforceable
rights and obligations of the original contract. If these non-finalized changes qualify as a contract modification, a
determination is made whether to account for the change in contract value as a modification to the existing contract, or a
separate contract and revenue under the claims or change orders is recognized accordingly. Costs related to un-priced change
orders are expensed when incurred, and recognition of the related revenue is based on the assessment above of whether or not
a contract modification has occurred. Estimated profit for un-priced change orders is recognized only if collection is
probable.

Our contracts come up for renewal periodically, and at the time of renewal, may be subject to renegotiation, which
could impact the profitability on that contract. In addition, during the term of a contract, public agencies may
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request additional or revised services which may impact the economics of the transaction. Most of our contracts permit our
clients, with prior notice, to terminate the contracts at any time without cause. While we have a large volume of contracts, the
renewal, termination or modification of a contract, in particular contracts with Consolidated Edison of New York, Inc., the
Dormitory Authority-State of New York (“DASNY?), the City of Elk Grove, and utility programs associated with Los
Angeles Department of Water and Power and Duke Energy Corp., may have a material effect on our consolidated operations.

Some of our contracts include certain performance guarantees, such as a guaranteed energy saving quantity. Such
guarantees are generally measured upon completion of a project. In the event that the measured performance level is less than
the guaranteed level, any resulting financial penalty, including any additional work that may be required to fulfill the
guarantee, is estimated and charged to direct expenses in the current period. We have not experienced any significant costs
under such guarantees.

Direct Costs of Contract Revenue

Direct costs of contract revenue consist primarily of that portion of technical and nontechnical salaries and wages
that have been incurred in connection with revenue producing projects. Direct costs of contract revenue also include material
costs, subcontractor services, equipment and other expenses that are incurred in connection with revenue producing projects.
Direct costs of contract revenue exclude that portion of technical and nontechnical salaries and wages related to marketing
efforts, vacations, holidays and other time not spent directly generating revenue under existing contracts. Such costs are
included in general and administrative expenses. Additionally, payroll taxes, bonuses and employee benefit costs for all of
our personnel are included in general and administrative expenses since no allocation of these costs is made to direct costs of
contract revenue.

Other companies may classify as direct costs of contract revenue some of the costs that we classify as general and
administrative costs. We expense direct costs of contract revenue when incurred.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses include the costs of the marketing and support staffs, other marketing
expenses, management and administrative personnel costs, payroll taxes, bonuses and employee benefits for all of our
employees and the portion of salaries and wages not allocated to direct costs of contract revenue for those employees who
provide our services. General and administrative expenses also include facility costs, depreciation and amortization,
professional services, legal and accounting fees and administrative operating costs. Within general and administrative
expenses, “Other” includes expenses such as provision for billed or unbilled receivables, professional services, legal and
accounting, computer costs, travel and entertainment, marketing costs and acquisition costs. We expense general and
administrative costs when incurred.

Critical Accounting Policies

This discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based upon our condensed
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”). To prepare these financial statements in conformity with GAAP, we must make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amount of revenue and expenses in the reporting period. Our actual results may differ from these estimates. We have
provided a summary of our significant accounting policies in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements included in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 28, 2018. We describe below those accounting policies that
require material subjective or complex judgments and that have the most significant impact on our financial condition and
results of operations. Our management evaluates these estimates on an ongoing basis, based upon information currently
available and on various assumptions management believes are reasonable as of the date of this report.

Contract Assets and Liabilities
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Billing practices are governed by the contract terms of each project based upon costs incurred, achievement of
milestones or pre-agreed schedules. Billings do not necessarily correlate with revenue recognized using the percentage-of-
completion method of revenue recognition. Contract assets include unbilled amounts typically resulting from revenue under
long-term contracts when the percentage-of-completion method of revenue recognition is utilized and revenue recognized
exceeds the amount billed to the customer and right to payment is not unconditional. In addition, contract assets include
retainage amounts withheld from billings to our clients pursuant to provisions in our contracts. Contract liabilities consist of
advance payments and billings in excess of revenue recognized and deferred revenue.

The increase in contract assets and contract liabilities for the nine months ended September 27, 2019 were primarily
attributable to normal business operations.

Contract Accounting

We enter into contracts with our clients that contain various types of pricing provisions, including fixed price, time-
and-materials and unit-based provisions. We recognize revenues in accordance with ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts
with Customer, codified as ASC Topic 606 and the related amendments (collectively, “ASC 6067). As such, we identify a
contract with a customer, identify the performance obligations in the contract, determine the transaction price, allocate the
transaction price to each performance obligation in the contract and recognize revenue when (or as) we satisfy a performance
obligation.

The following table reflects our two reportable segments and the types of contracts that each most commonly enters
into for revenue generating activities:

Segment Contract Type Revenue Recognition Method
Time-and-materials Time-and-materials
Energy Unit-based Unit-based
Software license Unit-based
Fixed price Percentage-of-completion
Time-and-materials Time-and-materials
Engineering and Consulting Unit-based Unit-based
Fixed price Percentage-of-completion

Revenue on the vast majority of our contracts is recognized over time because of the continuous transfer of control
to the customer. Revenue on fixed price contracts is recognized on the percentage-of-completion method based generally on
the ratio of direct costs incurred-to-date to estimated total direct costs at completion. We use the percentage-of-completion
method to better match the level of work performed at a certain point in time in relation to our effort that will be required to
complete a project. In addition, the percentage-of-completion method is a common method of revenue recognition in our
industry.

Many of our fixed price contracts involve a high degree of subcontracted fixed price effort and are relatively short in
duration, thereby lowering the risks of not properly estimating the percent complete. Revenue on time-and-materials and
unit-based contracts is recognized as the work is performed in accordance with the specific rates and terms of the contract.
We recognize revenues for time-and-materials contracts based upon the actual hours incurred during a reporting period at
contractually agreed upon rates per hour and also include in revenue all reimbursable costs incurred during a reporting
period. Certain of our time-and-materials contracts are subject to maximum contract values and, accordingly, when revenue is
expected to meet the maximum contract value, these contracts are generally recognized under the percentage-of-completion
method, consistent with fixed price contracts. For unit-based contracts, we recognize the contract price of units of a basic
production product as revenue when the production product is delivered during a period. Revenue recognition for software
licenses issued by the Energy segment is generally recognized at a point in time, utilizing the unit-based revenue recognition
method, upon acceptance of the software by the customer and in recognition of the fulfillment of the performance obligation.
Certain additional performance obligations beyond the base software license may be separated from the gross license fee and
recognized on a straight-line basis over time. Revenue for amounts that have been billed but not earned is deferred, and such
deferred revenue is referred to as contract liabilities in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.
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To determine the proper revenue recognition method for contracts, we evaluate whether two or more contracts
should be combined and accounted for as one single contract and whether the combined contract should be accounted for as
one performance obligation. With respect to our contracts, it is rare that multiple contracts should be combined into a single
performance obligation. This evaluation requires significant judgment and the decision to combine a group of contracts or
separate a single contract into multiple performance obligations could change the amount of revenue and profit recorded in a
given period. Contracts are considered to have a single performance obligation if the promise to transfer the individual goods
or services is not separately identifiable from other promises in the contracts, which is mainly because we provide a
significant service of integrating a complex set of tasks and components into a single project or capability.

We may enter into contracts that include separate phases or elements. If each phase or element is negotiated
separately based on the technical resources required and/or the supply and demand for the services being provided, we
evaluate if the contracts should be segmented. If certain criteria are met, the contracts would be segmented which could result
in revenues being assigned to the different elements or phases with different rates of profitability based on the relative value
of each element or phase to the estimated total contract revenue.

Contracts that cover multiple phases or elements of the project or service lifecycle (development, construction and
maintenance and support) may be considered to have multiple performance obligations even when they are part of a single
contract. For contracts with multiple performance obligations, we allocate the transaction price to each performance
obligation using the best estimate of the standalone selling price of each distinct good or service in the contract. For the
periods presented, the value of the separate performance obligations under contracts with multiple performance obligations
(generally measurement and verification tasks under certain energy performance contracts) were not material. In cases where
we do not provide the distinct good or service on a standalone basis, the primary method used to estimate standalone selling
price is the expected cost plus a margin approach, under which we forecast our expected costs of satisfying a performance
obligation and then adds an appropriate margin for the distinct good or service.

We provide quality of workmanship warranties to customers that are included in the sale and are not priced or sold
separately or do not provide customers with a service in addition to assurance of compliance with agreed-upon specifications
and industry standards. We do not consider these types of warranties to be separate performance obligations.

In some cases, we have a master service or blanket agreement with a customer under which each task order releases
us to perform specific portions of the overall scope in the service contract. Each task order is typically accounted for as a
separate contract because the task order establishes the enforceable rights and obligations, and payment terms.

Under ASC 606, variable consideration should be considered when determining the transaction price and estimates
should be made for the variable consideration component of the transaction price, as well as assessing whether an estimate of
variable consideration is constrained. For certain of our contracts, variable consideration can arise from modifications to the
scope of services resulting from unapproved change orders or customer claims. Variable consideration is included in the
transaction price to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when
the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is resolved. Our estimates of variable consideration and
determination of whether to include estimated amounts in the transaction price are based largely on assessments of legal
enforceability, our performance, and all information (historical, current and forecasted) that is reasonably available to us.

Due to the nature of the work required to be performed on many of our performance obligations, the estimation of
total revenue and cost at completion is complex, subject to many variables and requires significant judgment. As a significant
change in one or more of these estimates could affect the profitability of our contracts, we review and update our contract-
related estimates regularly through a company-wide disciplined project review process in which management reviews the
progress and execution of our performance obligations and the estimate at completion (EAC). As part of this process,
management reviews information including, but not limited to, any outstanding key contract matters, progress towards
completion and the related program schedule and the related changes in estimates of revenues
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and costs. Management must make assumptions and estimates regarding labor productivity and availability, the complexity of
the work to be performed, the cost and availability of materials, the performance of subcontractors, and the availability and
timing of funding from the customer, among other variables.

We recognize adjustments in estimated profit on contracts under the cumulative catch-up method. Under this
method, the impact of the adjustment on profit recorded to date is recognized in the period the adjustment is identified.
Revenue and profit in future periods of contract performance is recognized using the adjusted estimate. If at any time the
estimate of contract profitability indicates an anticipated loss on the contract, we recognize the full amount of estimated loss
in the period it is identified.

Contracts are often modified to account for changes in contract specifications and requirements. We consider
contract modifications to exist when the modification either creates new rights or obligations or changes the existing
enforceable rights or obligations. Most of our contract modifications are for goods or services that are not distinct from
existing contracts due to the significant integration provided in the context of the contract and are accounted for as if they
were part of the original contract. The effect of a contract modification that is not distinct from the existing contract on the
transaction price and our measure of progress for the performance obligation to which it relates is recognized as an
adjustment to revenue (either as an increase in or a reduction of revenue) on a cumulative catch-up basis.

For contract modifications that result in the promise to deliver goods or services that are distinct from the existing
contract and the increase in price of the contract is for the same amount as the standalone selling price of the additional goods
or services included in the modification, we account for such contract modifications as a separate contract.

We include claims to vendors, subcontractors and others as a receivable and a reduction in recognized costs when
enforceability of the claim is established by the contract and the amounts are reasonably estimable and probable of being
recovered. The amounts are recorded up to the extent of the lesser of the amounts management expects to recover or to costs
incurred.

Billing practices are governed by the contract terms of each project based upon costs incurred, achievement of
milestones or pre-agreed schedules. Billings do not necessarily correlate with revenue recognized using the percentage-of-
completion method of revenue recognition.

Direct costs of contract revenue consist primarily of that portion of technical and nontechnical salaries and wages
that has been incurred in connection with revenue producing projects. Direct costs of contract revenue also include
production expenses, subcontractor services and other expenses that are incurred in connection with revenue producing
projects.

Direct costs of contract revenue exclude that portion of technical and nontechnical salaries and wages related to
marketing efforts, vacations, holidays and other time not spent directly generating revenue under existing contracts. Such
costs are included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of
comprehensive (loss) income. Additionally, payroll taxes, bonuses and employee benefit costs for all of our personnel are
included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive
(loss) income since no allocation of these costs is made to direct costs of contract revenue. No allocation of facilities costs is
made to direct costs of contract revenue. Other companies may classify as direct costs of contract revenue some of the costs
that we classify as general and administrative costs. We expense direct costs of contract revenue when incurred.

Included in revenue and costs are all reimbursable costs for which we have the risk or on which the fee was based at
the time of bid or negotiation. No revenue or cost is recorded for costs in which we act solely in the capacity of an agent and
have no risks associated with such costs.

Accounts receivable are carried at original invoice amount less an estimate made for doubtful accounts based upon

our review of all outstanding amounts on a quarterly basis. Management determines allowances for doubtful accounts
through specific identification of amounts considered to be uncollectible and potential write-offs, plus a non-
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specific allowance for other amounts for which some potential loss has been determined to be probable based on current and
past experience. Historical credit losses have been minimal with governmental entities and large public utilities, but disputes
may arise related to these receivable amounts. Accounts receivable are written off when deemed uncollectible. Recoveries of
accounts receivable previously written off are recorded when received. For further information on the types of contracts
under which we perform our services, see “Business—Contract Structure” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 28, 2018.

Goodwill

We test our goodwill at least annually for possible impairment. We complete our annual testing of goodwill as of the
last day of the first month of our fourth fiscal quarter each year to determine whether there is impairment. In addition to our
annual test, we regularly evaluate whether events and circumstances have occurred that may indicate a potential impairment
of goodwill. We did not recognize any goodwill impairment charges during the nine months ended September 27, 2019 and
September 28, 2018. We had goodwill of approximately $103.1 million as of September 27, 2019, compared to $40.2 million
as of September 28, 2018. The increase in our goodwill as of September 27, 2019 is primarily the result of our acquisitions
of Lime Energy, The Weidt Group and Onsite Energy.

We test our goodwill for impairment at the level of our reporting segments. In January 2017, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued Update No. 2017-04 (“ASU 2017-04"), Intangibles—Goodwill and Other
(Topic 350): Testing Goodwill for Impairment. This accounting guidance eliminates the requirement to compare the implied
fair value of reporting unit goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill (commonly referred to as Step 2) from the
goodwill impairment test. The new standard does not change how a goodwill impairment is identified. We will continue to
perform our quantitative and qualitative goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of each reporting unit to its
carrying amount, but if we are required to recognize a goodwill impairment charge, under the new standard the amount of the
charge will be calculated by subtracting the reporting unit’s fair value from its carrying amount. Under the prior standard, if
we were required to recognize a goodwill impairment charge, Step 2 required us to calculate the implied value of goodwill by
assigning the fair value of a reporting unit to all of its assets and liabilities as if that reporting unit had been acquired in a
business combination and the amount of the charge was calculated by subtracting the reporting unit’s implied fair value of
goodwill from its actual goodwill balance. We adopted the new standard for future goodwill impairment tests at the
beginning of the fourth quarter of 2019. The adoption of ASU 2017-04 did not have a material impact on our condensed
consolidated financial statements.

To estimate the fair value of our reporting units, we use both an income approach based on management’s estimates
of future cash flows and other market data and a market approach based upon multiples of earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization, or EBITDA, earned by similar public companies.

Once the fair value is determined, we then compare the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying value,
including goodwill. If the fair value of the reporting unit is determined to be less than the carrying value, we perform an
additional assessment to determine the extent of the impairment based on the implied fair value of goodwill compared with
the carrying amount of the goodwill. In the event that the current implied fair value of the goodwill is less than the carrying
value, an impairment charge is recognized.

Inherent in such fair value determinations are significant judgments and estimates, including but not limited to
assumptions about our future revenue, profitability and cash flows, our operational plans and our interpretation of current
economic indicators and market valuations. To the extent these assumptions are incorrect or economic conditions that would
impact the future operations of our segments change, any goodwill may be deemed to be impaired, and an impairment charge
could have a material impact on our financial position or results of operation. As of September 27, 2019, almost all of our
goodwill is contained in our Energy segment, with the remainder in our Engineering and Consulting segment.

Business Combinations
The acquisition method of accounting for business combinations requires us to use significant estimates and

assumptions, including fair value estimates, as of the business combination date. For reporting periods prior to the
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completion of our procedures to value assets and liabilities, the acquisition method requires us to refine those estimates as
necessary during the measurement period (defined as the period, not to exceed one year, in which we may adjust the
provisional amounts recognized for a business combination) based upon new information about facts that existed on the
business combination date.

Under the acquisition method of accounting, we recognize separately from goodwill the identifiable assets acquired,
the liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interests in an acquiree, at the acquisition date fair value. We measure
goodwill as of the acquisition date as the excess of consideration transferred over the net of the acquisition date amounts of
the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Costs that we incur to complete the business combination, such as
investment banking, legal and other professional fees, are not considered part of consideration. We charge these acquisition
costs to other general and administrative expense as they are incurred.

Should the initial accounting for a business combination be incomplete by the end of a reporting period that falls
within the measurement period, we report provisional amounts in our financial statements. During the measurement period,
we adjust the provisional amounts recognized at the acquisition date to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the measurement of the amounts
recognized as of that date, and we record those adjustments to our financial statements. We recognize adjustments to
provisional amounts that are identified during the measurement period in the reporting period in which the adjustment
amounts are determined, including the effect on earnings of changes in depreciation, amortization or other income effects, if
any, as a result of the change to the provisional amounts, calculated as if the accounting had been completed at the acquisition
date.

On April 30, 2018, we acquired NAM, an energy engineering and consulting company with offices in San Francisco
and Los Angeles that provides clients with mechanical engineering expertise and comprehensive energy efficiency programs
and services.

On November 9, 2018, we acquired Lime Energy, a designer and implementer of energy efficiency programs for
utility clients.

On March 8, 2019, we acquired substantially all of the assets of The Weidt Group’s energy practice division. We
believe the acquisition will expand our presence in the upper Midwest and better position us to help utilities make their grids
more resilient.

On July 2, 2019, we acquired substantially all of the assets of Onsite Energy, an energy efficiency services and
project implementation firm based in Carlsbad, California, that specializes in energy upgrades and commissioning for
industrial facilities.

On October 28, 2019, we acquired E3, Inc., an energy consulting firm that helps utilities, regulators, policy makers,
developers, and investors make strategic decisions as they implement new public policies, respond to technological advances,
and address customers’ shifting expectations in clean energy. The acquisition of E3, Inc. is not reflected in our condensed
consolidated financial statements as of September 27, 2019

As of September 27, 2019, we had not yet completed our final estimate of fair value of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed relating to the acquisitions of Lime Energy, The Weidt Group and Onsite Energy due to the timing of the
transactions and lack of complete information necessary to finalize such estimates of fair value. Accordingly, we have
preliminarily estimated the fair value of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed and will finalize such fair value
estimates within twelve months of the acquisition date. For further discussion of our acquisitions, see Note 2 “—Business
Combinations” of the notes to our condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report.

Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are

recognized for the future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting basis and tax basis

46




Table of Contents

of our assets and liabilities, subject to a judgmental assessment of the recoverability of deferred tax assets. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is
recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is recorded when it is more likely
than not that some of the deferred tax assets may not be realized. Significant judgment is applied when assessing the need for
valuation allowances. Areas of estimation include our consideration of future taxable income and ongoing prudent and
feasible tax planning strategies. Should a change in circumstances lead to a change in judgment about the utilization of
deferred tax assets in future years, we would adjust the related valuation allowances in the period that the change in
circumstances occurs, along with a corresponding increase or charge to income.

During each fiscal year, management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient
future taxable income will be generated to utilize existing deferred tax assets. Beginning in fiscal year 2017, we determined
that it was more-likely-than-not that the entire California net operating loss will not be utilized prior to expiration. Significant
pieces of objective evidence evaluated included our history of utilization of California net operating losses in prior years for
each of our subsidiaries, as well as our forecasted amount of net operating loss utilization for certain members of the
combined group. As a result, we recorded a valuation allowance in the amount of $86,000 at the end of fiscal year 2018
related to California net operating losses. There was no change to the valuation allowance during the nine months ended
September 27, 2019.

For acquired business entities, if we identify changes to acquired deferred tax asset valuation allowances or
liabilities related to uncertain tax positions during the measurement period and they relate to new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date, those changes are considered a measurement period
adjustment, and we record the offset to goodwill. We record all other changes to deferred tax asset valuation allowances and
liabilities related to uncertain tax positions in current period income tax expense.

We recognize the tax benefit from uncertain tax positions if it is more likely than not that the tax positions will be
sustained on examination by the tax authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefit is measured
based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. We recognize
interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. As of September 27, 2019, we recorded a
liability of $0.1 million for uncertain tax positions related to miscellaneous tax deductions taken in open tax years. Included
in this amount are $0.1 million of tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate. Interest and penalties of
$0.03 million have been recorded related to unrecognized tax benefits as of September 27, 2019.

During the nine months ended September 27, 2019, the Internal Revenue Service continued its audit of our tax
return for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2016. We are not able to determine the impact of this examination due to the
audit process having not been completed.

Adoption of New Accounting Standards
For a description of recently adopted accounting standards, see Note 1 “—Basis of Presentation, Organization and

Operations of the Company—Adoption of New Accounting Standards” and Note 8 “—ILeases” of the notes to our condensed
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report.
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Results of Operations

The following tables set forth, for the periods indicated, certain information derived from our condensed
consolidated statements of comprehensive income expressed as a percentage of contract revenue!”:

Three Months Ended
September 27, September 28,
%
2019 2018 $ Change Change

( in thousands, except percentages)

Contract revenue $117,494 100.0%  $ 71,386 100.0 % $ 46,108 64.6
Direct costs of contract revenue:
Salaries and wages 16,145 13.7 11,233 15.7 4912 437
Subconsultant services and other direct
costs 66,677 56.7 36,840 51.6 29,837 81.0
Total direct costs of contract revenue 82,822 70.4 48,073 67.3 34,749 72.3
Gross profit 34,672 29.5 23,313 32.7 11,359 48.7

General and administrative expenses:
Salaries and wages, payroll taxes and

employee benefits 15,761 134 11,125 15.6 4,636 41.7
Facilities and facilities related 2,250 1.9 1,492 2.1 758 50.8
Stock-based compensation 4,107 35 1,705 2.4 2,402 140.9
Depreciation and amortization 5,788 49 1,117 1.6 4,671 418.2
Other 5,471 4.7 2,961 4.1 2,510 84.8
Total general and administrative
expenses 33,377 28.4 18,400 25.8 14,977 81.4
Income (loss) from operations 1,295 1.2 4,913 6.9 (3,618) (73.6)
Other income (expense):
Interest expense (1,257) (1.1) (22) 0.0 (1,235) N/M
Other, net 2 0.0 17 0.0 (15) (88.2)
Total other income (expenses) (1,255) (1.1) 5) 0.0 (1,250) N/M
Income before income tax expense 40 0.1 4,908 6.9 (4,868) (99.2)
Income tax expense (benefit) (376) (0.3) 1,597 2.2 (1,973) (123.5)
Net income $ 416 0.4 $ 3,311 4.7 $ (2,895) (87.4)

(1) Amounts may not add to the totals due to rounding.
N/M = Not meaningful

48




Table of Contents

Nine Months Ended
September 27, September 28,

0/0
2019 2018 $ Change Change

( in thousands, except percentages)

Contract revenue $313,683 100.0 % $185,814 100.0 % $127,869 68.8
Direct costs of contract revenue:
Salaries and wages 46,679 14.9 33,358 18.0 13,321 39.9
Subconsultant services and other direct costs 175,248 559 86,453 46.5 88,795 102.7
Total direct costs of contract revenue 221,927 70.8 119,811 64.5 102,116 85.2
Gross profit 91,756 29.3 66,003 35.5 25,753 39.0

General and administrative expenses:
Salaries and wages, payroll taxes and

employee benefits 46,167 14.7 31,875 17.2 14,292 448
Facilities and facilities related 6,069 1.9 4,087 22 1,982 48.5
Stock-based compensation 8,148 2.6 4,431 2.4 3,717 83.9
Depreciation and amortization 11,308 3.6 3,292 1.8 8,016 243.5
Other 16,230 52 11,226 6.0 5,004 44.6
Total general and administrative expenses 87,922 28.0 54,911 29.6 33,011 60.1
Income from operations 3,834 1.2 11,092 5.9 (7,258) (65.4)
Other income (expense):
Interest expense (3,599) (1.1) (75) 0.0 (3,524) 4,698.7
Other, net 31 0.0 36 0.0 (5) (13.9)
Total other income (expenses) (3,568) (1.1) (39) 0.0 (3,529) 9,048.7
Income (loss) before income tax expense 266 0.1 11,053 5.9 (10,787) (97.6)
Income tax expense (benefit) (1,373) 0.4) 2,224 1.2 (3,597) (161.7)
Net income $ 1,639 0.5 $ 8,829 4.7 $ (7,190) (81.4)

(1) Amounts may not add to the totals due to rounding.

The following table sets forth, for the periods presented, summary information regarding our revenue:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September September September September
27, 28, 27, 28,
2019 2018 2019 2018

(in thousands)
Revenue by reportable segment

Energy $ 97987 $§ 50,085 $§ 257,962 § 129,143
Engineering and Consulting 19,507 21,301 55,721 56,671
Total revenue $ 117,494 § 71,386 § 313,683 § 185,814

Three Months Ended September 27, 2019 Compared to Three Months Ended September 28, 2018

Contract revenue. Consolidated contract revenue increased $46.1 million, or 64.6%, to $117.5 million for the three
months ended September 27, 2019 as compared to $71.4 million for the three months ended September 28, 2018, primarily
due to incremental contract revenue from the acquisitions of Onsite Energy (acquired on July 2, 2019), The Weidt Group
(acquired on March 8, 2019), and Lime Energy (acquired on November 9, 2018). The increase in revenue contributed from
our recent acquisitions was partially offset in part by a decrease in revenue related on our ongoing operations primarily due to
normal quarterly fluctuations in the level of services provided.
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Contract revenue in our Energy segment increased $47.8 million, or 95.6%, to $97.9 million for the three months
ended September 27, 2019 as compared to $50.1 million for the three months ended September 28, 2018. Contract revenue in
our Energy segment increased primarily due to the incremental contract revenue of $49.0 million from our acquisitions of
Onsite Energy, Lime Energy, and The Weidt Group. Contract revenue in our Engineering and Consulting segment decreased
$1.7 million, or 8.2%, to $19.6 million for the three months ended September 27, 2019 as compared to $21.3 million for the
three months ended September 28, 2018. Contract revenue in our Engineering and Consulting segment decreased primarily
due to lower subcontracted revenue.

Direct costs of contract revenue. Direct costs of contract revenue were $82.8 million for the three months ended
September 27, 2019, an increase of $34.7 million, or 72.3%, as compared to $48.1 million for the three months ended
September 28, 2018. This increase was primarily due to incremental increases in direct costs of $35.8 million from our
acquisitions of Onsite Energy, the Weidt Group, and Lime Energy. The increase in direct costs of contract revenue as a
percentage of contract revenue resulted primarily from the shifting mix of projects derived from our recent acquisitions with
projects from our recent acquisitions generally using a higher proportion of subcontractors for installation, as well as the
ramping up of new projects in which we saw higher project startup costs relative to the revenue recognized.

Direct costs for our Energy segment increased $36.2 million, or 103.1% to $71.3 million, for the three months ended
September 27, 2019 as compared to $35.1 million for the three months ended September 28, 2018, primarily due to
incremental increases in direct costs of $35.8 million contributed by our acquisitions of Onsite Energy, The Weidt Group, and
Lime Energy. Direct costs for our Engineering and Consulting segment decreased $1.5 million, or 11.1%, to $11.5 million for
the three months ended September 27, 2019 as compared to $13.0 million for the three months ended September 28, 2018.
The decrease in direct costs for our Engineering and Consulting segment corresponded with the decreased revenue in the
segment.

Within direct costs of contract revenue, salaries and wages increased by $4.9 million and subcontractor services and
other direct costs increased by $29.8 million for the three months ended September 27, 2019 as compared to the three months
ended September 28, 2018. As a percentage of contract revenue, salaries and wages decreased to 13.7% of contract revenue
for the three months ended September 27, 2019 as compared to 15.7% for the three months ended September 28, 2018, while
subcontractor services and other direct costs increased to 56.7% of contract revenue from 51.6% for the three months ended
September 27, 2019. These increases were primarily the result of the shift in the mix of projects resulting from our
acquisition of Lime Energy because Lime Energy projects include a significant quantity of material costs for lighting and
other mechanical energy efficiency fixtures and use a higher proportion of subcontractors for installation than other units in
our Energy segment.

Subcontractor services and other direct costs can vary significantly from period to period depending on the mix of
projects being executed in the period. We expect that subcontractor services and other direct costs will be higher for the
remainder of fiscal 2019 as compared to fiscal 2018 as a result of our recent acquisitions which generally utilize higher
amount of subcontractor services and material costs than our historical projects and a shift in projects in our Energy segment
to a higher percentage involving the installation of energy efficiency measures.

General and administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses increased by $15.0 million, or 81.4%,
to $33.4 million for the three months ended September 27, 2019 from $18.4 million for the three months ended September
28,2018. The $15.0 million increase in general and administrative expenses for the three months ended September 27, 2019,
includes approximately $4.7 million for depreciation and amortization expenses, $4.6 million for salaries and wages, payroll
taxes and employee benefits, $2.5 million for other general and administrative expenses, $2.4 million for stock-based
compensation expenses, and $0.8 million for facilities and facility related expenses. The increase in depreciation and
amortization expenses was primarily related to our recent acquisitions. The increase in salaries and wages, payroll taxes and
employee benefits was primarily due to increases from the addition of employees from the acquisitions of Onsite Energy, The
Weidt Group, and Lime Energy. The increase in other general and administrative expenses primarily relates to professional
services for acquisitions, automobile expenses and higher bid and proposal costs incurred in the pursuit of new projects. The
increase in stock-based compensation expense was primarily due to the issuance of new stock awards and a second
performance based restricted stock unit award program. The increase in facilities and facility related expenses was primarily
due to the addition of offices from our acquisitions. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of contract revenue
increased to 28.4% for the three months ended September
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27,2019 as compared to 25.8% for the three months ended September 28, 2018 primarily as a result of increased costs
related to personnel and amortization expenses as a result of our recent acquisitions coupled with increases in general and
administrative expenses associated with such acquisitions.

Broken down by segment, there was a $15.1 million increase in general and administrative expenses of our Energy
segment, primarily from the acquisitions of Onsite Energy, Lime Energy, and The Weidt Group and an increase of $0.5
million in unallocated corporate general and administrative expenses, partially offset by a decrease of $0.6 million in general
and administrative expenses of our Engineering and Consulting segment.

Income from operations. Our operating income was $1.3 million for the three months ended September 27, 2019 as
compared to operating income of $4.9 million for the three months ended September 28, 2018. Income from operations as a
percentage of contract revenue was 1.1% for the three months ended September 27, 2019 as compared to 6.9% for the three
months ended September 28, 2018. The decrease in operating income was primarily attributable to higher amortization
expenses attributable to our recent acquisitions.

Total other expense. Total other expense, net was $1.3 million for the three months ended September 27, 2019, as
compared to $5,000 for the three months ended September 28, 2018. Total other expense, net consists of interest expense, net
and other, net. The increase was primarily attributable to an increase in interest expense due to our increased outstanding
debt, primarily as a result of borrowings under our 2018 Credit Facilities, which were used to partially finance our acquisition
of Lime Energy in the fourth quarter of 2018. We expect our interest expense to increase in the fourth quarter of 2019 as a
result of borrowings under our Delayed Draw Term Loan used to finance our purchase of E3, Inc. on October 28, 2019.

Income tax (benefit) expense. Income tax benefit was $0.4 million for the three months ended September 27, 2019,
as compared to an income tax expense of $1.6 million for the three months ended September 28, 2018. During the three
months ended September 27, 2019 the difference between the effective tax rate and the federal statutory rate was primarily
attributable to tax deductions related to the vesting of performance-based restricted stock units, exercise of non-qualified
stock options, disqualifying dispositions arising from the sale of employee stock purchase and incentive stock options, and
the reduction of the Company’s uncertain tax position. During the three months ended September 28, 2018 the difference
between the effective tax rate and the federal statutory rate was primarily attributable to a reduction in the tax deductions
related to Section 179D, partially offset by tax deductions related to disqualifying dispositions under our employee stock
purchase plan and non-qualified stock option exercises. The income tax expense deductions related to disqualifying
dispositions under our employee stock purchase plan and non-qualified stock option exercises have been included as an
increase of 8.76% to our effective tax rate for the three months ended September 27, 2019. The effective tax rates in each of
the three months ended September 27, 2019 and September 28, 2018, vary from the federal statutory rate due to the impact of
state income tax expense, net operating loss carry-forwards and certain expenses that are non-deductible for tax purposes,
including meals and entertainment, and compensation expenses related to our employee stock purchase plan and incentive
stock options. In addition, the effective tax in the three months ended September 27, 2019 varies from the federal statutory
rate due to the impact of excess compensation for covered employees.

Net income. As a result of the above factors, our net income was $0.4 million for the three months ended September
27,2019, as compared to net income of $3.3 million for the three months ended September 28, 2018. Net income as a
percentage of contract revenue was 0.4% for the three months ended September 27, 2019 as compared to net income as a
percentage of contract revenue of 4.7% for the three months ended September 28, 2018. The decrease in net profit margin
was primarily driven by higher intangible amortization.

Nine Months Ended September 27,2019 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 28, 2018

Contract revenue. Our contract revenue was $313.7 million for the nine months ended September 27, 2019, with
$257.9 million attributable to the Energy segment and $55.8 million attributable to the Engineering and Consulting segment.
Consolidated contract revenue increased $127.9 million, or 68.8%, to $313.7 million for the nine months ended September
27,2019 as compared to $185.8 million for the nine months ended September 28, 2018, primarily due to the incremental
contract revenue of $130.0 million from the acquisitions of Onsite Energy, The Weidt Group, Lime Energy,
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and NAM. The increase in revenue contributed from our acquisitions was partially offset by a decrease in revenue related to
our ongoing operations primarily due to normal fluctuations in the level of services provided.

Contract revenue in our Energy segment increased $128.8 million, or 99.7%, to $257.9 million for the nine months
ended September 27, 2019 as compared to $129.1 million for the nine months ended September 28, 2018. Contract revenue
for the Energy segment increased primarily due to the incremental contract revenue of $131.8 million as a result of our
acquisitions of Onsite Energy, The Weidt Group, Lime Energy, and NAM. Contract revenue for the Engineering and
Consulting segment decreased $0.9 million, or 1.6%, for the nine months ended September 27, 2019 as compared to the nine
months ended September 28, 2018, primarily due to normal fluctuations in the level of services provided.

Direct costs of contract revenue. Direct costs of contract revenue increased 85.2% to $221.9 million for the nine
months ended September 27, 2019, with $189.6 million attributable to the Energy segment and $32.3 million attributable to
the Engineering and Consulting segment. This increase is primarily attributable to increases in direct costs within our Energy
segment of $102.1 million, or 116.7%, primarily as a result of the increased use of subcontractors and higher material content
in projects associated with our acquisitions of Onsite Energy, The Weidt Group, Lime Energy, and NAM. There was no
change in direct costs for the Engineering and Consulting segment for the nine months ended September 27, 2019 as
compared to the nine months ended September 28, 2018.

Salaries and wages increased $13.3 million and subcontractor services and other direct costs increased $88.8 million
for the nine months ended September 27, 2019 compared to the prior year period. Within direct costs of contract revenue,
salaries and wages decreased to 14.9% of contract revenue for the nine months ended September 27, 2019 from 18.0% for the
nine months ended September 28, 2018 while subcontractor services and other direct costs increased to 55.9% of contract
revenue for the nine months ended September 27, 2019 from 46.5% of contract revenue for the nine months ended September
28, 2018. Subcontractor services and other direct costs as a percentage of revenue increased primarily because Lime Energy
projects include a significant quantity of material costs for lighting and other mechanical energy efficiency fixtures and use a
larger mix of subcontractors for installation than other units in our Energy segment.

General and administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses increased by $33.0 million, or 60.1%,
to $87.9 million for the nine months ended September 27, 2019 from $54.9 million for the nine months ended September 28,
2018. Of the $33.0 million increase in general and administrative expenses, approximately $14.3 million relates to increases
in salaries and wages, payroll taxes and employee benefits, $8.0 million relates to increases in depreciation and amortization,
$5.0 million relates to increases in other general and administrative expenses, $3.7 million relates to increases in stock-based
compensation and $2.0 million relates to increases in facilities and facility related expenses. The increase in salaries and
wages, payroll taxes and employee benefits and in stock-based compensation primarily relate to increases from the addition
of employees from the acquisitions of Onsite Energy, The Weidt Group, Lime Energy and NAM along with increases in
current salary rates for our current employees and an increase in stock-based compensation. Increases in depreciation and
amortization primarily relate to our recent acquisitions, while the increase in other general and administrative expenses
primarily relates to professional services for acquisitions and higher bid and proposal costs incurred in the pursuit of new
projects. The increase in facilities and facility related expenses was primarily due to the addition of offices from our
acquisitions. As a percentage of contract revenue, general and administrative expenses decreased to 28.0% for the nine
months ended September 27, 2019 as compared to 29.6% for the nine months ended September 28, 2018.

Broken down by segments, the $33.0 million increase in general and administrative expenses was comprised of an
increase of $33.3 million in general and administrative expenses in the Energy segment, largely due to our recent acquisitions
being in the Energy segment, an increase of $1.5 million in unallocated corporate expenses and a decrease in general and
administrative expenses in the Engineering and Consulting segment of $1.8 million, primarily due to the reduction of
corporate allocation of finance and administrative support because greater resources were allocated towards our recent
acquisitions.

Income from operations.  As a result of the above factors, our income from operations was $3.8 million for the
nine months ended September 27, 2019 as compared to income from operations of $11.1 million for the nine months
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ended September 28, 2018. The decrease in income from operations was primarily due to the increase in subcontractor
services and other direct costs associated with the higher material and subcontractor costs of our Lime Energy projects. Our
operating margin was 1.2% for the nine months ended September 27, 2019, as compared to 6.0% in the prior year period,
primarily attributable to subcontractor services and other direct costs increasing at a proportionately higher rate as compared
to the increase in contract revenue. The decrease in operating margin was partially offset by a lower rate of increase in
general and administrative expenses compared to contract revenue for the nine months ended September 28, 2018 due to cost
efficiencies.

Total other expense. Total other expense, net was $3.6 million for the nine months ended September 27, 2019, as
compared to $39,000 for the nine months ended September 28, 2018. This increase in total other expense, net is primarily as
a result of borrowings under our 2018 Credit Facilities, which were used to partially finance our acquisition of Lime Energy
in the fourth quarter of 2018.

Income tax (benefit) expense. Income tax benefit was $1.4 million for the nine months ended September 27, 2019,
as compared to income tax expense of $2.2 million for the nine months ended September 28, 2018. In the nine months ended
September 27, 2019 the difference between the effective tax rate and the federal statutory rate was primarily attributable to
tax deductions related to the vesting of performance-based restricted stock units, exercise of non-qualified stock options,
disqualifying dispositions arising from the sale of employee stock purchase and incentive stock options, and the reduction of
the Company’s uncertain tax position. In the nine months ended September 28, 2018 the difference between the effective tax
rate and the federal statutory rate was primarily attributable to tax deductions related to Section 179D deductions, and the
recognition of tax deductions related to non-qualified stock option exercises and disqualifying dispositions under our
employee stock purchase plan. In accordance with ASU 2016-09 (see Note 1 “—Basis of Presentation, Organization and
Operations of the Company” of the notes to our condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this
report), the income tax benefit related to the 2019 deductions has been included as an increase to our effective tax rate for the
nine months ended September 27, 2019. The effective tax rates in each of the nine months ended September 27, 2019 and
September 28, 2018 also vary from the federal statutory rate due to the impact of state income tax expense, net operating loss
carry-forwards and certain expenses that are non-deductible for tax purposes.

Net income. As a result of the above factors, our net income was $1.6 million for the nine months ended
September 27, 2019, as compared to net income of $8.8 million for the nine months ended September 28, 2018. This
decrease was primarily due to higher intangible amortization.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table summarizes our statements of cash flows:

Nine Months Ended
September 27, September 28,
2019 2018
( in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities $ 8289 § 11,569
Investing activities (52,130) (3,673)
Financing activities 28,582 (5,639)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ (15259) §$ 2,257

We believe that cash generated by operating activities and available borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility
will be sufficient to finance our operating activities for at least the next 12 months. As of September 27, 2019, as a result of
timing of payments where checks outstanding were in excess of our cash balance, we had $0.0 of cash and cash equivalents.
Our primary source of liquidity is cash generated from operations. In addition, as of September 27, 2019, we had $97.5
million outstanding on our Term A Loan, a $50.0 million Revolving Credit Facility with $5.0 million outstanding and $2.7
million in letters of credit issued, and a $50.0 million Delayed Draw Term Loan with no amounts outstanding, each
scheduled to mature on June 26, 2024. Subsequent to September 27, 2019, we borrowed
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$27.0 million under our Delayed Draw Term Loan to finance the purchase of all of the capital stock of E3, Inc., which
reduced the future borrowing capacity under the Delayed Draw Term Loan to $23.0 million.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash flows provided by operating activities were $8.3 million for the nine months ended September 27, 2019, as
compared to cash flows provided by operating activities of $11.6 million for the nine months ended September 28, 2018.
Cash flows provided by operating activities for the nine months ended September 27, 2019 resulted primarily from a net
increase in our working capital. Cash flows provided by operating activities for the nine months ended September 28, 2018
resulted primarily from a decrease in accounts receivable and our net income, as adjusted for non-cash activity such as
depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation and deferred taxes, partially offset by an increase in contract assets
and decreases in contracts liabilities and accrued liabilities.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash flows used in investing activities were $50.4 million for the nine months ended September 27, 2019 as
compared to cash flows used in investing activities of $3.7 million for the nine months ended September 28, 2018. The cash
flows used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 27, 2019 was primarily due to cash paid for the
acquisition of The Weidt Group and Onsite Energy. The cash flows used in investing activities for the nine months ended
September 28, 2018 was primarily due to cash paid for acquisitions of NAM, net of cash received and the purchase of
equipment and leasehold improvements.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash flows provided by financing activities were $26.9 million for the nine months ended September 27, 2019 as
compared to cash flows used in financing activities of $5.6 million for the nine months ended September 28, 2018. The cash
flows provided by financing activities for the nine months ended September 27, 2019 were primarily attributable to
borrowings under our term loan, partially offset by the payment of $2.9 million in employee payroll taxes related to the
repurchase of shares of our common stock in connection with the vesting of restricted stock awards and performance-based
restricted stock units during the nine months ended September 27, 2019. The cash flows used in financing activities for the
nine months ended September 28, 2018 were primarily attributable to payments of $4.1 million for contingent consideration
and on notes payable related to our prior acquisitions and repayments of $2.5 million on borrowings under our Prior Credit
Agreement, partially offset by $1.8 million in proceeds from stock option exercises and sales of stock under our employee
stock purchase plan.

Outstanding Indebtedness

Credit Facilities. On June 26, 2019, we and certain of our subsidiaries entered into an Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with a syndicate of financial institutions as lenders and BMO Harris Bank, N.A.
(“BMO?”), as administrative agent. The Credit Agreement amends and restates our prior credit agreement, which was entered
into on October 1, 2018 with a syndicate of financial institutions as lenders and BMO and was scheduled to mature on
October 1, 2023.

The Credit Agreement provides for (i) a $100.0 million term loan (the “Term A Loan”), (ii) up to $50.0 million in
delayed draw term loans (the “Delayed Draw Term Loan”), and (iii) a $50.0 million revolving credit facility (the “Revolving
Credit Facility” and, collectively with the Term A Loan and the Delayed Draw Term Loan, the “Credit Facilities”), each
maturing on June 26, 2024. We may borrow under the Delayed Draw Term Loan any time and from time to time until
June 26, 2022; provided that each borrowing under the Delayed Draw Term Loan must be a minimum of $10.0 million, we
may not make more than five borrowings under the Delayed Draw Term Loan and any borrowings made under the Delayed
Draw Term Loan will permanently reduce future borrowing capacity under the Delayed Draw Term Loan. In addition, we
must satisfy certain conditions prior to borrowing under the Delayed Draw Term Loan, including, but not limited to, that
upon giving effect to such borrowing under the Delayed Draw Term Loan and any Credit Event (as defined in the Credit
Agreement) in connection therewith, we will be in compliance with all financial
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covenants on a pro forma basis and our consolidated total leverage ratio will be no greater than 0.25x less than the
consolidated total leverage ratio covenant compliance level in effect at the time of such borrowing.

We may also request lenders to add incremental term loans or increase the aggregate commitment under the
Revolving Credit Facility by an aggregate amount of up to $100.0 million, subject to meeting certain conditions, and only if
the existing or new lenders agree to provide the additional term or revolving commitments.

Borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at a rate equal to either, at our option, (i) the highest of the
prime rate, the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.5% or one-month LIBOR plus 1.00% (the “Base Rate”) or (ii) LIBOR, in each case
plus an applicable margin ranging from 0.125% to 1.00% with respect to Base Rate borrowings and 1.125% to 2.00% with
respect to LIBOR borrowings. The applicable margin is based upon our consolidated total leverage ratio. We are also
required to pay a commitment fee for the unused portion of the Revolving Credit Facility and the Delayed Draw Term Loan,
which ranges from 0.15% to 0.35% per annum depending on our consolidated total leverage ratio, and fees on the face
amount of any letters of credit outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility, which range from 0.84% to 2.00% per
annum, in each case, depending on whether such letter of credit is a performance or financial letter of credit and our
consolidated total leverage ratio.

The Term A Loan amortizes quarterly in installments of $2.5 million beginning with the fiscal quarter ending
September 27, 2019, with a final payment of all then remaining principal and interest due on the maturity date of June 26,
2024. Any Delayed Draw Term Loan will amortize quarterly in an amount equal to 2.5% of the aggregate outstanding
borrowings under the Delayed Draw Term Loan, beginning with the first full fiscal quarter ending after the initial borrowing
date, with final payment of all then remaining principal and interest due on the maturity date of June 26, 2024.

Willdan Group, Inc. is the borrower under the Credit Agreement and its obligations under the Credit Agreement are
guaranteed by its present and future domestic subsidiaries (other than inactive subsidiaries). In addition, subject to certain
exceptions, all such obligations are secured by substantially all of the assets of Willdan Group, Inc. and the subsidiary
guarantors.

The Credit Agreement requires compliance with financial covenants, including a maximum total leverage ratio and
a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio. The Credit Agreement also contains customary restrictive covenants, including
(i) restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness and additional liens on property, (ii) restrictions on permitted
acquisitions and other investments and (iii) limitations on asset sales, mergers and acquisitions. Further, the Credit
Agreement limits our payment of future dividends and distributions and share repurchases by us. Subject to certain
exceptions, borrowings under the Credit Agreement are also subject to mandatory prepayment from (a) any issuances of debt
or equity securities, (b) any sale or disposition of assets, (c) insurance and condemnation proceeds (d) representation and
warranty insurance proceeds related to insurance policies issued in connection with acquisitions, and (e) excess cash flow.
The Credit Agreement includes customary events of default.

As of September 27, 2019, $97.5 million was outstanding under the Term A Loan, $5.0 million was
outstanding and $2.7 million in letters of credit were issued under the Revolving Credit Facility, and no amounts were
outstanding under the Delayed Draw Term Loan. Subsequent to September 27, 2019, we borrowed $27.0 million under our
Delayed Draw Term Loan to finance our purchase of all of the capital stock of E3, Inc., which reduced the future borrowing
capacity under the Delayed Draw Term Loan to $23.0 million.

We believe that, as of September 27, 2019, we were in compliance with all covenants contained in the Credit
Agreement.

On January 31, 2019, we entered into an interest swap agreement for $35.0 million notional amount. The interest
swap agreement was designated as a cash flow hedge to fix the variable interest rate on a portion of the outstanding principal
amount under our prior term loan facility. The interest swap fixed annual rate is 2.47% and the amortization is quarterly in an
amount equal to 10% annually. The interest swap agreement expires on January 31, 2022. As of September 27, 2019, our
composite interest rate, exclusive of the effects of upfront fees, undrawn fees and issuance cost amortization, was 4.40%.
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Insurance Premiums. We have also financed, from time to time, insurance premiums by entering into unsecured
notes payable with insurance companies. During our annual insurance renewals in the fourth quarter of its fiscal year ended
December 28, 2018, we elected to finance our insurance premiums for the 2019 fiscal year with a note payable bearing
interest at an annual rate of 4.3%, payable in monthly principal and interest installments of $149,881 through October 2019.
Included in our insurance renewal terms are individual stop loss amount of $100,000 and an aggregate of 125%. As of
September 27, 2019 and December 28, 2018, the unpaid balance of the financed premiums totaled $0.3 million and $1.5
million, respectively.

Software Agreements. We have also financed, from time to time, software costs by entering into unsecured notes
payable with software providers. During the fiscal year ended December 28, 2018, we elected to finance IBM software of
$0.2 million with a note payable bearing interest of 4.656%, payable in monthly principal and interest installments of $6,315
through November 2021. As of September 27, 2019 and December 28, 2018, the unpaid balance related to the IBM software
agreement totaled $150,000 and $211,000, respectively.

Utility Customer Agreement. In connection with the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of Onsite Energy,
we assumed a contract dispute settlement agreement between Onsite Energy and one of its utility customers dated December
20, 2018 (the “Utility Customer Agreement”) where Onsite Energy agreed to pay $1.7 million, bearing an imputed annual
interest rate of 4.332%, payable in quarterly principal and interest installments through June 2021. The unpaid balance of the
Utility Customer Agreement totaled $1.1 million as of September 27, 2019.

Contractual Obligations

As of September 27, 2019, our aggregate obligations increased by $32.3 million and our aggregate future interest
payments on outstanding debt increased by $5.9 million, each since December 28, 2018, which increase was primarily
comprised of borrowings under the Term A Loan in June 2019. In addition, the maturity date of our Credit Facilities is now
June 26, 2024. Our prior credit facilities were scheduled to mature on October 1, 2023. We had no material changes in
commitments for operating lease obligations or finance lease obligations as of September 27, 2019, as compared to those
disclosed in our table of contractual obligations included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
28, 2018. Subsequent to September 27, 2019, we borrowed $27.0 million under our Delayed Draw Term Loan to finance our
purchase of all of the capital stock of E3, Inc

We are obligated to pay earn-out payments in connection with our acquisition of Integral Analytics in July 2017 and
E3, Inc in October 2019. With respect to Integral Analytics, we were obligated to pay up to $12.0 million in cash based on
future work obtained from the business of Integral Analytics during the three years after the closing of the acquisition,
payable in installments, if certain financial targets are met during the three years. As of September 27, 2019, we had
contingent consideration payable of $2.7 million related to this acquisition. For the nine months ended September 27, 2019,
our statement of operations includes $0.3 million of accretion (excluding fair value adjustments) related to the contingent
consideration. On August 1, 2019, we executed an amendment to the Stock Purchase Agreement for Integral Analytics,
which extends the earn-out period from three years after the closing of the acquisition to four years after the closing of the
acquisition (July 28, 2021).

With respect to E3, Inc., we have agreed to pay up to $12.0 million in cash in the aggregate if E3, Inc. exceeds
certain financial targets during the three years after the closing of the acquisition. Payments will be made in annual
installments for each of the three years of the earn-out period.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet financing arrangements or liabilities. In addition, we do not have any
majority-owned subsidiaries or any interests in, or relationships with, any special-purpose entities that are not included in the
condensed consolidated financial statements. We have, however, entered into an administrative services agreement with
Genesys pursuant to which WES, our wholly-owned subsidiary, will provide Genesys with ongoing administrative,
operational and other non-professional support services. We manage Genesys and have the power to direct the activities
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that most significantly impact Genesys’ performance, in addition to being obligated to absorb expected losses from Genesys.
Accordingly, we are the primary beneficiary of Genesys and consolidate Genesys as a variable interest entity.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of loss to future earnings, to fair values or to future cash flows that may result from changes
in the price of a financial instrument. The value of a financial instrument may change as a result of changes in interest rates,
exchange rates, commodity prices, equity prices and other market changes. Market risk is attributed to all market risk
sensitive financial instruments, including long-term debt.

As of September 27, 2019, as a result of timing in payments where checks outstanding were in excess of our cash
balance, we had cash and cash equivalents of $0.0. This amount represents cash on hand in business checking accounts with
BMO.

We do not engage in trading activities and do not participate in foreign currency transactions.

We are subject to interest rate risk in connection with our Term A Loan and borrowings, if any, under our Revolving
Credit Facility and Delayed Draw Term Loan, each of which bears interest at variable rates. As of September 27, 2019,
$100.0 million was outstanding under the Term A Loan, no borrowed amounts were outstanding and $2.7 million in letters of
credit were issued under the Revolving Credit Facility and no amounts were outstanding under the Delayed Draw Term
Loan. Borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at a rate equal to either, at our option, (i) the highest of the prime
rate, the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.5% or one-month LIBOR plus 1.00% (the “Base Rate”) or (ii) LIBOR, in each case plus
an applicable margin ranging from 0.125% to 1.00% with respect to Base Rate borrowings and 1.125% to 2.00% with respect
to LIBOR borrowings. The applicable margin is based upon our consolidated total leverage ratio. We are also required to pay
a commitment fee for the unused portion of the Revolving Credit Facility and the Delayed Draw Term Loan, which ranges
from 0.15% to 0.35% per annum depending on our consolidated total leverage ratio, and fees on the face amount of any
letters of credit outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility, which range from 0.84% to 2.00% per annum, in each case,
depending on whether such letter of credit is a performance or financial letter of credit and our consolidated total leverage
ratio.

The Term A Loan amortizes quarterly in installments of $2.5 million beginning with the fiscal quarter ending
September 27, 2019, with a final payment of all then remaining principal and interest due on the maturity date of June 26,
2024. Any Delayed Draw Term Loan will amortize quarterly in an amount equal to 2.5% of the aggregate outstanding
borrowings under the Delayed Draw Term Loan, beginning with the first full fiscal quarter ending after the initial borrowing
date, with a final payment of all then remaining principal and interest due on the maturity date of June 26, 2024.

On January 31, 2019, we entered into an interest swap agreement for $35.0 million notional amount. The interest
swap agreement was designated as a cash flow hedge to fix the variable interest rate on a portion of the outstanding principal
amount under our prior term loan facility. The interest swap fixed rate is 2.47% and the amortization is quarterly in an
amount equal to 10% annually. The interest swap agreement expires on January 31, 2022.

Based upon the amount of our outstanding indebtedness as of September 27, 2019, a one percentage point increase
in the effective interest rate would change our annual interest expense by approximately $1.0 million in 2019.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act, as controls and
other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the issuer in the reports that it files
or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the
SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer,

57




Table of Contents

Thomas Brisbin, and our Chief Financial Officer, Stacy McLaughlin, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

In connection with the preparation of this Quarterly Report, an evaluation was performed under the supervision and
with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of September 27, 2019. Based on that evaluation, our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective, at a
reasonable assurance level, as of September 27, 2019.

No change in our internal control over financial reporting occurred during the period covered by this report that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. We acquired
Lime Energy on November 9, 2018 and substantially all of the assets of The Weidt Group on March 8, 2019 and Onsite
Energy on July 2, 2019. We are in the process of evaluating the internal controls of each of the acquired businesses and
integrating them into our existing operations and internal control processes.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We are subject to claims and lawsuits from time to time, including those alleging professional errors or omissions
that arise in the ordinary course of business against firms, like ours, that operate in the engineering and consulting
professions. We carry professional liability insurance, subject to certain deductibles and policy limits, for such claims as they
arise and may from time to time establish reserves for litigation that is considered probable of a loss.

In accordance with accounting standards regarding loss contingencies, we accrue an undiscounted liability for those
contingencies where the incurrence of a loss is probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated, and we disclose the
amount accrued and an estimate of any reasonably possible loss in excess of the amount accrued, if such disclosure is
necessary for our financial statements not to be misleading. We do not accrue liabilities when the likelihood that the liability
has been incurred is probable but the amount cannot be reasonably estimated, or when the liability is believed to be only
reasonably possible or remote.

Because litigation outcomes are inherently unpredictable, our evaluation of legal proceedings often involves a series
of complex assessments by management about future events and can rely heavily on estimates and assumptions. If the
assessments indicate that loss contingencies that could be material to any one of our financial statements are not probable, but
are reasonably possible, or are probable, but cannot be estimated, then we disclose the nature of the loss contingencies,
together with an estimate of the possible loss or a statement that such loss is not reasonably estimable. While the
consequences of certain unresolved proceedings are not presently determinable, and a reasonable estimate of the probable
and reasonably possible loss or range of loss in excess of amounts accrued for such proceedings cannot be made, an adverse
outcome from such proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our earnings in any given reporting period. However,
in the opinion of our management, after consulting with legal counsel, and taking into account insurance coverage, the
ultimate liability related to current outstanding claims and lawsuits is not expected to have a material adverse effect on our
condensed consolidated financial statements.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There are no material changes to the risk factors set forth in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” of our Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 28, 2018.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
On September 4, 2019, we issued 37,484, and 15,618 shares of our common stock to two executives of Onsite
Energy, respectively. For further discussion of our acquisition of Onsite Energy, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis

of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Recent Developments—Acquisition of Onsite Energy Corporation” in our
quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 28, 2019 filed with the SEC on August 2,
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2019. The issuances of common stock were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities
Act”). Such shares were issued in a private placement exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act, in
reliance on the exemptions set forth in Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506 under Regulation D for issuances to
less than 35 non-accredited investors.

Item 3. Defaults upon Senior Securities
None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.

Item S. Other Information

Acquisition of E3, Inc.

On October 28, 2019 (the “E3, Inc. Closing Date”), the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary WES,
acquired all of the capital stock of Energy and Environmental Economics, Inc. (“E3, Inc.”) pursuant to the terms of a stock
purchase agreement (the “Stock Purchase Agreement”) by and among the Company, WES, E3, Inc., each of the stockholders
of E3, Inc. (the “E3, Inc. Stockholders”) and Ren Orans, as seller representative of the E3, Inc. Stockholders. E3, Inc. is an
energy consulting firm that helps utilities, regulators, policy makers, developers, and investors make strategic decisions as
they implement new public policies, respond to technological advances, and address customers’ shifting expectations in clean
energy. The Company agreed to pay up to $44.0 million for the purchase of all of the capital stock of E3, Inc., which
purchase price consists of (i) $27.0 million in cash paid on the E3, Inc. Closing Date (subject to holdbacks and adjustments),
(ii) $5.0 million in shares of the Company’s common stock, based on the volume-weighted average price per share of the
Company’s common stock for the ten trading days immediately following, but not including, the E3, Inc. Closing Date and
(iii) up to $12.0 million in cash if E3, Inc. exceeds certain financial targets during the three years after the E3, Inc. Closing
Date, as more fully described below (such potential payments of up to $12.0 million, being referred to as “Earn-Out
Payments” and $12.0 million in respect thereof, being referred to as the “Maximum Payout”).

The amount of the Earn-Out Payments to be paid will be determined based on E3, Inc.’s earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”). The E3, Inc. Stockholders will receive Earn-Out Payments in each of the
three years after the E3, Inc. Closing Date (the “Earn-Out Period”) based on the amount by which E3, Inc.’s EBITDA
exceeds certain targets. The amounts due to the E3, Inc. Stockholders as Earn-Out Payments will in no event, individually or
in the aggregate, exceed the Maximum Payout. Earn-Out Payments will be made in annual installments for each of the three
years of the Earn-Out Period. In addition, the Earn-Out Payments will be subject to certain subordination provisions in favor
of the lenders under the Company’s Credit Agreement.

The Purchase Agreement also contains customary representations and warranties regarding WES, the Company, E3,
Inc. and the E3, Inc. Stockholders, indemnification provisions and other provisions customary for transactions of this nature.

The foregoing description of the Purchase Agreement is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Purchase
Agreement, which is filed as Exhibit 2.1 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and is incorporated herein by reference.
Schedules and exhibits to the Purchase Agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K.

The Purchase Agreement has been provided solely to inform investors of its terms. The representations, warranties
and covenants contained in the Purchase Agreement were made only for the purposes of such agreement and, as of specific
dates, were made solely for the benefit of the parties to the such agreement and may be intended not as statements of fact, but
rather as a way of allocating risk to one of the parties if those statements prove to be inaccurate. In addition, such
representations, warranties and covenants contained in the Purchase Agreement may have been qualified by certain
disclosures not reflected in the text of the Purchase Agreement and may apply standards of materiality in a
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way that is different from what may be viewed as material by stockholders of, or other investors in, the Company. The
Company’s shareholders and other investors are not third-party beneficiaries under the Purchase Agreement and should not
rely on the representations, warranties and covenants or any descriptions thereof as characterizations of the actual state of
facts or conditions of the Company, WES or E3, Inc., or any of their respective subsidiaries or affiliates, or of the E3, Inc.
Stockholders.

The Company borrowed $27.0 million under its Delayed Draw Term Loan on October 28, 2019 to fund the $27.0
million cash payment paid on the E3, Inc. Closing Date, which reduced the future borrowing capacity under the Delayed
Draw Term Loan to $23.0 million. See Note 7 “—Debt Obligations” of the notes to our condensed consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this report for a description of the Delayed Draw Term Loan

The offer and sale of the Company’s common stock in connection with the acquisition of E3, Inc. was not registered
under the Securities Act. Such shares will be issued in a private placement exempt from the registration requirements of the
Securities Act, in reliance on the exemptions set forth in Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506 under Regulation
D.
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Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

2.2%

3.1

32
4.1

4.2

23.1*
31.1*
31.2*

Solutions, Energy and Environmental Economics, Inc., each of the stockholders of Energy and Environmental
Economics, Inc., and Ren Orans, as seller representative of the stockholders of Energy and Environmental Economics,
Inc.

Amendment No. 1, dated as of August 1, 2019, to the Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 28, 2017, by and
among Willdan Group, Inc., Willdan Energy Solutions, Integral Analytics, Inc., the stockholders of Integral Analytics,

Inc. and the Sellers’ Representative (as defined therein).
First Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Willdan Group, Inc., including amendments thereto

Group, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on March §, 2018).
Specimen Stock Certificate for shares of the Registrant’s Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Willdan

136444)).

The Company agrees to furnish to the SEC upon request a copy of each instrument with respect to issues of long-term
debt of Willdan Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries, the authorized principal amount of which does not exceed 10% of the
consolidated assets of Willdan Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Consent of Farber Hass Hurley LLP, independent accountants for Energy and Environmental Economics, Inc. for the
years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)_or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as adopted pursuant to § 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a)_under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as adopted pursuant to § 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1**Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant

99.1*
99.2%*
99.3*

101

to §.906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Unaudited financial statements of Energy and Environmental Economics, Inc., as of and for the six months ended

June 30,2019 and 2018.

Audited financial statements of Energy and Environmental Economics, Inc., as of and for the years ended December 31,
2018 and 2017.

Unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet and statements of operations for Willdan Group, Inc. as of and
for the six months ended June 28, 2019 and for the year ended December 28, 2018, giving effect to the acquisition of
Energy and Environmental Economics, Inc., and the notes thereto.

Interactive data files pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T: (i) the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
September 27, 2019 and December 28, 2018; (ii) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss)
Income for the three and nine months ended September 27, 2019 and September 28, 2018; (iii) the Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity for the nine months ended September 27, 2019 and September 28,
2018; (iv) the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the nine months ended September 27, 2019 and
September 28, 2018 and (iv) the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

* Filed herewith.

ok Furnished herewith.

T Portions of the referenced exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b) of Regulation S-K because it (i) is not material and (ii) would be
competitively harmful if publicly disclosed.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed

on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

WILLDAN GROUP, INC.

By: /s/ Stacy B. McLaughlin
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Stacy B. McLaughlin

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer, Principal Accounting
Officer and duly authorized officer)

Date: October 31, 2019




Exhibit 2.1

CERTAIN IDENTIFIED INFORMATION MARKED BY [*] HAS BEEN EXCLUDED FROM THIS
EXHIBIT BECAUSE IT IS BOTH (I) NOT MATERIAL AND (II) WOULD CAUSE COMPETITIVE
HARM TO THE REGISTRANT IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED

STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT
among
WILLDAN ENERGY SOLUTIONS,
WILLDAN GROUP, INC.
and

THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ECONOMICS, INC.

Dated as of October 28, 2019
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STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of October 28, 2019, is made and
entered into by and among Willdan Energy Solutions, a California corporation (the “Purchaser”), a subsidiary of
Willdan Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Willdan”), cach of the holders of shares identified as such on the
signature pages to this Agreement (the “Sellers”) of Energy and Environmental Economics, Inc., a California
corporation (the “Company”), and Ren Orans, as Seller Representative (as defined in Section 9.12). The Purchaser,
the Sellers and the Seller Representative are sometimes individually referred to herein as a “Party” and collectively
as the “Parties.”

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Sellers own, in the aggregate, all of the outstanding shares in the Company, consisting of
110.87896 shares of common stock, no par value (the “Shares”);

WHEREAS, the Purchaser desires to acquire from the Sellers, and the Sellers desire to sell to the Purchaser,
all of the Shares, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement (the “Acquisition”), so that
the Purchaser will become the owner of all of the Shares as of the Closing Date (as defined below); and

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to make and agree to certain representations, warranties, covenants and
agreements in connection with the Acquisition, as set forth more fully herein.

WHEREAS, the Company is a “S” corporation under the Code.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements
contained in this Agreement, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS; CONSTRUCTION

Section 1.1  Definitions. The following terms, as used herein, have the following meanings:

“Affiliate” of any specified Person means any other Person directly or indirectly Controlling or Controlled
by or under direct or indirect common Control with such specified Person.

“Audited Financial Statements” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7.
“Balance Sheet” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7.
“Balance Sheet Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7.

“Books and Records” means any books, records, files, research and production records, customer files,
customer lists, customer product specifications, customer purchasing histories,




distributor files, vendor files, vendor lists, advertising and marketing materials, sales materials, budgets, forecasts,
ledgers, journals, reports, technical information, databases, or documents, information and files of any kind,
regardless of whether any of the foregoing are stored or maintained in traditional paper format, by means of
electronic, optical or magnetic media or devices, photographic or video images, or any other format or media.

“Business” means the business of the Company in providing energy consulting services that helps utilities,
regulators, policy makers, developers and investors make the best strategic decisions possible as they implement
new public policies, respond to technological advances and address customers shifting expectations.

“Business Day” means any day except Saturday, Sunday or any day on which banks are generally not open
for business in the city of San Francisco, California.

“CERCLA” means the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, 42
U.S.C. §§ 9601 et seq., any amendments thereto, any successor statutes and any regulations promulgated
thereunder.

“Claims Period” means the period during which a claim for indemnification may be asserted hereunder by
any Indemnified Party.

“Closing” means the consummation of the transactions contemplated by Article II of this Agreement.
“Closing Date” means the date on which the Closing occurs.
“Code” means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Company_Ancillary Documents” means any certificate, agreement, document or other instrument, other
than this Agreement, to be executed and delivered by the Company or the Sellers at Closing in connection with the
transactions contemplated hereby.

Company, including the Company Software.

“Company _Licensed Software” means all Software (other than Company Proprietary Software) licensed to
and used by the Company.

“Company Material Adverse Effect” means any fact, circumstance, event, change, effect or occurrence that,
individually or in the aggregate, has had a material adverse effect on the assets, Liabilities, properties, operations,
Business, or financial condition of the Company, considered as a whole; provided, however, that no facts,
circumstances, events, changes, effects or occurrences resulting from, relating to or arising out of the following
shall be deemed to be or constitute a Company Material Adverse Effect or shall be taken into account when
determining whether there has, may, would or could have occurred a Company Material Adverse Effect: (a) the
effect of any change generally affecting the industries in which the Company operates as of the date hereof
(including general pricing changes), (b) the effect of any change in the economy or the financial or securities
markets in the United States or elsewhere in the world, (c) the effect of any outbreak or escalation of hostilities,
declared or undeclared acts of war, sabotage or terrorism, (d) any




change in Laws or accounting rules or principles, or (e) the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the
announcement and performance hereunder (including any cancellations or delays in contract awards any impact on
relationships with customers, subcontractors, suppliers or employees), except in the cases of clauses (a), (b) or (c),
to the extent the effect of any such changes disproportionately and materially impact the operations, Business or
financial condition of the Company, considered as a whole, relative to other participants in the industry in which the
Company operates.

the name of the Company.
“Company Software” means either the Company Licensed Software or the Company Proprietary Software.

“Contract” means any written or oral contract, agreement, arrangement, commitment, license, lease,
easement, right of way, guaranty, distribution agreement, product swap agreement, customer contract, sales contract,
supply agreement, or any other contract, agreement or arrangement of any kind, including all transferable rights
under warranties and guarantees, express or implied, contained therein.

“Control” means, when used with respect to any specified Person, the power to direct the management and
policies of such Person, directly or indirectly, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or
otherwise. The terms “Controlling” and “Controlled” have correlative meanings.

“Customers” means all of the customers of the Company.

“Damages” means any damage, loss, Liability, assessment, levy, fine, charge, claim, demand, action, suit,
proceeding, payment, judgment, settlement, penalty, cost or expense, including reasonable expenses of investigation
and reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses in connection therewith.

“Employment Agreements” means any employment contract, consulting agreement, termination or
severance agreement, change of control agreement, non-compete agreement, non-solicitation agreement, or any
other agreement or understanding (written or oral) respecting the terms and conditions of employment or payment
of compensation, or of a consulting or independent contractor relationship, in respect of any current or former
officer, employee, consultant or independent contractor.

“Employment Laws” means all Laws in effect at or prior to Closing relating to employees and independent
contractors and their employment, or rendition of services, including but not limited to health, labor,
labor/management relations, occupational health and safety, pay equity, equal opportunity, discrimination,
immigration, employment standards, benefits, workers’ compensation, wages, hours, collective bargaining, and the
payment of social security and similar Taxes.




“Environmental Claims” means any complaint, summons, citation, notice, directive, Order, ruling, claim,
litigation, investigation, judicial or administrative proceeding, judgment, letter or other communication from any
Governmental Entity or any third party involving actual, potential or alleged violations of or liability under
Environmental Laws or Releases of Hazardous Substances, and any information request from a Governmental
Entity issued pursuant to any Environmental Law.

“Environmental Law” means any Law relating to the regulation or protection of human health, safety or the
environment or to emissions, discharges, releases or threatened releases of pollutants, contaminants, chemicals or
industrial, toxic or hazardous substances or wastes into the environment (including without limitation, ambient air,
soil, surface water, ground water, wetlands, land or subsurface strata), or otherwise relating to the manufacture,
processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, transport or handling of pollutants, contaminants,
chemicals or industrial, toxic or Hazardous Substances (including without limitation, CERCLA, RCRA, and rule or
regulation promulgated by the United States Occupational Safety and Health Administration and equivalent or
similar state, local or foreign law).

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and all rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder.

“Financial Statements” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7.

“Foreign Official” means any officer or employee of a foreign government or any department, agency or
instrumentality thereof, or of a public international organization, or any person acting in an official capacity for or
on behalf of any such government or department, agency or instrumentality, or for or on behalf of any such public
international organization, or any political party or official thereof, or any candidate for political or political party
office.

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles as applied in the United States of America as
consistently applied by the Company, where the Company’s practice do not conflict with GAAP.

“Government Bid” means any bid that if accepted or awarded would result in a contract or agreement with
(a) any Governmental Entity, (b) any prime contractor to any Governmental Entity in its capacity as a prime
contractor, or (¢) any subcontractor with respect to any contract of the type described in clauses (a) and (b) above.

“Government Contract” means any contract or agreement between the Company and (a) any Governmental
Entity, (b) any prime contractor to any Governmental Entity in its capacity as a prime contractor, or (c) any
subcontractor with respect to any contract of the type described in clauses (a) and (b) above.

“Governmental Entity” means any federal, state or local or foreign government, any political subdivision
thereof or any court, administrative or regulatory agency, department, instrumentality, body or commission or other
governmental authority or agency, domestic or foreign.

“Hazardous Substances” means any wastes, substances, radiation, or materials (whether solids, liquids or
gases): (a) which are hazardous, toxic, infectious, explosive, radioactive,




carcinogenic, or mutagenic pursuant to any Environmental Law; (b) which are or become defined as “pollutants,”
“contaminants,” “hazardous materials,” ‘“hazardous wastes,” ‘“hazardous substances,” “toxic substances,”
“radioactive materials,” “solid wastes,” or other similar designations in, or otherwise subject to regulation under,
any Environmental Law; (c) the presence of which on, under or emanating from the Leased Real Property would be
subject to applicable statutory or common laws; (d) which contain, without limitation, polychlorinated biphenyls
(PCBs), mold, methyl-tertiary butyl ether (MTBE), asbestos or asbestos-containing materials, lead-based paints,
urea-formaldehyde foam insulation, or petroleum or petroleum products (including crude oil or any fraction
thereof); or (¢) which have been deemed to pose a hazard to human health, safety, natural resources, employees or
the environment under any Environmental Law.

“Holdback Amount™ has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a).

“Indebtedness” means, without duplication, the sum of (a) all obligations of the Company for borrowed
money or issued in substitution for or exchange of indebtedness for borrowed money, including intercompany and
shareholder indebtedness; (b) other indebtedness of the Company evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures or other
debt securities; (c) indebtedness of the types described in clauses (a) and (b) guaranteed, directly or indirectly, in
any manner by the Company through an agreement, contingent or otherwise, to supply funds to, or in any other
manner invest in, the debtor, or to purchase indebtedness, primarily for the purpose of enabling the debtor to make
payment of the indebtedness or to insure the owners of indebtedness against loss; (d) indebtedness for the deferred
purchase price of property or services with respect to which the Company is liable, contingently or otherwise, other
than ordinary course trade payables; (e) all obligations of the Company as lessee or lessees under capital leases; (f)
all payment obligations under any interest rate swap agreements or interest rate hedge agreements to which the
Company is party or by which the Company is otherwise bound; (g) any interest owed with respect to the
indebtedness referred to above and prepayment premiums or fees related thereto; and (h) all obligations under or
evidenced by any letter of credit, banker’s acceptance, guarantee, surety, bonds (including a performance bond, bid
bond or appeal bond) or similar credit transaction or debt security.

“Indefinite Purchaser Claims” means any claim by the Purchaser under Article VIII hereof for Purchaser
Losses arising out of or relating to (a) a breach or inaccuracy of any representation or warranty contained in the first
sentence in Section 3.1 (Organization), Section 3.2 (Authorization), Section 3.3 (Shares), Section 4.1
(Authorization), or Section 4.3 (Ownership of Shares), or (b) fraud in connection with the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement.

“Indefinite Seller Claims” means any claim by the Sellers under Article VIII hereof for Seller Losses arising
out of or relating to (a) a breach or inaccuracy or any representation and warranty contained in Section 5.1
(Organization) or Section 5.2 (Authorization), or (b) fraud in connection with the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement.

“Intellectual Property” means all intellectual property rights of the Company, including: (a) all United States
and foreign patents and applications therefor and all reissues, divisions, renewals, extensions, provisionals,
continuations and continuations-in-part thereof; (b) all inventions (whether patentable or not), invention disclosures,
improvements, mask works, trade secrets, manufacturing processes, test and qualification processes, designs,
drawings, schematics,




proprietary information, know-how, technology, technical data and customer lists, and all documentation to the
extent embodying any of the foregoing throughout the world; (c) all works of authorship (whether copyrightable or
not), copyrights, copyright registrations and applications therefor throughout the world; (d) all industrial designs
and any registrations and applications therefor throughout the world; (e¢) all Software; (f) all internet uniform
resource locators, domain names, trade names, logos, slogans, designs, trade dress, common law trademarks and
service marks, trademark and service mark and trade dress registrations and applications therefor throughout the
world; (g) all databases and data collections and all rights therein throughout the world.

“Interim Balance Sheet” has the meaning set forth in section 3.7.

“Interim Balance Sheet Date™ has the meaning set forth in section 3.7.

“Interim Financial Statements” has the meaning set forth in section 3.7.
“IRS” means the United States Internal Revenue Service.

“Knowledge of the Sellers” means the collective knowledge of the Sellers of the Company. An individual
will be deemed to have knowledge of a particular fact or other matter if: (a) that individual is actually aware of that
fact or matter; or (b) a prudent individual would be reasonably likely to discover or otherwise become aware of the
fact or matter following due inquiry regarding the accuracy of any representation or warranty contained in this
Agreement but without, in the case of any matter relating solely to the Company, making inquiry of any customers
of the Company.

“Laws” means all statutes, rules, codes, regulations, restrictions, ordinances, Orders, rulings (including
common law rulings), approvals, or awards issued by any Governmental Entity.

“Leased Real Property” means those parcels of real property or portions thereof of which the Company is
the lessee (together with those fixtures or improvements thereon that are included in the terms of the leases
therefor).

“Liability” or “Liabilities” means any and all debts, liabilities, commitments, obligations, duties or
responsibilities of any kind and description, whether absolute or contingent, accrued or fixed, monetary or non-
monetary, direct or indirect, known or unknown, or matured or unmatured, or of any other nature.

“Licenses” means all notifications, licenses, permits, franchises, certificates, approvals, exemptions,
classifications, registrations and other similar documents and authorizations issued by any Governmental Entity, and
applications therefor.

“Liens” means all mortgages, liens, pledges, security interests, charges, claims, and encumbrances of any
nature whatsoever.

“Litigation” means any litigation, legal action, arbitration, mediation, administrative or judicial proceeding,
demand, or claim pending or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened, or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, any
investigation pending or threatened, against, affecting or brought by or against the Company, or any of the
Company’s (i) assets or properties or (ii) present




or former officers, directors, managers, employees or independent contractors, in each case in their capacities as
such, in any jurisdiction, foreign or domestic.

“Maximum Earnout” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5.

“Order” means any order, ruling, decision, verdict, decree, writ, subpoena, mandate, precept, command,
directive, consent, approval, award, judgment, injunction, or other similar determination or finding by, before or
under the supervision of any Governmental Entity, arbitrator or mediator.

“Ordinary Course” means the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice of the Company.

“Permitted Liens” means (a) Liens for Taxes not yet due and payable or being contested in good faith, (b)
Liens of landlords with respect to Leased Real Property, (c¢) Liens of carriers, warchousemen, mechanics,
materialmen and repairmen incurred in the Ordinary Course and not yet delinquent, and (d) in the case of Leased
Real Property, in addition to items (a), (b) and (c), zoning, building, or other restrictions, variances, covenants,
rights of way, encumbrances, easements and other minor irregularities in title, none of which, individually or in the
aggregate, interfere in any material respect with the present use of or occupancy of the affected parcel by the
Company.

“Person” means, any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, trust,
unincorporated organization or association or other similar entity, Governmental Entity or other legal entity.

“Purchaser Ancillary Documents” means any certificate, agreement, document or other instrument, other
than this Agreement, to be executed and delivered by the Purchaser at Closing in connection with the transactions
contemplated hereby.

“Purchaser Indemnified Parties” means the Purchaser and its Affiliates (which following the Closing, shall
include the Company) and each of their respective officers and directors, and each of the successors and assigns of
any of the foregoing.

“Purchaser Material Adverse Effect” means any fact, circumstance, event, change, effect or occurrence that,
individually or in the aggregate, has had or has a material adverse effect on (i) the assets, Liabilities, properties,
operations, business or financial condition of the Purchaser or (ii) Purchaser’s ability to consummate the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder (including, without
limitation, its obligations under Section 2.5 hereof); provided, however, that no facts, circumstances, events,
changes, effects or occurrences resulting from, relating to or arising out of the following shall be deemed to be or
constitute a Purchaser Material Adverse Effect or shall be taken into account when determining whether there has,
may, would or could have occurred a Purchaser Material Adverse Effect: (a) the effect of any change generally
affecting the industries in which the Purchaser operate as of the date hereof (including general pricing changes), (b)
the effect of any change in the economy or the financial or securities markets in the United States or elsewhere in
the world, (c) the effect of any outbreak or escalation of hostilities, declared or undeclared acts of war, sabotage or
terrorism, or (d) any change in Laws or accounting rules or principles, except in the cases of clauses (a), (b) or (c),
to




the extent the effect of any such changes disproportionately and materially impact the operations, business or
financial condition of the Purchaser relative to other participants in the industries in which the Purchaser operates.

“RCRA” means the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6901 et seq., and any successor
statute, and any regulations promulgated thereunder.

“Registered Intellectual Property” means all United States and foreign: (a) patents and patent applications
(including provisional applications); (b) registered trademarks and service marks, applications to register
trademarks and service marks, registered and applications to register trade dress, intent-to-use trademark or service
mark applications, or other registrations or applications for trademarks and service marks and trade dress; (c)
registered copyrights and applications for copyright registration; and (d) domain name registrations.

“Release” means the presence, release, spill, emission, leaking, pulping, injection, deposit, disposal,
discharge, dispersal, leaching or migration into the indoor or outdoor environment, including the movement of
Hazardous Substances through ambient air, soil, surface water, ground water, wetlands, land or subsurface strata,
and any exposure to Hazardous Substances.

“Representative” means, with respect to any Person, such Person’s equity holders, directors, members,
managers, officers, employees, agents, consultants or Persons acting in a similar capacity.

“Seller Indemnified Parties” means the Sellers and any of their respective heirs, executors, members,
successors and assigns.

“Senior Creditor” means a syndicate of BMO Harris Bank N.A., MUFG Union Bank, N.A., Bank of
America N.A., Citibank N.A. and U.S. Bank, N.A. as the lenders under the Senior Financing Agreement, together
with its successors and assigns.

“Senior Event of Default” means an “Event of Default” as defined in the Senior Financing Agreement.

“Senior Finance Agreement” means that certain Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as July 2,
2019, among Willdan Group, Inc., as the Borrower, Purchaser as a Guarantor, the other guarantors and loan parties
thereunder, and a syndicate of BMO Harris Bank N.A., MUFG Union Bank, N.A., Bank of America N.A., Citibank
N.A. and U.S. Bank, N.A. as the lenders, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time.

“Software” means all computer software programs, together with any error corrections, updates,
modifications or enhancements thereto, in both machine-readable form and human-readable form.

“Software Licensing” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(b).

“SOL Purchaser Claims” means any claim by the Purchaser under Article VIII for Purchaser Losses arising
out of or relating to a breach or inaccuracy of any representation or warranty contained in Section 3.9 (Tax Returns;
Taxes) or Section 3.15 (Company Employee Benefit Plans).




“Tax” or “Taxes” means all federal, state, local and foreign taxes, assessments, charges, duties, fees, levies
and other governmental charges, including income, franchise, stamp, capital stock, real property, personal property,
withholding, employment, payroll, social security, social contribution, unemployment compensation, disability,
transfer, sales, use, excise, gross receipts, value-added, premium, windfall profits, environmental, customs duty,
profits, transaction, registration, alternative or add-on minimum and estimated taxes, composite taxes payable by the
Company on behalf of shareholders, and all other taxes of any kind for which the Company has any liability
imposed by any Governmental Entity, whether disputed or not, and any associated charges, interest, additions to tax,
or penalties imposed by any Governmental Entity.

“Tax Return” means any report, return, declaration or other information return or other document (including
schedules or any related or supporting information) required to be supplied to a Governmental Entity or other
authority in connection with the determination, assessment or collection of any Tax or the administration of any
Laws, regulations or administrative requirements relating to any Tax.

“Transaction Expenses” means any legal, accounting, financial advisory and other third party advisory,
brokerage, or consulting fees and other expenses incurred by a Party in connection with the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and other related matters.

“Treasury Regulations” means any regulations promulgated under the Code.

“Vendors” means the top twenty (20) vendors, suppliers, materialmen and other subcontractors of the
Company in terms of amounts paid to such Vendors during the Company’s fiscal year ended 2018 and the nine-
month period ended September 30, 2019.

“Willdan” means Willdan Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

“Willdan Shares” means shares of common stock of Willdan Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(NASDAQ: WLDN), par value $0.01 per share.

“Year 1” has the meaning specified in Section 2.5(b).

“Year 1 EBITDA Target” has the meaning specified in Section 2.5(b).

“Year 2” has the meaning specified in Section 2.5(c).
“Year 2 EBITDA Target” has the meaning specified in Section 2.5(c).
“Year 3” has the meaning specified in Section 2.5(d).

“Year 3 EBITDA Target” has the meaning specified in Section 2.5(d).

Section 1.2 Construction. The Parties have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this
Agreement. If an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement will be construed as if
drafted jointly by the Parties and no presumption or burden of proof will arise favoring or disfavoring any Party
because of the authorship of any provision of this Agreement. Unless the context of this Agreement otherwise
clearly requires, (a) references to the plural include the singular, and references to the singular include the plural, (b)
references to one gender include the other gender and neuter, (c¢) the words “include,” “includes” and
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“including” do not limit the preceding terms or words and shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without
limitation,” (d) the word “or” is not exclusive, (e) the terms “hereof,” “herein,” “hereunder,” “hereto” and similar
terms in this Agreement refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement,
(f) unless otherwise specified, the terms “day” and “days” mean and refer to calendar day(s), and (g) unless
otherwise specified, the terms “year” and “years” mean and refer to calendar year(s). Unless otherwise set forth
herein, references in this Agreement to (i) any document, instrument or agreement (including this Agreement) (A)
include and incorporate all exhibits, schedules and other attachments thereto, (B) include all documents, instruments
or agreements issued or executed in replacement thereof, and (C) mean such document, instrument or agreement, or
replacement or predecessor thereto, as amended, modified or supplemented from time to time in accordance with its
terms and in effect at any given time; and (ii) a particular Law means such Law as amended, modified,
supplemented or succeeded, from time to time and in effect at any given time at or prior to the Closing Date. All
Article, Section, Exhibit and Schedule references herein are to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules of this
Agreement, unless otherwise specified.

Section 1.3 Other Definitions. Each of the following terms is defined in the Section set forth opposite
such term below:

Term Section
Accountants 2.4(d)
Acquisition Recitals
Agreement Preamble
Causes of Action 6.5(a)
Certificates 2.3(a)
Claim Notice 8.3(a)
Closing TNAV 2.4(a)
COBRA 3.15(q)
Company Preamble
Company Contracts 3.14(a)
Continuing Employee 6.6
Deductible 8.5
Direct Claim 8.3(a)
Dispute Period 8.3(b)
Earn-Out Disagreement 2.5(g)
Earn-Out Financial Statement 2.5(g)
Earn-Out Payment 2.5(a)
Earn-Out Period 2.5(a)
Earn-Out Resolution Discussions 2.5(1)
EBITDA 2.5(a)
Employee Benefit Plans 3.15(a)
ERISA Affiliate 3.15(a)
ERISA Plans 3.15(a)
Final Statement 2.4(b)
Final Statement Disagreement 2.4(c)
Indemnification Cap 8.5
Indemnification Claims 8.3(a)
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Indemnified Party 8.3

Indemnifying Party 8.3
Initial Purchase Price 2.2(a)
Initial Purchase Price Adjustment 2.4(a)
Leases 3.5(a)
Licensed Professionals 3.13(a)
Parties Preamble
Party Preamble
Post-Closing Tax Period 3.9(e)
Pre-Closing Tax Period 3.9(e)
Proceeding 8.3(a)
Purchase Price 2.2(b)
Purchaser Preamble
Purchaser Losses 8.1
Purchaser Plan 6.6(b)
Released Parties 6.5(a)
Releasing Parties 6.5(a)
Seller Preamble
Seller Agreements 7.2(d)
Seller Losses 8.2
Seller Representative 9.12
Settlement 8.3(b)
Shares Recitals
Straddle Period 6.3(b)
Target TNAV 2.4(a)
Third Party Claim 8.3(a)
Transfer Taxes 6.3(d)
ARTICLE 11

PURCHASE AND SALE

Section 2.1  Agreement to Purchase and Sell. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, each
Seller hereby sells, transfers and delivers to the Purchaser, and the Purchaser hereby purchases and acquires from
each Seller, free and clear of all Liens, all of the Shares owned by such Seller.

Section 2.2  Consideration.

(a) The aggregate cash amount to be paid by the Purchaser for the Shares at Closing shall be
$27,000,000 less $1,500,000 (the “Holdback Amount”) plus such number of shares (“Willdan Shares”), subject to
a six (6) months restriction period,having a value equal to $5,000,000 calculated based upon the volume weighted
average price for the ten (10) Trading Days immediately following the Closing Date, excluding the Closing Date
(the “Initial Purchase Price”). The Purchaser will cooperate with the registration of the shares, at no cost to the
Sellers, upon request from the Sellers. The Purchaser shall pay the cash amount of the Initial Purchase
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Price, to each of the Sellers in cash, via 6 wire transfers of immediately available funds, in accordance with Section
2.2(b). The Purchaser shall also pay the stock consideration of the Initial Purchase Price, to each of the Sellers via
their designated stock brokerage accounts in accordance with Section 2.2(b). The Holdback Amount under
Section 2.2(a) shall be paid to Sellers, or retained by Buyer, when, as and to the extent provided in accordance with
Section 2.4 (a).

(b)  The Initial Purchase Price due the Sellers and the Earn-Out Payment (as defined in Section 2.5) will
be allocated among the Sellers in accordance with their ownership percentages of the Shares. The Initial Purchase
Price is subject to adjustment pursuant to Section 2.4, and any such adjustment shall be allocated among the Sellers
in accordance with their ownership percentages of the Shares. The Initial Purchase Price, as adjusted, and the
Earn-Out Payment due hereunder will constitute the “Purchase Price” for purposes of this Agreement.

Section 2.3 Delivery of Certificates Evidencing Shares.

(a) At the Closing, each Seller shall deliver to the Purchaser (i) any and all certificates (the
“Certificates™) evidencing the Shares, and (ii) corresponding transfer instruments, in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to the Purchaser, executed for transfer. If any Certificate shall have been lost, stolen
or destroyed, that Seller shall provide an affidavit of lost certificate, in form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to the Purchaser, with respect to such Certificate.

(b) The Initial Purchase Price paid upon the Closing and surrender of Certificates in accordance
with the terms of this Article II shall be deemed to have been exchanged and paid in full satisfaction of all
rights pertaining to the Shares represented by such Certificates.

(©) At Closing, each Seller shall provide to Purchaser a completed W-9 Form.
Section 2.4  Adjustment to Initial Purchase Price.

(a) The Initial Purchase Price shall be adjusted upward or downward on a dollar-for-dollar basis
(the “Initial Purchase Price Adjustment”) to the extent that, as of the close of business on the Closing Date,
the Company’s tangible net asset value (the “Closing TNAV™), calculated as set forth below, is more or less
than $3,000,000 (the “Target TNAV™).

(i) The Initial Purchase Price Adjustment will be determined by (A) preparing a Closing
Date balance sheet that is mutually agreed to by the Parties, (B) calculating the difference between
the Closing TNAV and the Target TNAV, and (C) making payment of the difference to the
appropriate party.

(i1) The Closing TNAV will be calculated as (A) the Company’s total tangible assets,
including cash, as further described in subparagraph (b) below, less (B) the Company’s total tangible
liabilities (including all Transaction Expenses incurred by the Company and/or the Sellers and to be
paid by the Company that have not be paid prior to Closing, and less (C) the Company’s third party
debt. For clarification, the Closing TNAV will be calculated from Seller’s accounting system
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on the accrual basis consistent with GAAP, and shall include any work in progress, deferred Taxes
and accrued vacation, holiday, and sick time, as well as a pro rata portion of the expected year end
bonus expense for all employees and any accrued liability for hard work or other incentive bonuses.

(b) Not later than sixty (60) days after the Closing Date, the amount of the Closing TNAV shall
be determined and set forth in a statement to be prepared by the Seller Representative (the “Final
Statement”). The Final Statement shall be prepared from Company’s accounting system on the accrual basis
according to Company’s practices as consistently applied, which may not be in accordance with GAAP, and
shall reflect all tangible assets and liabilities of the Company as of the Closing Date as described in
subparagraph (a)(ii) above. The Parties agree that the earn-out liabilities payable under Section 2.5 hereof,

will be accounted for on the Purchaser’s books and records and, accordingly, will not be considered
liabilities of the Company for purposes of calculating TNAV. Seller Representative shall have full access to
the Company’s books and records for purposes of preparing the Final Statement.

() The Seller Representative shall cause the Final Statement to be delivered to the Purchaser for
review by the Purchaser and its accountants. The Final Statement shall be final and binding upon the Parties
for all purposes, unless the Purchaser shall notify the Seller Representative in writing, not later than thirty

(30) days from the Purchaser’s receipt of the Final Statement, of a disagreement with the amounts reflected

in the Final Statement (the “Final Statement Disagreement”), in which event the provisions of subparagraph
(d) below shall apply. Such notice shall specify all items as to which there is disagreement, including the
amount, and provide an explanation of the basis for such disagreement. During the 30-day review period,
the Purchaser and its representatives shall have full access to the Company’s books and records, and the
Sellers shall make available to the Purchaser, at reasonable times and upon reasonable notice, the
employees, representatives and agents of the Sellers who prepared, or assisted in the preparation of, the
Final Statement. The failure of the Purchaser to timely notify the Seller Representative in writing of the
existence of a Final Statement Disagreement shall be deemed, for all purposes, the Purchaser’s acceptance
of the Final Statement.

(d) In the event and to the extent that the Purchaser shall timely notify the Seller Representative
in writing, as provided in subparagraph (c) above, of a Final Statement Disagreement, the Parties shall
attempt, in good faith, to resolve such disagreement. In the event the Parties are unable to resolve such Final
Statement Disagreement within ten (10) Business Days from the date of receipt by the Seller Representative
of notice from the Purchaser of the Final Statement Disagreement, each of the Purchaser and the Seller
Representative shall, within ten (10) Business Days, submit to representatives of a mutually agreed CPA
firm (the “Accountants™) its or his proposal concerning what the amount of Closing TNAV should be,
together with all relevant financial data, and the Final Statement Disagreement shall be submitted for final
and binding arbitration and resolution by the Accountants. In resolving the Final Statement Disagreement,
the Accountants shall only consider those items or amounts in the Final Statement as to which the Parties
disagree. After completing their review of the Final Statement Disagreement, the Accountants shall resolve
each item in dispute and confirm their conclusion (and the resulting amounts) in
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writing to the Seller Representative and the Purchaser. The Parties shall instruct the Accountants to deliver
their written conclusion to the Purchaser and the Seller Representative no later than thirty (30) days
following the conclusion of the presentation of the Purchaser’s and the Seller Representative’s respective
proposals to the Accountants. The decision of the Accountants regarding such adjustment shall be final and
binding upon the Parties for all purposes and enforceable in any court of competent jurisdiction. The fees
and costs of the Accountants, if any, in connection with such arbitration shall be shared by the Sellers and
the Purchaser in inverse proportion to the amounts in dispute determined to be for the account of the Sellers
and the Purchaser, respectively.

(e) In the event the Closing TNAV is finally determined to equal or exceed the Target TNAV,
the excess and the remaining balance of the Holdback Amount shall be paid to the Sellers in accordance
with Section 2.2(b). In the event the Closing TNAV is finally determined to be less than the Target TNAYV,
the Buyer shall be entitled to retain a portion of the Holdback Amount equal to the Post-Closing
Adjustment and within five Business Days of acceptance of the applicable Closing TNAV Statement the
Seller Representative shall collect the amount of deficiency from the Sellers and pay to the Purchaser the
full amount of such deficiency in cash. Any payment required by this subparagraph (e) shall be made within
ten (10) days after the determination that there is no dispute among the Parties with respect to the Final
Statement if there is no such dispute, or ten (10) days after the resolution of any such dispute (by arbitration
or otherwise) pursuant to subparagraph (d) hereof.

Section 2.5 Earn-Out Consideration. In addition to the Initial Purchase Price, the Sellers may receive
additional consideration of up to $12,000,000 (the “Maximum Earnout”) payable in cash, over a three-year earn-out
period (the “Earn-Out Period”) following the Closing Date. The earn-out, described below and credit as adjustment
to earn-out agreement as set forth in Exhibit “A”, will be paid in accordance with the following terms (it is being
understood that the aggregate of all Earn-Out payments paid to Sellers pursuant to this Agreement shall not exceed
the Maximum Earnout under any circumstances):

(a) With respect to the period of the first thirty-six months of operations as a unit of the
Purchaser (the “Earn-Out Period”), the Purchaser will make an earn-out payment (the “Earn-Out Payment”)
based upon the Company’s earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”)
during each year of the Earn-Out Period. For purposes of determining the earn-out, EBITDA is defined as
earnings from operations of the Company determined in accordance with GAAP. The Purchaser’s corporate-
allocated overhead (excluding any charges borne by the Purchaser solely for the benefit of the Company that
otherwise would have been incurred directly by the Company in the normal course of business regardless of
the Transaction') shall not be included. Prior to each year of the Earn-Out Period, Purchaser and Seller
Representative shall mutually agree on an estimated budget of charges that Purchaser reasonably anticipates
incurring solely for the benefit of the Company under the parenthetical in the immediately preceding
sentence. Purchaser shall also provide Seller Representative, on a monthly basis during the Earn-Out
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Period, a statement showing in reasonable detail all such charges actually incurred by Purchaser for the prior
month. To the extent such charges exceed the amounts the Company would reasonably have been expected
to incur had charges been borne by the Company directly and not by Purchaser, and are not offset by cost
reductions provided from other expense line items supplied by or procured by Purchaser, the Company will
receive a credit towards EBITDA in an amount equal to the excess. To the extent that such Purchaser
supplied cost reductions exceed any increases in costs, the Company will receive a debit against its EBITDA
in an amount equal to the excess. If the Closing Date occurs on a date that is not the end of one of
Purchaser’s fiscal months, the Earn-Out Period will begin with the first full fiscal month of Purchaser’s
ownership.

(b) If the Company generates EBITDA of or exceeding $[*] (the “Year 1 EBITDA Target”)
during the period beginning on the Closing Date and ending on the day prior to the first anniversary of the
Closing Date (such period, “Year 17), the Purchaser will make an Earn-Out Payment of $4,000,000. For
EBITDA of less than $[*] but more than $[*] for Year 1, the amount of the Earn-Out Payment will be
calculated pro rata on the amount by which the Company’s EBITDA is between $[*] and $[*]. No Earn-
Out Payment is payable for Year 1 if the Company’s EBITDA is less than $[*]. The Earn-Out Payment is to
be paid in cash to the Seller Representative for distribution to the Sellers under Sections 2.2(b) and (c)
within eighty-five (85) days after the first anniversary of the Closing Date, or ten (10) days after the
resolution of an Earn-Out Disagreement. If the maximum Earn-Out Payment of $4,000,000 is not fully
achieved in Year 1, the balance not earned shall be carried over into Year 2 as an addition to the maximum
$4,000,000 Earn-Out Payment potentially earned in that period. Additionally, if the Company’s EBITDA
for Year 1 exceeds or falls short of the Year 1 EBITDA Target, the excess shall be carried over into Year 2 as
a credit or the shortfall shall be carried into Year 2 as a debit, to the Company’s EBITDA for Year 2.

Year 1 Example #1: if the Company’s EBITDA for Year 1 is $[*], the Earn-Out Payment would be
[*]% of the $4,000,000 total available for that period (([*]/[*]) x 4,000,000), and the remaining Earn-Out
Payment available for Year 1 (4,000,000 - [*]) would carry over into and be available in Year 2, such that
the total Earn-Out Payment that could potentially be earned for Year 2 would be $[*].

Year 1 Example #2: if the Company'’s EBITDA for Year 1 is $[*], the Earn-Out Payment would be
[*1% of the $4,000,000 total available for that period, and $[*] of the Company’s EBITDA for that period
(1*1— [*]) would be carried over into Year 2 and credited towards the Company s EBITDA for Year 2.

(© If the Company generates EBITDA of or exceeding $[*] (the “Year 2 EBITDA Target”)
during the period beginning on the first anniversary of the Closing Date and ending on the day prior to the
second anniversary of the Closing Date (such period, “Year 2”), the Purchaser will make an Earn-Out
Payment of $4,000,000 plus any carry over from Year 1 as described in (b) above. For EBITDA of less
than $[*] but more than $[*] for Year 2, the Earn-Out Payment will be calculated pro rata on the amount by
which the Company’s EBITDA is between $[*] and $[*]. No Earn-Out Payment is payable for Year 2 if
the Company’s EBITDA is less than $[*]. The Earn-Out Payment is to be paid
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in cash to the Seller Representative for distribution to the Sellers under Section 2.2(b) within eighty-five
(85) days after the second anniversary of the Closing Date, or ten (10) days after the resolution of an Earn-
Out Disagreement. If the maximum Earn-Out Payment is not fully achieved in Year 2 (which maximum
shall be $4,000,000 plus any portion of the Earn-Out not fully achieved in Year 1 that has been carried over
into Year 2), the balance shall be carried over into Year 3. Additionally, if the Company’s EBITDA for
Year 2 exceeds or falls short of the Year 2 EBITDA Target, the excess shall be carried over into Year 3 as a
credit or the shortfall shall be carried into Year 3 as a debit, to the Company’s EBITDA for Year 3.

Year 2 Example #1: if the Company's EBITDA for Year 2 is $[*], and 50% of the Earn-Out Payment
for Year I had been carried over into Year 2, the Earn-Out Payment earned in Year 2 would be 50% of the
86,000,000 total available for that period (([*]/[*]) x 6,000,000), and the remaining Earn-Out Payment
available for Year 2 (6,000,000 - [*]) would carry over into and be available for Year 3, such that the total
Earn-Out Payment that could potentially be earned for Year 3 would be $[*].

Year 2 Example #2: if the Company'’s EBITDA for Year 2, without taking into account any credits
from Year 1, is $[*], and the Company is entitled to a $/*] credit to EBITDA for Year 2 based on the
foregoing Year 1 Example #2, the Company s total EBITDA for purposes of the Year 2 calculation would be
$[*]. As such EBITDA exceeds the Year 2 EBITDA Target by $[*] ([*] — [*]), such excess would be
carried over into Year 3 and applied as a credit to the Company’s EBITDA for that year.

(d) If the Company generates EBITDA of or exceeding $[*] (the “Year 3 EBITDA Target”)
during the period beginning on the second anniversary of the Closing Date and ending on the day prior to
the third anniversary of the Closing Date (such period, “Year 3”), the Purchaser will make an Earn-Out
Payment of $4,000,000 plus any carry over from Year 2 as described in (d) above. For EBITDA of less than
$[*] but more than $[*], the Earn-Out Payment will be calculated pro rata on the amount by which the
Company’s EBITDA is between $[*] and $[*]. No Earn-Out Payment is payable if the Company’s
EBITDA is less than $[*] for Year 3. The Earn-Out Payment is to be paid in cash to the Seller
Representative for distribution to the Sellers under Sections 2.2(b) and (c¢) within eighty-five (85) days after
the third anniversary of the Closing Date, or ten (10) days after the resolution of an Earn-Out Disagreement.

Year 3 Example: if the Company generates EBITDA during Year 3 of $/*], and the total Earn-Out
Payment that could potentially be earned for Year 3 was $[*] due to the carry over described in the
example in Section 2.5(c), the Earn-Out Payment for Year 3 would be (([*]/[*]) x [*]) = [*].

(e) The financial statement showing the Company’s EBITDA for each year of the Earn-Out
Period (the “Earn-Out Financial Statement”) shall be prepared by the Purchaser in accordance with GAAP
and delivered to the Seller Representative no later than forty-five (45) days following the end of each year
of the Earn-Out Period. Unless
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there is a disagreement with the Earn-Out Financial Statement (an “Earn-Out Disagreement”) (which shall
be resolved in accordance with subparagraph (h) below), the Purchaser shall, within ten (10) days following
the acceptance or deemed acceptance by the Seller Representative of the Earn-Out Financial Statement, pay
the appropriate Earn-Out Payment to the Seller Representative in cash via wire transfer of immediately
available funds for appropriate distribution under Sections 2.2(b) and (c). If there is an Earn-Out
Disagreement, the amount of the Earn-Out Payment not in dispute shall be paid pursuant to the immediately
preceding sentence.

® The Earn-Out Financial Statement shall be final and binding upon the parties hereto unless
the Seller Representative shall notify the Purchaser in writing, not later than thirty (30) days from the Seller
Representative’s receipt of the Earn-Out Financial Statement, of an Earn-Out Disagreement. Such notice of
Earn-Out Disagreement shall specify all items as to which there is an Earn-Out Disagreement, including the
amount, and provide an explanation of the basis for such Earn-Out Disagreement; provided, however, that
the Seller Representative shall not be precluded from raising additional points of disagreement or providing
additional explanations in the subsequent discussions and arbitration discussed in subparagraph (i)
below. The Seller Representative’s failure to timely notify the Purchaser in writing of the existence of an
Earn-Out Disagreement shall be deemed, for all purposes, to be the Seller Representative’s acceptance of
the Earn-Out Financial Statement.

(2) In the event and to the extent that the Seller Representative shall timely notify the Purchaser
in writing, as provided in subparagraph (g) above, of an Earn-Out Disagreement, the Parties hereto shall
attempt, in good faith, to resolve such Earn-Out Disagreement (“Earn-Out Resolution Discussions™). In the
event that the Parties are unable to resolve such Earn-Out Disagreement within twenty (20) Business Days
after the date of receipt by the Purchaser of notice from the Seller Representative of the Earn-Out
Disagreement, the Purchaser and the Seller Representative shall, within ten (10) Business Days, submit to
the Accountants its or his proposal to settle the Earn-Out Disagreement. Further, the Parties shall submit to
the Accountants all relevant financial data, and the Earn-Out Disagreement shall be submitted for final and
binding arbitration and resolution by the Accountants. In resolving the Earn-Out Disagreement, the
Accountants shall only consider those items or amounts in the Earn-Out Financial Statement as to which the
Parties have continued to disagree after the Earn-Out Resolution Discussions. After completing their review
of the Earn-Out Disagreement, the Accountants shall resolve each item in dispute and confirm their
conclusion in writing to the Seller Representative and the Purchaser. The Parties shall instruct the
Accountants to deliver their written conclusion to the Purchaser and the Seller Representative no later than
thirty (30) days following the conclusion of the presentation of the Purchaser’s and the Seller
Representative’s respective proposals on the Earn-Out Disagreement to the Accountants. The decision of
the Accountants shall be final and binding upon the parties hereto for all purposes and enforceable in any
court of competent jurisdiction. Within ten (10) days following the decision of the Accountants, the
Purchaser shall make the required payment in cash to the Seller Representative for appropriate distribution,
via wire transfer of immediately available funds. The fees and costs of the Accountants, if any, in
connection with such arbitration shall be shared by the
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Purchaser and the Sellers in inverse proportion to the amounts of the disputed EBITDA amount determined
to be for the account of the Sellers and the Purchaser, respectively.

(h) The Purchaser will make the work papers and back-up materials used in preparing the Earn-
Out Financial Statements, and the books, records and financial staff of the Purchaser and the Company,
available to the Seller Representative and his accountants and other representatives at reasonable times and
upon reasonable notice at any time during (A) the preparation by the Purchaser of the Earn-Out Statement,
(B) the review by the Seller Representative of the Earn-Out Statement, and (C) the resolution by the Parties
of any objections thereto.

6] Until the expiration of the Earn-Out Period, except as consented to in writing by the Seller
Representative, the Purchaser shall:

(1) conduct the operations of the Company in the usual and Ordinary Course to the
extent such conduct is in compliance with the Purchaser’s operating policies (copies of which have been
provided to Seller Representative) and take no action intended to, or that would knowingly result in a
reduction in EBITDA below that which would have been achieved if such action had not been taken,;

(i1) use best efforts to maintain the relations and good will with suppliers, customers,
landlords, creditors, employees, agents and others having business relationships with Company as of the
Closing Date and during the Earn-Out Period;

(ii1) maintain a financial reporting system that will separately account for EBITDA, and
allow Seller Representative reasonable access to such system from time to time during the Earn-Out Period;

(iv) make reasonable commercial efforts to ensure that the Company maintains the
services of any technical and management employees who are essential to perform any then current
Contracts of the Company;

) not terminate, transfer, assign or novate to any Person any then current Contracts of
the Company or those executed within the Earn-Out Period without first mutually agreeing to make a pro-
rata adjustment of the Earn-Out targets;

(vi) regularly consult with and consider in good faith the recommendations and requests
of the Seller Representative regarding management of then current projects, and bidding on new projects
proposed to be undertaken by the Company;

(vii) consult with and consider in good faith the recommendations and requests of the
Seller Representative regarding the budget for the Company during the Earn-Out Period;

(viii) consult with and consider in good faith the recommendations and requests of the
Seller Representative regarding employees’ salaries and bonuses and office openings and closures; and
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(ix) provide as appropriate in the then current circumstances reasonable support to the
Company as may be reasonably requested by the Seller Representative from time to time, in the Ordinary
Course, including, without limitation, working capital, technical support, equipment, office space, supplies
and assistance with recruiting and other corporate functions; provided, however, that any direct costs
mutually agreed to be borne by the Purchaser solely for the benefit of the Company will be accrued for
purposes of determining the Earn-Out Payment.

) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Purchaser shall not be obligated
to pay all or any portion of the Earn-Out Payment on the date of such payment is otherwise due hereunder if
and to the extent that the payment of such amount would result in a Senior Event of Default or a Senior
Event of Default exists at the time of such contemplated payment. Purchaser shall pay any amount it is
obligated to pay under this section as soon as the restrictions set forth in the preceding sentence no longer
exist. Sellers acknowledge and agree that any failure by Purchaser to pay all or any portion of the Earn-Out
Payment on the date otherwise due hereunder by virtue of this section shall not constitute a default under or
a breach of this Agreement for any reason. The Senior Creditor shall be an express third-party beneficiary
with respect to this section.

ARTICLE III
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES RELATING TO THE COMPANY

The Sellers hereby represent and warrant to the Purchaser, jointly and severally, as of the date hereof, that:

Section 3.1 Organization. The Company is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good
standing under the laws of the State of California. The Company has all requisite corporate power and authority to
own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its Business as currently conducted. The Company is duly
qualified to transact business as a foreign entity and is in good standing in each other jurisdiction in which the
ownership or leasing of its properties or assets or the conduct of its Business requires such qualification except
where the failure to qualify would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Company Material Adverse
Effect. A list of the jurisdictions in which the Company is qualified to conduct its Business is set forth in Schedule
3.1. The Sellers have previously made available to the Purchaser complete copies of the Company’s articles of
incorporation and bylaws, each as amended to date.

Section 3.2 Authorization. The Company has all necessary corporate power and authority to execute and
deliver the Company Ancillary Documents to which it is a party and to perform its obligations thereunder and to
consummate the transactions contemplated thereby. The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of
the Company Ancillary Documents to which it is a party and the consummation of the transactions contemplated
thereby have been duly authorized and approved by all necessary corporate action. When each of the agreements
that are Company Ancillary Documents to which the Company is a party have been duly executed and delivered by
the Company, and assuming due authorization, execution and delivery thereof by the other parties thereto, each such
agreement will constitute the valid and binding agreement of the Company, enforceable against the Company in
accordance with its terms, except as such

20




enforceability (a) may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or other similar Laws affecting or relating
to enforcement of creditors’ rights generally, and (b) is subject to general principles of equity (regardless of whether
enforceability is considered in a proceeding at law or in equity).

Section 3.3 Shares. The Shares owned by the Sellers constitute all of the outstanding Shares of the
Company. Schedule 3.3 accurately and completely sets forth the number of all Shares of the Company that are
authorized and outstanding, and the holder thereof. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.3, (a) there are no outstanding
options, warrants, rights, calls, conversion rights, rights of exchange, subscriptions, or convertible or exchangeable
securities relating to the Shares; (b) there are no distributions that have accrued but are unpaid on the Shares or
other equity interests of the Company; (c) there are no outstanding Contracts of the Company or any Seller to
purchase or otherwise acquire any outstanding Shares or other equity interests of the Company, or securities or
obligations of any kind convertible into any Shares or other equity interests of the Company; and (d) there are no
Contracts between any Seller and any other Person relating to the management of the Company or any equity
interest of the Company.

Section 3.4  Absence of Restrictions and Conflicts.

(a) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.4(a), the consummation of the Acquisition and the other
transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Company Ancillary Documents does not and will not,
(i) conflict with or violate the Company’s articles of incorporation or bylaws, each as amended to date, (ii)
conflict with or violate any Law applicable to the Company, or by which any property or asset of the
Company is bound, or (iii) require any consent which has not been previously obtained or result in any
violation or breach of or constitute (with or without notice or lapse of time or both) a default (or give to
others any right of termination, amendment, acceleration or cancellation) under, or result in the triggering of
any payments or result in the creation of any Lien or other encumbrance on any property or asset of the
Company, in all cases, pursuant to any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any Contract to which the
Company is a party, except with respect to clauses (ii) and (iii) for any such conflicts, violations, breaches,
defaults or other occurrences that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to
result in a Company Material Adverse Effect.

(b) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.4(b), the execution and delivery by the Company of the
Company Ancillary Documents to which it is a party does not, and the performance of its obligations
thereunder will not, require any consent, approval, authorization or permit of, or filing with or notification
to, any Governmental Entity, except where such consent, approval, authorization or permit has been
previously obtained, such filing or notification has been previously made, or where the failure to obtain such
consents, approvals, authorizations or permits, or to make such filings or notifications, would not,
individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to result in a Company Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.5  Real Property.

(a) Schedule 3.5(a) correctly identifies all Leased Real Property, and the Sellers have delivered,
or caused to be delivered, to the Purchaser all leases, agreements and
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subleases, and any amendments thereto, with respect to such Leased Real Property (the “Leases”). The
Leases are in full force and effect, and there are no existing material defaults or any events that with the
passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, would constitute an event of default by the Company under
any Lease to which it is a party, or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, by any other party to any Lease. Except
as described in Schedule 3.5(a), no consent, waiver, approval or authorization that has not been previously
obtained is required from the landlord or lessee under any Lease as a result of the execution of this
Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

(b) The Company does not own, or has never owned, any interest in any parcel of real property.

(© With respect to each piece of Leased Real Property, the Company, as applicable, has a good
and valid leasehold interest, and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, each such leasehold interest is free and
clear of any Lien except for Permitted Liens, except as set forth on Schedule 3.5(¢c). To the Knowledge of
the Sellers, there are no pending or threatened condemnation proceedings, lawsuits or administrative actions
relating to the Leased Real Property. Other than the Company, as applicable, to the Knowledge of the
Sellers, there are no parties in possession or parties having any rights to occupy any of the Leased Real
Property that is leased by the Company.

(d) Each piece of Leased Real Property is adequate and suitable in all material respects for the
purposes for which it is currently being used. To the Knowledge of the Sellers, the Company has reasonably
adequate rights of ingress and egress with respect to all Leased Real Property and the improvements thereon
pursuant to public streets and roads or by good, marketable and insurable appurtenant easements.

(e) The Company does not owe any brokerage commission with respect to any Leased Real
Property.

® The Leased Real Property constitutes all of the real property utilized by the Company in the
operation of its Business and is sufficient for the Company to operate the Business as currently conducted.

Section 3.6  Title to Assets; Related Matters. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.6, the Company has good
and marketable title to all of its properties and assets, free and clear of all Liens, except Permitted Liens. All
material equipment and other material items of tangible personal property and assets of the Company (a) are in good
operating condition and capable being used for their intended purposes, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and (b) are
usable in the Ordinary Course. There has not been any significant interruption of operations of the Business due to,
or notice from any Governmental Entity with respect to, inadequate maintenance by the Company of any tangible
personal property and assets. Except as disclosed in Schedule 3.6 or incurred in the Ordinary Course, since
February 28, 2018, the Company has not sold, transferred or disposed of any material assets. The assets and
properties of the Company constitute all of the material assets, services, properties, goodwill and rights (including
Company Intellectual Property rights) used in the business of the Company as currently conducted. All of the
Business assets and properties located at the Leased Real Property are owned or validly leased by the Company, as
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applicable. No asset or property used in, or held for use in, the Business is leased from or owned by any Seller or
an Affiliate of any Seller (other than the Company).

Section 3.7 Financial Statements. Complete copies of the Company’s audited financial statements
consisting of the balance sheet of the Company at December 31*, 2018 and the related statements of income and
retained earnings, stockholders’ equity and cash flow for the year then ended (the “Audited Financial Statements™)
are attached as Schedule 3.7, and unaudited financial statements consisting of the balance sheet of the Company as
at September 30, 2019 and the related statement of income for the nine month period then ended (the “Interim
Financial Statements”) and together with the Audited Financial Statements, (the “Financial Statements”) are
included in the Disclosure Schedule and have been delivered to Buyer. The Financial Statements have been
prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the period involved, subject, in the
case of Interim Financial Statements, to normal and recurring year-end adjustments (the effect of which will not be
materially adverse) and the absence of notes that, if presented, would not differ materially from those presented in
the Audited Financial Statements. The Financial Statements are based on the books and records of the Company,
and fairly present the financial condition of the Company as of the respective dates they were prepared and the
results of the operations of the Company for the periods indicated and include the accrual of a pro-rata share of any
reasonably expected bonus pools to be paid from the earnings of the Company upon the completion of the fiscal
year. The balance sheet of the Company as of December 31, 2018 is referred to herein as the “Balance Sheet” and
the date thereof as the “Balance Sheet Date” and the balance sheet of the Company as of September 30, 2019 is
referred to herein as the “Interim Balance Sheet” and the date thereof as the “Interim Balance Sheet Date”. The
Company maintains a standard system of accounting established and administered in accordance with GAAP. No
unbilled revenue has been recorded, no accrual has been provided for vacation, holiday or sick pay accrued by
employees, and no provision for deferred Taxes has been made in the Financial Statements.

Section 3.8 Accounts Receivable. All billed and unbilled accounts receivable of the Company (a) arose
in the Ordinary Course, (b) except as provided in the associated allowance for doubtful accounts on the Final
Statement, are valid, existing and, collectible without resort to legal proceedings or collection agencies, and (c)
except as set forth on Schedule 3.8, are not subject to any refund or adjustment or, any defense, right of set-off,
assignment, restriction, security interest or other lien. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.8, no third party has
initiated or threatened in writing to initiate, a dispute regarding the collectability of any accounts receivable. All
billed and unbilled accounts receivable reflected in the Final Statement, net of the associated allowance for doubtful
accounts, are fully collectible within three hundred and sixty-five (365) days after the date hereof and payable at
their face amounts. The Company has never factored any of its respective accounts receivable. No account
receivable set forth on Schedule 3.8 is with a party with whom the Company has had or settled a dispute regarding
the collection of any past account receivable.

Section 3.9  Tax Returns; Taxes.
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(a) The Company has timely filed with all appropriate Governmental Entities all income and
other Tax Returns required to be filed prior to the Closing Date by it in respect of all applicable Taxes of the
Company. All such Tax Returns are correct and complete in all material respects and were prepared in
compliance in all material respects with applicable Law. All Taxes due, or claimed to be due by any Tax
authority, pursuant thereto (whether or not shown as due on any Tax Return) were paid when due.

(b) To the Knowledge of the Sellers, no written claim has ever been made by a Governmental
Entity in a jurisdiction in which the Company does not file Tax Returns that the Company is or may be
subject to taxation by that jurisdiction.

(© There are no Liens on any of the assets of the Company that arose in connection with any
failure (or alleged failure) to pay any Tax (other than Permitted Liens).

(d) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.9(d), the Company has collected and withheld all Taxes
that they have been required to collect or withhold and have timely submitted all such collected and
withheld Taxes to the appropriate authorities. The Company has complied in all material respects and is in
compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws relating to the payment, withholding and
information reporting requirements relating to any Taxes required to be collected or withheld. All
individuals paid for services by the Company have been properly classified as either employees or
independent contractors in accordance with the Code and applicable Tax laws.

(e) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.9(e), the Company will not be required to include any item
of income in, or exclude any item of deduction from, taxable income for any period ending after the Closing
Date (each, a “Post-Closing Tax Period”) as a result of any (i) change in accounting method for any period
ending on or prior to the Closing Date (each, a “Pre-Closing Tax Period”) under Section 481 of the Code (or
any analogous or comparable provision of United States, state or local or non-United States Tax law) other
than as a result of the transactions contemplated hereunder, (ii) written agreement with a Tax authority with
regard to the Tax liability of the Company for any Pre-Closing Tax Period, (iii) deferred intercompany gain
described in United States Treasury Regulations under Section 1502 of the Code (or any corresponding or
similar provision of state, local or non-United States Tax law) arising from any transaction that occurred
prior to the Closing Date or prior to the Closing on the Closing Date, (iv) installment sale or open
transaction disposition made prior to the Closing Date or prior to the Closing on the Closing Date, or (v)
prepaid amount received on or prior to the Closing Date.

® To the Knowledge of the Sellers, there is no notice from any Governmental Entity with
respect to the assessment of any additional Taxes for any period for which Tax Returns have been or will be
filed. There is no Litigation concerning any Liability for Taxes of the Company, either (i) claimed or raised
by any Governmental Entity and delivered to the Company in writing, or (ii) to the Knowledge of the
Sellers, based upon personal contact with any agent of such Governmental Entity. No Tax audits or other
administrative proceedings are presently pending or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened with
respect to any Taxes for which the Company has been or could be liable.
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(2) The Company has made available to the Purchaser true, correct and complete copies of all
federal, state, local and foreign Tax Returns and all written communications from or to the IRS or other
Governmental Entity in the Company’s custody, possession or control and relating to any such Tax Returns,
examination reports and statements of deficiencies filed, assessed against or agreed to by the Company since
December 31, 2013.

(h) The Company has not executed or entered into with any taxing authority (i) any agreement,
waiver or other document extending or having the effect of extending or waiving the period for assessments
or collection of any Taxes for which the Company would or could be liable, (ii) any closing agreement
pursuant to Section 7121 of the Code, or any predecessor provision thereof or any similar provision of state,
local or foreign Tax law that relates to the assets or operation of the Company, or (iii) any power of attorney
with respect to any Tax matter that is currently in force.

() Except as set forth in Schedule 3.9(i), no Tax assessment or deficiency which has not been
paid, or for which an adequate reserve has not been set aside, has been made or proposed in writing against
the Company, nor are any of the Tax Returns now being or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened to be
audited. All Tax deficiencies determined as a result of any completed audit have been satisfied. The
Company has delivered or otherwise made available to the Purchaser complete copies of all audit reports
and statements of deficiencies with respect to any Tax assessed against or agreed to by the Company for the
three most recent taxable periods for which such audit reports and statements of deficiencies have been
received by the Company.

)] The Company is not a party to any agreement, contract, arrangement or plan that has resulted
or would result, separately or in the aggregate, in the payment of any “excess parachute payment” within the
meaning of Code Section 280G (or any corresponding provision of state, local, or foreign Tax Law) in
connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(k) The Company is not a party to or bound by any Tax sharing, Tax indemnity or Tax allocation
agreement or other similar arrangement, excluding, however, any agreement or arrangement the primary
purpose of which is not the allocation or payment of Tax liability and in which such provisions regarding
Taxes are typical of such agreements or arrangements.

0 Except as set forth in Schedule 3.9(]), the Company has not been a member of an affiliated
group filing a consolidated federal income Tax Return.

(m) The Company has no material liability for the Taxes of any Person other than the Company
(A) under Reg. Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law), (B) as a transferce
or successot, or (C) by a contract other than contracts entered into in the Ordinary Course or any agreement
or arrangement the primary purpose of which is not the allocation or payment of Tax liability and in which
such provisions regarding Taxes are typical of such agreements or arrangements.
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(n) To the Knowledge of the Sellers, the Company will not be required to make an adjustment to
any Tax attribute of, or the basis of any asset of, the Company under Section 1.1502-36(d) of the Treasury
Regulations as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(o) The Company is not under examination by any taxing authority.

Section 3.10 No Undisclosed Liabilities. Except as set forth in the Financial Statements or Schedule 3.10,
the Company has no Liabilities of a nature required by GAAP to be reflected on the face of a balance sheet or in the
notes thereto, other than (a) Liabilities incurred since the date of the Balance Sheet in the Ordinary Course, (b)
forward-looking obligations to perform under any Contracts of the Company, or (c) the matters disclosed in or
arising out of matters set forth in the schedules to this Agreement.

Section 3.11  Absence of Certain Changes. Since September 15, 2019, and except as set forth in Schedule
3.11 and for matters incurred in the Ordinary Course, (a) there has not been any Company Material Adverse Effect
or any state of facts, circumstance, event, change, effect or occurrence that, individually or in the aggregate, would
reasonably be expected to result in a Company Material Adverse Effect, and (b) the Company has not:

(1) amended its organizational documents or merged or consolidated with any other
Person, or changed or agreed to rearrange in any manner the character of its Business;

(i1) failed to maintain its Books and Records in the Ordinary Course;

(iii) issued, sold or purchased any options or rights to subscribe, with respect to its capital
stock or other equity interests, or entered into any Contract or commitment to issue, sell or purchase,
any shares of its capital stock or other equity interests;

(iv) issued any note, bond or other debt security, or created, incurred, assumed or
refinanced any Indebtedness, or guaranteed any Indebtedness, or incurred or assumed any Liability
(whether or not currently payable), or incurred any Lien on any of its assets or rights;

) acquired any assets or properties or made or authorized, accelerated or deferred any
capital expenditures;

(vi) declared, set aside or paid any dividends or made any other distributions of any kind
to its shareholders or holders of equity interests, or made any direct or indirect redemption,
retirement, purchase or other acquisition of any shares of its capital stock, units or other equity
interests;

(vii) changed any of its accounting or tax methods, policies, practices, or principles,
changed its reserve amounts or policies, changed any depreciation or amortization policies or
previously adopted rates, or written-off as uncollectible any accounts receivable;
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(viii) amended any Tax Return;

(ix) changed any working capital practice, including accelerated any collections of cash
or accounts receivable or deferred or delayed payments, or failed to make timely accruals, with
respect to accounts payable and Liabilities incurred in the Ordinary Course;

(x) materially damaged any material assets or properties of the Company, or any other
Person, or incurred or caused any material loss, destruction or casualty not covered by insurance;

(xi) settled or compromised any Litigation or waived or released any material right of the
Company;

(xii) paid, discharged or satisfied any Liability or Lien other than Indebtedness as it
matures and becomes due and payable;

(xiii) ~ compromised or settled any issue relating to Taxes of the Company, agreed to any
adjustment of any Tax attribute of the Company, or made any material election with respect to Taxes;

(xiv) acquired, sold, transferred, or disposed of, or agreed to acquire, sell, transfer, or
otherwise dispose of, or entered into any agreement requiring the consent of any party to the transfer
and assignment of, any material assets or rights (including management and control thereof) of the
Company;

(xv) (A) hired any individual as an employee, (B) hired or engaged any individual as a
consultant or independent contractor of the Company, (C) increased the annual salary, bonus or other
compensation payable or to become payable to any employee, consultant or independent contractor
of the Company, other than normal year-end increases; (D) increased the coverage or benefits
available under any existing, or created any new, severance pay, termination pay, vacation pay,
company awards, salary continuation for disability, sick leave, deferred compensation, bonus or other
incentive compensation, insurance, pension or other employee benefit plan or arrangement or
otherwise modified or amended or terminated any such plan or arrangement, (E) entered into any
employment, deferred compensation, severance, consulting, non-competition or similar agreement
(or amended any such existing agreement) with any employee, consultant or independent contractor
of the Company, except, in each case, as required by applicable Law or by the terms of any
Employee Benefit Plan, or (F) transferred any employment contract or arrangement of any employee,
consultant or independent contractor of the Company to any Affiliate of any Seller;

(xvi) made any loans to any of its Affiliates or Representatives or changed any of its
existing borrowing or lending arrangements for or on behalf of any of such Persons pursuant to an
Employee Benefit Plan or otherwise;

(xvii)  entered into, modified or terminated any labor or collective bargaining agreement
covering any employee of the Company or, through
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negotiations or otherwise, made any commitment or incurred any Liability to any labor organization
or other group representing any employee of the Company or group thereof;

(xviii) entered into any transaction between the Company, on the one part, and any of the
Affiliates of the Company, on the other part;

(xix) entered into any material real estate or personal property lease (as lessor or lessee);
(xx)  made any changes in any of its sales practices or credit terms;

(xxi)  waived any rights of material value or taken any actions with respect to collection
practices that would reasonably be expected to result in any material losses or material adverse
changes in collection loss experience;

(xxii) changed its manner of managing working capital; or

(xxiii) entered into any Contract outside the Ordinary Course, to do any of the things
described in the preceding clauses (i) through (xxi).

Section 3.12 Legal Proceedings. Schedule 3.12 sets forth all Litigation of the Company for the three years
prior to the date hereof, including the name of the claimant, the date of the alleged act or omission, a narrative as to
the nature of the alleged act or omission, the date the matter was referred to an insurance carrier (if referred), the
estimated amount of exposure, the amount the Company has accrued with respect to such matter, or the amount of
the Company’s claim and estimated expenses in connection with such matters. Except as set forth on Schedule
3.12, there is no current Litigation to which the Company is a party or in which the Company is otherwise involved,
and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, no such Litigation has been threatened by any Person. The Company has no
Liability with respect to any past Litigation to which it was a party or was otherwise involved which is not fully
covered by insurance policies. There is no Order or other determination of an arbitrator or Governmental Entity
specifically applicable to the Company, or any of the Company’s assets or properties. There is no Litigation relating
to alleged unlawful discrimination or sexual harassment or any other Litigation that if determined adversely to the
Company would be deemed a violation of Section 3.13 hereof. There is no Litigation which seeks to prevent, or
seeks Damages in connection with, consummation of the Acquisition or the other transactions contemplated hereby
or by the Company Ancillary Documents.

Section 3.13 Compliance with Laws.

(a) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.13, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, the Company’s
employees, consultants and independent contractors who are required as related to the Business to obtain
and maintain Licenses in respect of their duties to the Company (such employees, consultants and
independent contractors collectively, the “Licensed Professionals™) have maintained and have materially
complied with, and maintain and are in material compliance with, all Licenses and Laws applicable to the
Company, the Business, and the Licensed Professionals. To the Knowledge of the Sellers, all such Licenses
held by the Company or the Licensed Professionals are valid and in full
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force and effect, and there is no Litigation that could reasonably be expected to result in the termination,
impairment or nonrenewal thereof.

(b) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.13, the Company, and its respective properties, assets,
business and operations, have been and are being operated and have been and are in compliance in all
material respects with all Laws and Orders applicable to such properties, assets, business or operations. The
Company has not received a written notice or other written communication alleging a possible violation of
any Law or Order applicable to its properties, assets, business or operations, and no such written notice,
communication or allegation has been threatened in writing.

(© Neither the Company nor any of its respective shareholders, directors, or officers, or to the
Knowledge of the Sellers, employees, managers, agents or other representatives, has, in connection with the
Business, directly or indirectly offered, paid or promised to pay, or authorized the payment of, any money or
other thing of value or any commission payment payable, to: (i) any person who is a Foreign Official; or (ii)
any other Person, in either case in violation of any applicable Law for any of the following purposes: (x)
influencing any action or decision of such Person in such Person’s official capacity, including a decision to
fail to perform such Person’s official function; (y) inducing such Person to use such Person’s influence with
any Governmental Entity to affect or influence any act or decision of such Governmental Entity to assist the
Company in obtaining or retaining business for, with, or directing business to, any Person; or (z) where such
payment would constitute a bribe, kickback or illegal or improper payment to assist the Company in
obtaining or retaining business for, with, or directing business to, any Person.

Section 3.14 Company Contracts.

(a) Schedule 3.14(a) sets forth a correct and complete list of the following Contracts and bids to
which the Company is a party, by which the Company, or any of their respective assets or properties, is
subject, or by which the Company is otherwise bound (collectively, the “Company Contracts™) (other than
the Employee Benefit Plans described in Section 3.15, the Employment Agreements described in Section
3.17 and the insurance policies described in Section 3.18) and:

1) any voting trusts or similar agreements relating to any of the Shares to which any
Seller or the Company is a party;

(i1) all bonds, debentures, notes, loans, credit or loan agreements or loan commitments,
mortgages, indentures, guarantees or other Contracts evidencing or governing Indebtedness;

(iii) any Contracts relating to the making of any loan or advance by the Company;

(iv) all leases or licenses involving any personal property or asset requiring the payment
by the Company of an amount in excess of $10,000 per lease or license;
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W) any Contract that imposes any non-compete, non-solicitation or exclusivity restriction
on the Company with respect to any line of the Business in which the Company is currently engaged
or geographic area with respect to the Company;

(vi) any Contract that limits the ability of the Company to own, operate, sell, transfer,
pledge or otherwise dispose of any assets or property;

(vii)  all Contracts for capital expenditures or the acquisition or construction of fixed assets
requiring the payment by the Company of an amount in excess of $25,000 per Contract;

(viii)  all Contracts granting to any Person (other than the Company) an option or a first
refusal, first-offer or similar preferential right to purchase or acquire any assets which are material to
the Company;

(ix) any sales, broker, distributor, dealer, representative, franchise or agency agreements;

(x) all joint venture or partnership Contracts and all other similar Contracts providing for
the sharing of any profits by the Company;

(xi) all Contracts involving the sale or purchase of substantially all of the assets or equity
of any Person, or a merger, consolidation or business combination transaction;

(xii) all current Contracts with any Customers of the Company pursuant to which the
Company expects to receive at least $250,000;

(xiii)  all current Contracts with any Vendors pursuant to which the Company expects to
spend at least $100,000;

(xiv) any Contract, other than Contracts with Customers, Vendors or suppliers of the
Company entered into in the Ordinary Course, under which the Company has agreed to indemnify, or
to provide any warranty or guaranty in favor of, any Person;

(xv) any license, sublicense or royalty agreement, including any agreement pursuant to
which the Company licenses the right to use any Company Intellectual Property that is owned by the
Company to any Person or from any Person, and any research and development agreements by which
Company Intellectual Property has been created;

(xvi) any Government Contract the period of performance of which has not yet expired;
(xvii) any pending Government Bid;

(xviii)) any non-Customer Contract that (A) cannot be terminated by the Company, as
applicable, upon thirty (30) days or less notice any time without
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penalty or payment of cash consideration in excess of $25,000 to the counterparty and (B) involves
aggregate consideration in excess of $50,000;

(xix) any Contract that requires the payment of commissions, finder’s fees or similar
payments by the Company;

(xx) all other Contracts not made in the Ordinary Course which are material to the
Company; and

(xxi) any Contract, other than as set forth above, to which the Company, or any Affiliate of
the Company, is a party, the breach, violation or termination of which, or default under, by any party
thereto, would reasonably be expected to result in a Company Material Adverse Effect.

(b) Correct and complete copies of all Company Contracts have been made available to the
Purchaser to the extent such Company Contracts are in the Company’s possession or control. The Company
Contracts (other than Government Bids) are legal, valid, binding and enforceable in all material respects in
accordance with their respective terms with respect to the Company, and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers,
each other party to such Company Contracts.

(©) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.14(c):

1) there is no default under any Company Contract by the Company or, to the
Knowledge of the Sellers, by any other party thereto, and no event has occurred that with the lapse of
time or the giving of notice or both would constitute a material default thereunder by the Company
or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, any other party;

(i1) no party to any Company Contract has given written notice to the Company or, to the
Knowledge of the Sellers, oral notice to the Company, of or made a claim against the Company with
respect to any breach or default thereunder;

(iii)  no party to any Company Contract has given written notice to the Company or, to the
Knowledge of the Sellers, oral notice to the Company that it intends to cancel, withdraw, modify or
amend any such Contract;

@iv) with respect to each Company Contract, (A) to the Knowledge of the Sellers, the
Company, as applicable, has complied with all material terms and conditions of such Company
Contract, including all clauses, provisions and requirements incorporated expressly or by reference
therein; (B) the Company, as applicable, has complied, in all material respects, with all requirements
of any statute, rule, regulation or Order of any Governmental Entity or any agreement pertaining to
such Company Contract; (C) to the Knowledge of the Sellers, all representations and certifications
executed, acknowledged or set forth in or pertaining to such Company Contract were current,
accurate and complete in all material respects as of their effective date, and the Company, as
applicable, has complied in all material respects with all such representations and certifications; (D)
no Governmental Entity nor any prime contractor, subcontractor or other
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Person has notified the Company, as applicable, in writing or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, orally,
that the Company, as applicable, has breached or violated any statute, rule, regulation, certification,
representation, clause, provision or requirement; (E) in writing, no termination for convenience,
termination for default, cure notice or show cause notice has been issued with respect to a
Company Contract; (F) except for questions and disallowances in the Ordinary Course, no cost
incurred by the Company has been questioned or disallowed by a Customer or Governmental Entity;
and (G) to the Knowledge of the Sellers, except as permitted by the Company Contract or agreed to
in the Ordinary Course, no money due to the Company, as applicable, has been withheld or set off;

W) there exists (A) no financing arrangements with respect to the performance by the
Company; (B) no outstanding claims or requests for financial adjustments against the Company,
either by any party to a Company Contract, any Governmental Entity or by any prime contractor,
subcontractor, vendor or other third party, arising under or relating to any Company Contract, other
than claims as to which the Company has established a reserve; (C) to the Knowledge of the Sellers,
no facts upon which such a claim or request for a financial adjustment would be reasonably expected
to be validly based in the future, other than claims as to which the Company has established a
reserve; (D) no contract disputes for which written notice has been given and to the Knowledge of
the Sellers, no other contract disputes, in each case between the Company, as applicable, and any
party to a Company Contract, any Governmental Entity or any prime contractor, subcontractor or
vendor arising under or relating to any Company Contract, other than disputes as to which the
Company has established a reserve;

(vi) to the knowledge of the Sellers, except as set forth in Schedule 3.14(c)(vi), (A) the
revenue and profit associated with each of the Company Contracts, as applicable, have been recorded
and (B) there exists no Company Contract, that the Company expects to receive at least $500,000,
with a period of performance that has not yet ended as to which the Company’s, as applicable,
estimated cost at completion (including material and labor costs, other direct costs, overheads and
engineering costs, whether incurred or yet to be incurred), exceeds the aggregate contract revenue
recorded or reasonably expected by the Sellers to be recorded under such Company Contract through
completion in accordance with GAAP.

(d) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.14(d): (i) neither the Company, nor any of its directors,
officers or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, any employees or Representatives of the Company, is (or for the
last five years has been) under administrative, civil or criminal investigation, indictment or information,
audit or internal investigation, with respect to any alleged irregularity, misstatement or omission arising
under or relating to any Government Contract or Government Bid or is (or for the last five years has been) in
violation, in any material respect, of any statutes or regulations applicable to the Company that are
specifically applicable to Government Contracts, including prohibitions against conflict of interest or any
governmental accounting regulations; and (ii) the Company has not made a voluntary disclosure to any
Governmental
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Entity with respect to any alleged irregularity, misstatement or omission arising under or relating to any
Government Contract or Government Bid that has led or could be expected to lead to any of the
consequences set forth in clause (i) above or other Damages.

Section 3.15 Company Employee Benefit Plans.

(a) Schedule 3.15(a) contains a true and complete list of each employment, stock option or other
equity based compensation, bonus, deferred compensation, incentive compensation, severance or other
termination pay, change-in-control, health, disability, life, cafeteria, insurance, supplemental unemployment
benefits, profit-sharing, pension or retirement plan, policy, program, agreement or arrangement, and each
other employee benefit plan, program, agreement or arrangement, whether written or oral, sponsored,
maintained, participated in or contributed to or required to be contributed to by the Company, or (without
duplication) in the case of any employee benefit plan described in subsections (c), (d) or (e) below, any other
entity that would be deemed a “single employer” within the meaning of Section 4001(b)(1) of ERISA (an
“ERISA Affiliate”), for the benefit of any current or former employee, officer, manager or director of the
each of the Employee Benefit Plans that is an “employee welfare benefit plan,” or “employee pension
benefit plan” as such terms are defined in Sections 3(1) and 3(2) of ERISA (the “ERISA Plans”). Except as
contemplated under this Agreement or as required by Laws, neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate
has any formal plan or commitment, whether legally binding or not, to create any additional Employee
Benefit Plan or modify or change any existing Employee Benefit Plan that would affect any current or
former employee, officer, manager or director of the Company or any ERISA Affiliate. The Company does
not maintain any Employee Benefit Plan subject to a jurisdiction outside of, or for any employee, officer,
manager or director of the Company, or any ERISA Affiliate, located or residing outside of, the United
States.

(b) The Company has delivered or otherwise made available to the Purchaser a true and
complete copy of:

(i) each Employee Benefit Plan and any related funding agreements (e.g., trust
agreements or insurance contracts), including all amendments, and Schedule 3.15(b) includes a
description of any such amendment that is not in writing);

(i1) the current draft of the Summary Plan Description of each Employee Benefit Plan (if
applicable); and

(iii) the most recent Internal Revenue Service determination letter, advisory letter or
opinion letter (if applicable) for each Employee Benefit Plan.

(©) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.15(c), neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate
maintains or contributes to, or has within the last six (6) years maintained or contributed to, any Employee
Benefit Plan that is subject to Title IV of ERISA, or Section 302 or Section 412 of the Code.
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(d) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.15(d), no Employee Benefit Plan is a “multi- employer
plan”, as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA, nor is any Employee Benefit Plan a plan described in Section
4063(a) of ERISA. All contributions have been made to any multiemployer plan that are required to be
made by the Company under the terms of the plan or of any collective bargaining agreement or by
applicable law; the Company has not withdrawn or partially withdrawn from any multiemployer plan,
incurred any withdrawal liability with respect to any such plan or received notice of any claim or demand for
withdrawal liability or partial withdrawal liability from any such plan that has not been paid in full, and, to
the Knowledge of the Sellers, no condition has occurred which, if continued, might result in a withdrawal or
partial withdrawal by the Company from any such plan which results in withdrawal liability with respect to
any plan; and the Company has not received any notice that any multiemployer plan is in reorganization,
that increased contributions may be required to avoid a reduction in plan benefits or the imposition of
any excise tax, that any such plan is or has been funded at a rate less than that required under Section 412 of
the Code, that any such plan is or may be terminated, or that any such plan is or may become insolvent;

(e) To the Knowledge of the Sellers, no material liability under Title IV of ERISA has been
incurred by the Company, or any ERISA Affiliate, since the effective date of ERISA that has not been
satisfied in full, and to the Knowledge of the Sellers, no condition exists that presents a risk to the
Company, or any ERISA Affiliate of incurring a liability under such title.

® All costs of administering and contributions required to be made on or prior to the date of this
Agreement by the Company to each Employee Benefit Plan under the terms of that Employee Benefit Plan,
ERISA, the Code or any other applicable Law have been timely made. All amounts properly accrued to date
as Liabilities of the Company under or with respect to each Employee Benefit Plan (including administrative
expenses and incurred but not reported claims) for the current plan year of the Employee Benefit Plan have
been recorded on the Company’s books.

(2) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.15(g), each Employee Benefit Plan complies currently, and
to the Knowledge of the Sellers has complied in the past, both in form and operation, in all material respects,
with all Laws applicable at the relevant time, including but not limited to ERISA and the Code. Each
Employee Benefit Plan has been operated in accordance with its terms in all material respects. Furthermore,
except as set forth in Schedule 3.15(g), the Internal Revenue Service has issued a favorable determination
letter, advisory letter, or opinion letter with respect to each Employee Benefit Plan that is intended to qualify
under Section 401(a) of the Code, and to the Knowledge of the Sellers no event has occurred (either before
or after the date of the letter) that would disqualify the plan.

(h) Each Employee Benefit Plan that is intended to meet currently applicable requirements for
tax-favored treatment under Subchapter D of Chapter 1 of the Code is to the Knowledge of the Sellers, in
compliance with such requirements and, if applicable, with the requirements of Sections 419 and 419A of
the Code, and no “disqualified benefits”
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(within the meaning of Section 4976(a) of the Code) have been paid which would subject the Company to a
Tax under Code Section 4976.

1) No prohibited transaction has occurred with respect to any of the Employee Benefit Plans
which is not exempt under Section 4975 of the Code and Section 406 of ERISA and which would result in a
material liability to the Company, and the Company has not engaged in any transaction with respect to any
Employee Benefit Plan which could subject it to either a civil penalty of a material nature assessed pursuant
to Section 409, 502(i) or 502(1) of ERISA, or a Tax of a material nature imposed pursuant to Section 4975 or
4976 of the Code.

) The Company does not maintain any plan that provides (or will provide) medical or death
benefits to one or more former employees (including retirees) beyond their retirement or other termination
of service, other than benefits that are required to be provided pursuant to Section 4980B of the Code or
state Law continuation coverage or conversion rights.

(k) There is no Litigation and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, there are no investigations, either
currently in progress or expected to be instituted in the future, relating to any Employee Benefit Plan, by any
administrative agency, whether local, state or federal.

1) There are no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened lawsuits or other claims
(other than routine claims for benefits under the plan) against or involving (i) any Employee Benefit Plan or
(i1) to the Knowledge of the Sellers, any Fiduciary of such Employee Benefit Plan (within the meaning of
Section 3(21)(A) of ERISA) brought on behalf of any participant, beneficiary or Fiduciary thereunder, nor to
the Knowledge of the Sellers, is there any reasonable basis for any such claim.

(m) The Company has no commitment to create any additional Employee Benefit Plan, or any
intention or commitment to modify any existing Employee Benefit Plan other than changes that are
necessary to comply with applicable Law.

(n) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.15(n), none of the Employee Benefit Plans or any other
employment agreement or arrangement entered into by the Company will entitle any current employees or
former employee to any benefits or other compensation that become payable solely as a result of the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

(o) None of the Employee Benefit Plans are subject to the Tax on unrelated business taxable
income or unrelated debt-financed income under Section 511 of the Code.

(p) The Company has complied, prior to the date hereof (to the extent applicable), with the
provisions of the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, if applicable.

(@ To the Knowledge of the Sellers, all reports, notices and other disclosure relating to
Employee Benefit Plans required to be filed with, or furnished to, Governmental Entities, plan participants
or plan beneficiaries have been timely filed and furnished in
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accordance with applicable Law, including notices required to be furnished to employees under the
Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1995 (“COBRA”) upon the occurrence of a
“qualifying event”, as defined at Section 4980B of the Code, except where the failure to do so would not
result in material liability to the Company.

(1) To the Knowledge of the Sellers, no Employee Benefit Plan has any interest in any annuity
contract or other investment or insurance contract issued by an insurance company that is the subject of
bankruptcy, conservatorship, rehabilitation or similar Litigation.

(s) None of the persons performing services for the Company have been improperly classified as
independent contractors or as being exempt from the payment of wages for overtime.

() Schedule 3.15(t) lists, as of January 1, 2019, each individual who is absent from active
employment with the Company by reason of (i) short-term or long-term disability, (ii) leave of absence
under the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 (or comparable state statute), (iii) military leave (under
conditions that give the employee re-employment rights) or (iv) other Company-approved leave of absence.

(w) Schedule 3.15(u) lists, as of July 1, 2019, each individual who (i) has elected to continue
participating in a group health plan of the Company pursuant to an election under COBRA, or (ii) has not
made an election under COBRA but who is still within the period during which the election may be made.

Section 3.16  Labor Relations. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.16(a), the Company is not or has not
within the last six (6) years been a party to any collective bargaining agreement. During the three years prior to the
date hereof, there has been no labor strike, work stoppage, unfair labor practice charge, grievance or other organized
labor dispute pending or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened against or with respect to the Company.
During the three years prior to the date hereof, to the Sellers’ Knowledge, there have been no activities or
proceedings of any labor union to organize any employees of the Company. To the Sellers’ Knowledge, no event
has occurred that could provide the basis for any work stoppage or other organized labor dispute. To the
Knowledge of the Sellers, the Company is not liable for the payment of any compensation, Damages, Taxes, fines,
penalties or other amounts, however designated, for failure to comply with any Employment Laws. To the
Knowledge of the Sellers, all of the Company’s current procedures, policies and training practices with respect to
employee matters, including, without limitation, those relating to the hiring and termination of employees and
worker safety, conform in all material respects with all applicable Laws. The Company is not subject to any
pending claim for overdue overtime compensation due to any employee, and to the Knowledge of the Company, no
such claim has been threatened. No consent of any labor union is required to consummate the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and the Company Ancillary Documents. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.16(b),
the Sellers have no Knowledge to the effect that any current key employee, consultant or independent contractor has
any immediate plans to terminate or materially alter its relations with the Company, either as a result of the
transactions contemplated hereby or otherwise.
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Section 3.17 Employees and Contractors. Schedule 3.17 contains a correct and complete list of (a) all of
the corporate officers of the Company, specifying their position, work location and length of service, respectively,
and (b) as of September 1, 2019 all of the other employees (whether full-time, part-time or otherwise) and
independent contractors of the Company specifying their position, status, work location and length of service, and
with respect to independent contractors, consulting or other independent contractor fees, together with an
appropriate notation next to the name of any officer or other employee or independent contractor on such list who is
subject to any Employment Agreement. Except to the extent set forth in Schedule 3.17:

(a) the Company is in compliance in all material respects with all Employment Laws including
Laws, Orders and other requirements respecting employment and employment practices, terms and
conditions of employment and wages and hours; and is not engaging in any unfair labor practice with
respect to any employee of the Company;

(b) there is no existing material default or material breach of the Company under any
Employment Agreement (or event or condition that, with notice or lapse of time or both could constitute a
material default or material breach) and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, there is no such material default
(or event or condition that, with notice or lapse of time or both, could constitute a material default or
material breach) with respect to any other party to any Employment Agreement with the Company;

(©) other than the Employment Agreements, there is no severance, consulting, relocation or other
agreement, contract or arrangement between the Company and any of their respective employees, other than
at-will employment arrangements;

(d) there is no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened charge, complaint,
allegation, application or other process or claim against the Company before any Governmental Entity with
respect to any employee;

(e) no employee is covered by any collective bargaining agreement with respect to services to
the Company, nor, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, is there any effort being made by any union to so
organize the employees;

® the Company has paid, or set forth as an accrual on the Financial Statements, and performed
all payment obligations when due with respect to its respective employees, consultants, agents, officers and
directors, including without limitation the payment of any accrued and payable wages, severance pay,
vacation pay, benefits and commissions, except those obligations that are in good faith being challenged by
the Company as not valid obligations as more fully described in Schedule 3.17; and

(2) except as set forth in Schedule 3.17, there are no pending or, to the Knowledge of the
Sellers, threatened claims or actions against the Company under any workers’ compensation policy or long-
term disability policy.

Section 3.18 Insurance Policies and Bonds.

(a) The Company maintains insurance coverage with respect to its properties and business of
such a nature, in such amounts, with such terms, and covering such risks as are required under Contracts and
applicable Laws. All such policies are in full force and
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effect. The Company has not received written notice of default under any such policy, nor has it received
written notice of any pending or threatened termination or cancellation, coverage limitation or reduction, or
material premium or deductible increase with respect to any such policy.

(b) Schedule 3.18(b) contains a complete list of all insurance policies carried by or for the
benefit of the Company (including any such policy under which the Company is listed as a named insured or
an additional insured), specifying the insurer, the amount of and nature of coverage, the risk insured against,
the deductible amount (if any), the date through which coverage shall continue by virtue of premiums
already paid, and a list and description of all claims made against such insurance policies for the three-year
period prior to the date hereof. None of the policy limits of such insurance have been exhausted, nor has the
Company failed to give any notice or to present any claim thereunder in due and timely fashion. The
Company has not received any notice of the intent of any insurance company to not renew or to cancel any
insurance policies for the Company or materially increase the premiums thereunder, and except as set forth
in Schedule 3.18(b), none of the insurance policies shall terminate solely as a result of the transactions
contemplated hereby. The Company’s insurance policies provide, and have previously provided, all
coverage that is or was required by applicable Law and by any and all Contracts and Licenses to which the
Company is or was a party.

(©) Schedule 3.18(c) contains a complete, current and correct list of all outstanding bonds
(including any bid, performance and payment bonds), letters of credit and other surety arrangements issued
or entered into in connection with the Business, assets and Liabilities of the Company. The Company is not
in default under any of such arrangements.

Section 3.19  Environmental, Health and Safety Matters.

(a) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.19(a), To the Knowledge of the Sellers, the Company is
currently in compliance and has been in compliance, in all material respects, with all applicable
Environmental Laws.

(b) (i) To the Knowledge of the Sellers, no Environmental Claims have been asserted in writing,
or orally against the Company, nor do the Sellers have any Knowledge or notice of any pending or
threatened Environmental Claims concerning the violation of any Environmental Law against the Company;
and (ii) to the Knowledge of the Sellers, the Company has no Liabilities under any Environmental Law or
with respect to Hazardous Substances.

(c) (1) To the Knowledge of the Sellers, there has been no Release or threatened Release at, on,
under or from any of the properties or facilities currently leased or operated by the Company that could
reasonably be expected to result in material Liability to the Company under any Environmental Law or
Contract or with respect to Hazardous Substances; (ii) to the Knowledge of the Sellers, there was no
Release at, on, under or from any of the properties formerly leased or operated by the Company during the
period of such tenancy or operation that could reasonably be expected to result in Liability to the Company
under any Environmental Law or Contract; and (iii) to the Knowledge of the

38




Sellers, the Company has not arranged, by Contract, agreement or otherwise, for the treatment or disposal of
Hazardous Substances at any location such as could reasonably be expected to result in any material
Liability to the Company.

(d) To the Knowledge of the Sellers, except as set out in Schedule 3.19(d), the Company has not,
as related to their services at a facility or project site, been involved in any event involving loss of life,
bodily injury or any violation of any Environmental Law during the most recent five (5) year period.

Section 3.20 Transactions with Affiliates. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.20, to the Knowledge of the
Sellers, other than for compensation received as employees and reimbursement for expenses incurred in the
Ordinary Course, no Affiliate of the Company, no Person with whom any such Affiliate has any direct or indirect
relation by blood, marriage or adoption, no entity in which any such Affiliate or Person owns any beneficial interest
(other than a publicly held entity whose stock is traded on a national securities exchange or in the over-the-counter
market and less than five percent (5%) of the stock of which is beneficially owned by all such Affiliates and Persons
in the aggregate), and no Affiliate of any of the foregoing has any interest in: (a) any Contract, arrangement or
understanding with the Company, or the properties or assets of the Company; (b) any loan, arrangement,
understanding, agreement or Contract for or relating to the Company, or the properties or assets of the Company; or
(c) any property (real, personal or mixed), tangible or intangible, used or currently intended to be used by the
Company. Schedule 3.20 sets forth a correct and complete list of (y) all accounts receivable, notes receivable and
other receivables and accounts payable owed by the Company to or due to the Company from any Affiliate of the
Company, and (z) to the Knowledge of the Sellers, each blood or spousal relationship between (A) supervisory
employees of the Company, and (B) employees of the Company whom such supervisory employees directly or
indirectly supervise.

Section 3.21 Customers and Vendors; Services.

(a) Schedule 3.21(a) contains a correct and complete list of the names and addresses of the
Customers and Vendors who acquired or were sold services or from whom purchases were made in excess
of $250,000 since October 1, 2018, and the amount of sales or services provided to or purchases or services
received from each such Customer or Vendor since October 1, 2018. The Company maintains commercially
reasonable relations with each of its Customers and Vendors. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.21(a), no
Customer or Vendor has during the last twelve (12) months, cancelled, terminated or, to the Knowledge of
the Sellers, made any threat (i) to cancel or otherwise terminate any of its Contracts with the Company, or
(i1) to decrease its usage or supply of the Company’s services.

(b) The Company has not been subject to any criminal investigation or penalty, civil penalty or
award of civil damages with respect to the provision of services, and there is no Litigation by any Customer,
Governmental Entity or insurers with respect to any services or other professional work performed by the
Company.

Section 3.22  Service Warranties. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.22, the Company has not made any
express warranty or guaranty as to services provided by the Company or their respective subcontractors, other than
those warranties or guaranties provided for by applicable
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Laws (including without limitation by the inclusion or incorporation of contract clauses codified in the Federal
Acquisition Regulation). There is no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened claim alleging, or any
existing facts or circumstances that could reasonably be expected to give rise to, any breach of any express or
implied warranty or guaranty or request for credit for defective services. The Company has not been required to
pay direct, incidental or consequential Damages to any Person or to incur any direct or indirect costs in connection
with a warranty or guaranty claim in connection with any of such services during the three years prior to the date
hereof.

Section 3.23 Intellectual Property.

(a) Schedule 3.23(a) contains a correct and complete list of all Company Registered Intellectual
Property and all unregistered trademarks and service marks that constitute Company Intellectual Property
owned by the Company.

(b) No Company Intellectual Property that is owned by the Company and no Company
Proprietary Software is subject to any proceeding or outstanding Order (i) restricting in any manner the use
thereof by the Company, or (ii) that may affect, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, the validity, use or
enforceability of any such Intellectual Property or any such Company Proprietary Software. To the
Knowledge of the Sellers, no Company Intellectual Property licensed to the Company and no Company
Licensed Software is subject to any proceeding or outstanding Order (A) restricting in any manner the use
thereof by the Company, or (B) that may materially affect the validity, use or enforceability of such
Company Intellectual Property or any such Company Licensed Software.

(©) Each item of Company Registered Intellectual Property is subsisting and in full force in all
material respects. All necessary registration, maintenance and renewal fees due prior to the date hereof in
connection with Company Registered Intellectual Property have been paid and all necessary documents,
recordations and certifications required to be filed on or prior to the date hereof in connection with the
Company Registered Intellectual Property have been filed with the relevant patent, copyright, trademark or
other authorities in the United States or foreign jurisdictions, as the case may be, for the purposes of
maintaining such Company Registered Intellectual Property or recording ownership by the Company of such
Company Registered Intellectual Property (aside from any recordation that may result or be required by this
Agreement).

(d) The Company is the sole and exclusive owner, free and clear of any Lien, except Permitted
Liens of each item of Company Intellectual Property owned or purported to be owned and used by the
Company in the conduct of its business currently conducted, other than Intellectual Property that is licensed
to the Company and Intellectual Property that is available generally to the public without the requirement of
a license.

(e) Schedule 3.23(e) lists all works of original authorship both owned by the Company and
prepared by or on behalf of the Company (including Software programs), which works are material to the
conduct of the Business of the Company, regardless of whether the Company has obtained or is seeking a
copyright registration for such works.
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® To the Knowledge of the Sellers, the operations of the Company as currently conducted do
not infringe or misappropriate the Intellectual Property of any third party or constitute unfair competition or
unfair trade practices under the Laws of any jurisdiction.

(2) To the Knowledge of the Sellers, no Person is infringing or misappropriating any Company
Intellectual Property that is owned by or exclusively licensed to the Company.

Section 3.24 Software.

(a) Schedule 3.24(a) sets forth a correct and complete list of the agreements for Company
Licensed Software other than licenses to Company to use commercially available off-the-shelf Software.

(b) None of the Company Proprietary Software is subject to any contractual obligation or
condition (including any obligation or condition under any “open source” license to which Company has
agreed) that: (i) could or does require, or could or does condition the use or distribution of such Company
Proprietary Software on, the disclosure, licensing or distribution of any source code for any portion of such
Company Proprietary Software; or (ii) could or does otherwise impose any material limitation, restriction or
condition on the right or ability of the Company to use or distribute any Company Proprietary Software.

(©) To the Knowledge of the Sellers, none of the Company Software contains any material
programming defect, error or bug that is outside the scope of programming defects, errors and bugs typically
corrected in the Ordinary Course of the Company’s software maintenance procedures and programs and that,
if such defect, error or bug were not corrected, would materially and adversely affect the Company’s
operations.

(d) Except as disclosed in Schedule 3.24(d), the source code for Company Proprietary Software
currently in use by the Company or that is subject to any license arrangement is maintained in confidence
consistent with commercially reasonable effort and generally recognized industry practices.

Section 3.25  Licenses. Schedule 3.25 is a correct and complete list of all Licenses held by the Company,

and to the Sellers’ Knowledge, held by each Licensed Professional. To the Knowledge of the Sellers, the execution,
delivery and the consummation of the transaction contemplated by this Agreement shall not by themselves
adversely affect any such License, or require consent from, or notice to, any Governmental Entity. The Company,
and to the Sellers” Knowledge, each Licensed Professional have taken all commercially reasonable actions to
maintain each License. No loss, suspension or expiration of any License is pending or, to the Knowledge of the
Sellers, threatened (other than expiration upon the end of any term).

Section 3.26 Bank Accounts and Powers of Attorney. Schedule 3.26 sets forth (a) the names and locations

of all banks, trusts, companies, savings and loan associations and other financial institutions at which the Company
maintains safe deposit boxes, checking accounts, lock box or other accounts of any nature with respect to its
business, and (b) the names of all persons authorized to draw thereon, make withdrawals therefrom or have access
thereto. Schedule 3.26
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also sets forth the name of each Person, firm, corporation or business organization holding a general or special
power of attorney from the Company and a summary of the terms thereof.

Section 3.27 Accounting Records. Except as reflected in the Financial Statements or in Schedule 3.27, the
Company maintains accounting records that fairly and validly reflect, in all material respects, its transactions and
maintains accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurances that such transactions are, in all material
respects, (a) executed in accordance with management’s general or specific authorization, and (b) recorded as
necessary to permit the preparation of financial statements applied on a consistent basis.

Section 3.28  Brokers, Finders and Investment Bankers. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.28, neither the
Company nor any Representative or Affiliate of the Company has employed any broker, finder or investment
banker or incurred any liability for any investment banking fees, financial advisory fees, brokerage fees or finders’
fees in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby.

ARTICLE 1V
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES RELATING TO THE SELLERS

Each Seller hereby represent and warrant to the Purchaser, severally, as of the date hereof, that:

Section 4.1  Authorization. Each Seller has the right, power, authority and capacity to execute and deliver
this Agreement and the Company Ancillary Documents to which such Seller is a party and to perform such Seller’s
obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. This
Agreement and each of the Company Ancillary Documents to which each Seller is a party have been duly executed
and delivered by such Seller, and assuming due authorization, execution and delivery thereof by the other Parties
hereto and thereto, constitute the valid and binding agreement of such Seller, enforceable against such Seller in
accordance with their terms, except as such enforceability (a) may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency,
moratorium or other similar Laws affecting or relating to enforcement of creditors’ rights generally, and (b) is
subject to general principles of equity (regardless of whether enforceability is considered in a proceeding at law or
in equity).

Section 4.2 Absence of Restrictions and Conflicts. The execution and delivery by each Seller of this
Agreement and the Company Ancillary Documents to which such Seller is a party does not, and the performance of
such Seller’s obligations hereunder and thereunder will not, (a) to the Knowledge of such Seller, conflict with or
violate any Law applicable to such Seller (with or without notice or lapse of time or both), or by which any of such
Seller’s properties or assets is bound, (b) to the Knowledge of such Seller, violate or conflict with, constitute a
breach of or default under, result in the loss of any benefit under, permit the acceleration of any obligation under or
create in any party the right to terminate, modify or cancel, (i) any contract, will, agreement, permit, franchise,
license or other instrument applicable to such Seller, or (ii) any Order of any Governmental Entity to which such
Seller is a party or by which any of such Seller’s properties are bound, or (c) conflict with or violate any arbitration
award applicable to such Seller, except with respect to clauses (a) and (b) above, for any such conflicts, violations,
breaches, defaults or other occurrences that would not, individually or in the aggregate reasonably be expected to
result in a Purchaser Material Adverse Effect.
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Section 4.3 Ownership of Shares.

(a) Each Seller has good and valid title to and beneficial ownership of the Shares set forth next
to such Seller’s name on Schedule 3.3; such Shares are validly issued and free and clear of all Liens other
than restrictions under applicable securities Laws and Liens arising under any notes receivable from such
Seller for such Shares which will be paid at or prior to Closing; and, immediately following the completion
of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, the Purchaser will own the Shares free and clear of
all Liens, other than restrictions under applicable securities Laws and other than Liens imposed by the
Purchaser.

(b) Other than the Shares set forth next to each Seller’s name on Schedule 3.3, such Seller owns
no other equity security of the Company, or any warrant, purchase right, subscription right, conversion right,
exchange right, conversion right, contingent right to receive or other right of any kind to have any such
equity security issued.

Section 4.4 Legal Proceedings. There is no Proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers,
threatened against, relating to or involving such Seller that could reasonably be expected to adversely affect such
Seller’s ability to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any Company Ancillary
Document to which such Seller is a party.

Section 4.5 No Foreign Person. Such Seller is not a foreign person within the meaning of Section 1445
of the Code.

ARTICLE V
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE PURCHASER

The Purchaser and Willdan hereby represents and warrants to the Sellers, as of the date hereof, that:

Section 5.1 Organization. The Purchaser is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good
standing under the laws of the State of Delaware and has all requisite corporate power and authority to own, lease
and operate its properties and to carry on its business as now being conducted.

Section 5.2 Authorization. The Purchaser has all necessary corporate power and corporate authority to
execute and deliver this Agreement and the Purchaser Ancillary Documents to which it is a party, to perform its
obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The
execution and delivery by the Purchaser and Willdan of this Agreement and the Purchaser Ancillary Documents to
which it is a party, the performance by it of its obligations hereunder and thereunder, and the consummation of the
transactions provided for herein and therein have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary corporate action
on the part of the Purchaser. This Agreement and the Purchaser Ancillary Documents to which the Purchaser is a
party have been duly executed and delivered by the Purchaser and, assuming due authorization, execution and
delivery hereof and thereof by the other parties hereto and thereto, constitutes the valid and binding agreement of
the Purchaser enforceable against the Purchaser in accordance with their terms, except as such enforceability (a)
may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or other similar Laws affecting or relating to
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enforcement of creditors’ rights generally, and (b) is subject to general principles of equity (regardless of whether
enforceability is considered in a proceeding at law or in equity).

Section 5.3  Absence of Restrictions and Conflicts.

(a) The execution and delivery by the Purchaser and Willdan of this Agreement and the
Purchaser Ancillary Documents to which it is a party does not, and the performance of the Purchaser’s
obligations hereunder will not, (i) conflict with or violate the certificate of incorporation or bylaws of the
Purchaser, (ii) conflict with or violate any Law applicable to the Purchaser (with or without notice or lapse
of time or both), or by which any of its properties or assets is bound, or (iii) require any consent or result in
any violation or breach of, or constitute a default or give to others any rights of termination, amendment,
acceleration or cancellation, under, or result in the triggering of any payments or result in the creation of a
Lien or other encumbrance on any of its properties or assets pursuant to, any of the terms, conditions or
provisions of any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, Contract, lease, license, permit, franchise or other
instrument or obligation to which the Purchaser is a party or by which it or any of its properties or assets is
bound, except, with respect to clauses (ii) and (iii), for any such conflicts, violations, breaches defaults or
other occurrences that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to result in a
Purchaser Material Adverse Effect.

(b) The execution and delivery by the Purchaser and Willdan of this Agreement and the
Purchaser Ancillary Documents to which it is a party does not, and the performance of its obligations
hereunder and thereunder will not, require any consent, approval, authorization or permit of, or filing with,
or notification to, any Governmental Entity, except where the failure to obtain such consents, approvals,
authorizations or permits, or to make such filings or notifications, would not, individually or in the
aggregate, reasonably be expected to result in a Purchaser Material Adverse Effect.

(©) Intentionally Deleted.

Section 5.4 Legal Proceedings. There is no Proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of the Purchaser
and Willdan, threatened against, relating to or involving the Purchaser and Willdan that could reasonably be
expected to adversely affect the Purchaser and Willdan’s ability to consummate the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement or any Purchaser Ancillary Document to which the Purchaser is a party.

Section 5.5 Brokers, Finders and Investment Bankers. Neither the Purchaser, Willdan nor any
Representative or Affiliate of the Purchaser and Willdan has employed any broker, finder or investment banker or
incurred any liability for any investment banking fees, financial advisory fees, brokerage fees or finders’ fees in
connection with the transactions contemplated hereby.

Section 5.6  Investment Intent. The Purchaser and Willdan is acquiring the Shares for its own account for
investment purposes only, and not with a view to their distribution within the meaning of Section 2(11) of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
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ARTICLE VI
CERTAIN COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS

Section 6.1  Further Assurances; Cooperation. If at any time after the Closing Date any additional action
is necessary or reasonably requested to carry out the purposes of this Agreement, the Parties shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to take or cause to be taken all such action reasonably requested by any Party.

Section 6.2 Public Announcements. Subject to any legal obligations, the Purchaser and the Seller
Representative shall consult with each other with respect to the timing and content of any announcements regarding
this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, and no Party shall, without the prior written consent of the
Seller Representative (in the case of the Purchaser) or the Purchaser (in the case of the Sellers), issue (or in the case
of the Purchaser, permit the Company to issue) any public announcement or press release regarding this Agreement
or the transactions contemplated hereby.

Section 6.3  Tax Matters.

(a) Tax Periods Ending on or Before the Closing Date. The Seller Representative shall prepare
or cause to be prepared and timely filed all Tax Returns of the Company for all Pre-Closing Tax Periods that
are due (taking into account applicable extensions) on or prior to the Closing Date. All Tax Returns filed
with respect to Pre-Closing Tax Periods shall be prepared using the same accounting method and elections
used for the preparation of such Tax Returns in the preceding taxable period unless otherwise required by
applicable Law or mutually approved by the Purchaser and the Seller Representative in writing. The Sellers
shall pay or cause to be paid on behalf of the Company all Taxes of the Company with respect to all Pre-
Closing Tax Periods except to the extent such Taxes were taken into consideration in computing Closing
TNAV and excluding any reserve for deferred Taxes established to reflect timing differences between book
and Tax income. Any Tax refunds that are received by the Company, and any amounts credited against
Taxes to which the Company become entitled, that relate to any Pre-Closing Tax Period (including the pre-
Closing portion of a Straddle Period), shall be for the account of the Sellers, and the Purchaser shall pay
over to the Sellers any such refund or the amount of any such credit within fifteen (15) days after receipt
thereof or entitlement thereto, except to the extent such Tax refunds were taken into consideration in
computing Closing TNAV. In addition, to the extent that a claim for refund or a proceeding results in a
payment or credit against Tax by any taxing authority to the Company of any amount that had been taken
into account as a liability for Taxes in the determination of Closing TNAYV, the Purchaser shall cause the
Company to pay such amount to the Sellers within fifteen (15) days after receipt or entitlement thereto.

(b) Tax Periods Beginning Before and Ending After the Closing Date. The Purchaser shall
prepare or cause to be prepared at its own expense and shall timely file, taking into account extensions, or
cause to be timely filed all Tax Returns of the Company for any Tax periods which begin before the Closing
Date and end after the Closing Date (each, a “Straddle Period”). At least thirty (30) days prior to the date on
which each such Straddle Period Tax Return is to be filed, the Purchaser shall provide a copy of such
Straddle Period Tax Return to the Seller Representative for his review and shall make any
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reasonable changes to such Tax Return that are requested by the Seller Representative. The Sellers shall
reimburse the Purchaser for the portion of the Taxes paid by the Purchaser with respect to such Straddle
Period Tax Return that is allocable to the portion of the Straddle Period that ends on the Closing Date,
except to the extent that such Taxes are taken into account in computing TNAV, such reimbursement to be
made within fifteen (15) days after such payment. For purposes of this Agreement, Taxes for a Straddle
Period shall be allocated as follows: (i) ad valorem Taxes imposed on or with respect to real or personal
property shall be allocated between the portion of the Straddle Period that ends on the Closing Date and the
remaining portion of the Straddle Period in proportion to the number of days in each such portion, and (ii)
all other Taxes shall be allocated based on a “closing of the books” as of the close of business on the Closing
Date. All Tax Returns filed for any Straddle Period shall be prepared using the same accounting method and
elections used for the preparation of such Tax Returns in the preceding taxable periods unless otherwise
required by applicable Law or mutually approved by the Purchaser and the Seller Representative in
writing. The Purchaser shall pay over to the Sellers any Tax refunds for any Straddle Period that are
allocable (in accordance with the foregoing principles) to the portion of such Straddle Period ending on the
Closing Date, such refund to be paid within fifteen (15) days of the Company’s receipt of the same.

(©) Tax Audits and Contests. The Purchaser shall promptly notify the Seller Representative in
writing upon the receipt by the Purchaser, the Company of notice of any audit or any court or administrative
Litigation relating to the liability of the Company for Taxes for any period described in Sections 6.3(a) or
6.3(b). The Sellers shall have the right, at their own expense and through counsel of their choosing, to
participate in any audit or Litigation relating to a Pre-Closing Tax Period or Straddle Period, and the Sellers
shall have the right, at their own expense and through counsel of their choosing reasonably acceptable to the
Purchaser, to control any such audit or Litigation that relates to a Pre-Closing Tax Period (including any
portion of a Straddle Period that relates to periods prior to the Closing Date). The Purchaser shall have the
right, at its own expense, to participate in any audit or Litigation that is controlled by the Sellers, and the
Purchaser shall have the right to control any audit or Litigation that is not controlled by the Sellers. The
Purchaser shall not agree to settle or cause or permit the Company to settle any audit or Litigation which has
the effect of imposing additional Tax liability on the Company with respect to any Pre-Closing Tax Periods
or the portion of any Straddle Period that ends on the Closing Date without the advance written consent of
the Seller Representative (which consent will not be denied, delayed or conditioned unreasonably). In the
event of conflict between the provisions of this Section 6.3(c) and the provisions of Section 8.3 with respect
to any potential Liability for Taxes, the provisions of this Section 6.3(c) shall control.

(d) Section 338(h)(10)_Elections.

(a) The Sellers and the Buyer shall make a timely, effective, and irrevocable election under

Section 338(h)(10) of the Code and under any comparable statutes in any other jurisdiction with respect to Energy
and Environmental Economics, Inc. (collectively, the “Section 338(h)(10) Elections™) and shall file such Section
338(h)(10) Elections in accordance with applicable regulations. The Sellers and the Buyer shall cooperate in all
respects for the purpose of effectuating the Section 338(h)(10) Elections, including the execution and filing of any
required Tax Returns and the grant of consent to the Section 338(h)(10) Elections by the Sellers. Without
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limiting the foregoing, the Buyer and the Sellers shall each execute a Form 8023 with respect to Energy and
Environmental Economics, Inc. at the Closing, which forms shall be timely filed by the Buyer.

(b) Within 120 days after the Closing Date, the Sellers shall deliver to the Buyer an allocation of
the Aggregate Deemed Sales Price (as such term is defined in Treasury Regulation § 1.338-4) among the assets of
Energy and Environmental Economics, Inc. in accordance with Treasury Regulations §§ 1.338-6 and 1.338-7 (the
“Allocation Statement”). The allocation of the Aggregate Deemed Sales Price shall be in accordance with the fair
market value of the acquired assets as provided in Section 1060 of the Code. The Buyer shall have the right to
review the Allocation Statement. Within twenty (20) days after the Buyer’s receipt of the Allocation Statement, the
Buyer shall indicate its concurrence therewith, or propose to the Sellers any changes to the Allocation
Statement. The Buyer’s failure to notify the Sellers of any objection to the Allocation Statement within twenty (20)
days after receipt thereof shall constitute the Buyer’s concurrence therewith. Should the Buyer propose any change
to the Allocation Statement, the Buyer and the Sellers shall resolve any disagreement regarding the Allocation
Statement in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.4(d). The allocation so determined shall be binding on the
parties, and all Tax Returns filed by the Buyer, the Sellers, and each of their Affiliates, if any, shall be prepared
consistently with such allocation, and none of them shall take a position on any Tax Return or other form or
statement contrary to such allocation (unless required to do so by Law). Appropriate adjustments shall be made
with respect to the allocation for all payments made after the Closing Date in accordance with Section 6.3(d)
(c). Each of the parties agrees to notify the other if the IRS or any other authority proposes a reallocation of
amounts allocated pursuant to this Section 6.3(d)(b).

(©) With respect to payments made after the Closing Date and not included in the original
Allocation Statement, Sellers shall prepare and provide to Buyer within sixty (60) days after such payments are
made a revised Allocation Statement that reflects such payments and is prepared in accordance with Section 6.3(d)
(b). Thereafter, Sellers and Buyer shall follow the same procedures contained in Section 6.3(d)(b) in finalizing the
revised Allocation Statement. The allocation so determined shall be binding on the parties, and all Tax Returns
filed by the Buyer, the Sellers, and each of their Affiliates, if any, shall be prepared consistently with such
allocation, and none of them shall take a position on any Tax Return or other form or statement contrary to such
allocation (unless required to do so by Law). Each of the parties agrees to notify the other if the IRS or any other
authority proposes a reallocation of amounts allocated pursuant to this Section 6.3(d)(c).

(d) Buyer shall reimburse Sellers for Sellers all costs and expenses, including but not limited to
legal and accounting, relating to the Section 338(h)(10) Election. The Buyer shall also pay to the Sellers the
amount necessary (such amount, the “Tax Adjustment Amount”) to cause the Sellers’ after Tax net proceeds from
the sale of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement, taking into account the Section 338(h)(10) Election (and taking
into account additional Taxes as a result of the payment pursuant to this Section 6.3 and calculated based on the
allocation determined pursuant to the preceding paragraphs to be equal to the after-Tax net proceeds that the Sellers
would have received had the 338(h)(10) Election not been made, in each case without taking into account any other
tax items or attributes of the Sellers, subject to any adjustments by any Taxing Authority and/or as necessary to
reflect any subsequent adjustment to the Purchase Price pursuant to this Agreement. Payments made pursuant to
this Section 6.3 will be treated for all purposes as
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an adjustment to the Purchase Price. Within thirty (30) days after the final determination of the allocation in
accordance with the above paragraph, the Sellers shall provide the Buyer a schedule, with supporting workpapers,
setting forth a calculation of the Tax Adjustment Amount. The Buyer and the Sellers shall attempt in good faith to
agree upon the Tax Adjustment Amount and, if they are unable to do so within twenty (20) days, in accordance with
the provisions of Section 2.4[d]. The Tax Adjustment Amount shall be payable within ten (10) days after the
determination of the final Tax Adjustment Amount.

() Transfer Taxes. All excise, transfer, stamp, documentary, filing, recordation and other similar
taxes, together with any interest, additions or penalties with respect thereto and any interest in respect of such
additions or penalties, resulting directly from the sale and transfer by the Sellers to the Purchaser of the Shares (the
“Transfer Taxes”) under California law, shall be borne by the Sellers. Notwithstanding Sections 6.3(a) and (b),
which shall not apply to Tax Returns relating to Transfer Taxes, any Tax Returns that must be filed in connection
with Transfer Taxes shall be prepared and filed when due by the Sellers, taking into account extensions.

® Amendments, Modifications, Etc. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this
Agreement, except to the extent required by applicable Law, the Purchaser shall not, and shall not permit any of its
Affiliates to, (i) amend any Tax Returns with respect to any Pre-Closing Tax Period or any Straddle Period, (ii) file
any Tax Return of the Company for any taxable period (or portion thereof) ending on or before the Closing Date in
a jurisdiction in which the Company did not previously file a Tax Return, or (iii) make or change any Tax election
that has retroactive effect to any taxable period (or portion thereof) ending on or before the Closing Date, in each
case, without the prior written consent of the Sellers, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.

(2) Cooperation. The Purchaser and the Sellers shall cooperate fully, as and to the extent
reasonably requested by the other Party, in connection with the preparation and filing of Tax Returns pursuant to
this Section 6.3 and any audit or Litigation with respect to Taxes.

Section 6.4  Resignation. Unless otherwise directed by the Purchaser in writing at or prior to the Closing,
the Sellers shall have caused the directors of the Company to deliver written resignations from their positions, in
form and substance satisfactory to the Purchaser, effective as of the Closing.

Section 6.5  Release.

(a) Each Seller, severally, on behalf of such Seller and such Seller’s successors, assigns, heirs,
members, beneficiaries, creditors, Representatives, trustees and Affiliates (the “Releasing Parties”) hereby
fully, finally and irrevocably releases, acquits and forever discharges the Company, and its successors,
assigns, Affiliates, insurers, controlling persons, and operating, administration and services companies and
the like, and all persons and entities acting for, through or in concert with any of them (collective, the
“Released Parties”), of and from any and all commitments, actions, debts, claims, counterclaims, suits,
causes of action, Damages, demands and compensation of every kind and nature whatsoever, past, present or
future, whether known or unknown, contingent or otherwise, suspected or unsuspected, at law or in equity,
whether in any federal or state court or before an administrative agency of any federal, state, county or
municipal government, which such Releasing Parties, or any of them, had, has or may have had at any time
in the past
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until and including the date of this Agreement, against the Company, or their respective predecessors, only
with regard to (i) any claims which relate to or arise out of such Releasing Party’s prior relationship with the
Company, or their respective predecessors, or such Seller’s rights or status as an officer, director or
employee of the Company, or their respective predecessors, and (ii) any rights to intellectual property, or any
rights to indemnification or reimbursement from the Company, or their respective predecessors, whether
pursuant to their respective organizational documents, contract or otherwise, and whether or not relating to
claims pending on, or asserted after, the Closing Date

(collectively, “Causes of Action”); provided, however, that nothing herein shall be deemed to release any
claims of a Seller for amounts owed to the Seller pursuant to this Agreement and amounts owed to a Seller
in the Ordinary Course for compensation for services rendered as an employee of the Company.

(b) Each Seller, severally, hereby represents to the Released Parties that such Seller (i) has not
assigned any Causes of Action or possible Causes of Action against any Released Party, (ii) fully intends to
release all Causes of Action against the Released Parties, and (iii) has been given an opportunity to or has
consulted with counsel with respect to the execution and delivery of this release and has been apprised of the
consequences hereof.

(©) Each Seller, severally, hereby irrevocably covenants to refrain from, directly or indirectly,
asserting any claim or demand, or commencing, instituting or causing to be commenced, any proceeding of
any kind against any Released Parties, based upon any Causes of Action. Each Seller further agrees that, in
the event such Seller brings a claim or charge covered by this Section 6.5 or does not dismiss and withdraw
any claim covered by this Section 6.5 in which he seeks Damages or any other relief against any Released
Party, or in the event he seeks to recover against any Released Party in any claim brought by a
Governmental Entity on such Seller’s behalf, the release in this Section 6.5 shall serve as a complete defense
to such claims or charges.

Section 6.6  Employee Benefits Matters. The Purchaser shall continue the employment of each individual
who is an employee of the Company as of immediately prior to the Closing (each, a “Continuing Employee”) on an
at-will basis or pursuant to the terms of any existing employment agreement in effect on the Closing Date, as
applicable.

(a) With respect to any one or more employee benefit policies, plans or programs maintained by
the Purchaser or its Affiliates from time to time (each, a “Purchaser Plan”) in which Continuing Employees
participate after the Closing, the Purchaser shall, or shall cause the Company or such Affiliates to recognize
all service of Continuing Employees with the Company and its current and former Affiliates from each such
employee’s most recent date of hire as reflected in the Company’s records for purposes of eligibility to
participate, vesting credit (other than vesting of equity awards), form of payment, and accrual of paid time
off benefits or severance in applicable Purchaser Plans, as such plans may be amended from time to time, to
the same extent taken into account under a comparable Employee Benefit Plan immediately prior to Closing,
but not to any extent that such recognition would result in any duplication of benefits.
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(b) The Purchaser will provide an annual bonus pool opportunity for the Company’s employees
and will also provide the Company’s employees with a quarterly “hard work” bonus pool opportunity,
consistent with the Company’s past practice.> The Purchaser may not amend, modify or terminate these
bonus opportunities prior to December 31, 2024 without the prior consent of the Seller Representative. In
addition, commencing in January 1, 2020, all eligible employees of the Company will be able to purchase
the Purchaser’s common stock at a discount in accordance with the terms and condition of the Purchaser’s
Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The discount as of the date of this Agreement is a minimum of fifteen
percent (15%) to market price applied to a maximum $25,000 purchase per year and will remain the
discount absent modification to the Purchaser’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan. All key employees will be
eligible for stock options and restricted stock units (RSUs) under Willdan Group Inc.’s Restricted Stock
Program (the “Program”), granted annually by the Board of Directors for senior staff and significant
contributors. Each Seller will be considered a key employee for purposes of receiving stock options and
RSUs under the Program, and, to the extent the Company’s performance permits the award of RSUs under
the Program, Purchaser or its Affiliates will recommend to the Board of Directors of Willdan Group Inc. that
Sellers are awarded RSUs under the Program. For Year 1, Year 2, and Year 3, Seller Representative will be
entitled to designate a maximum of six in year 1, seven in year 2, and eight in year 3 as a key employee
eligible to receive stock options and RSUs under the Plan.

(©) Nothing contained in this Section 6.6 shall be construed to (i) establish, amend, or modify
any benefit or compensation plan, program, agreement or arrangement, (ii) limit the ability of the Purchaser
or the Company to amend, modify or terminate any compensation or benefit plan, program or arrangement
maintained by the Company or Purchaser at any time after the Closing Date, or (iii) provide any third party
beneficiary rights to any Person under this Agreement.

Section 6.7 Transaction Expenses. The Parties hereby agree that the Sellers shall be responsible for and
shall pay any and all Transaction Expenses incurred by or on behalf of the Sellers and/or the Company and that the
Purchaser shall be responsible for and shall pay any and all Transaction Expenses incurred by or on behalf of the
Purchaser. The Parties further agree that the Purchaser, on the one hand, and Sellers, on the other, share split
equally the costs associated with the third-party audit of the Company. The Parties covenant that, to the maximum
extent permitted by applicable Law, any Tax deduction resulting from the accrual of any Seller Transaction
Expenses will be reported in a Pre-Closing Tax Period rather than in any taxable period ending after the Closing
Date.

Section 6.8 Professional Liability Insurance. The Purchaser will add the Company to Purchaser’s
professional liability insurance policy at Closing and such professional liability insurance coverage shall be
retroactive to the inception of the Company’s professional liability insurance coverage for all projects. The
professional liability insurance coverage provided will be no less than $10,000,000 per claim and $20,000,000
annual aggregate.
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Section 6.9 Purchaser Waivers. The Purchaser hereby waives any requirement that the Company or the
Sellers (i) obtain the consent of the Company’s landlords to or (ii) provide prior written notice to the Company’s
landlords of, the consummation of the Acquisition and the other transactions contemplated in the Agreement and
the Company Ancillary Documents.

ARTICLE VII
CLOSING

Section 7.1  Closing. The Closing shall occur on the date hereof, or on such other date as the Parties may
agree. The Closing shall take place at such place as the Parties may agree, via facsimile or electronic transmission
of documents and signatures, or in such other manner as mutually agreed to by the parties hereto.

Section 7.2 Sellers’ Closing Deliverables. At or prior to the Closing, the Sellers shall deliver, or cause to
be delivered, to the Purchaser the following:

(a) each Certificate, endorsed for transfer or with corresponding transfer document executed for
transfer;

(b) each completed W-9 Form in accordance with Section 2.3(c);

(© the organizational record books, minute books and corporate seal, as applicable, of the
Company;

(d) each of Ren Oransand Brian Horii shall have executed a non-competition agreement in

executed a non-competition agreement in substantially the form set forth on Exhibit 7.2(d)(3), and each of
Kush Patel and Amber Mahone shall have executed a non-competition agreement in substantially the form
set forth on Exhibit 7.2(d)(4) (such agreements are collectively the “Seller Agreements”);

(e) copies of a good standing certificate from the applicable Governmental Entity of the
Company’s jurisdiction of incorporation and each jurisdiction in which the Company is qualified to conduct
business, dated a recent date prior to the Closing Date;

® in accordance with Section 6.4, resignations of the Company’s directors, as applicable;

(2) A fully completed and irrevocable election under Section 338(h)(10) of the Code and under
any comparable statutes in any other jurisdiction with respect to Energy and Environmental Economics, Inc.
(collectively, the “Section 338(h)(10) Elections”) which shall be filed in accordance with applicable
regulations; and

(h) all other documents required to be entered into or delivered by the Company and the Sellers
at or prior to Closing pursuant to the express terms of this Agreement.

Section 7.3 Purchaser Closing Deliverables. At or prior to the Closing, the Purchaser shall deliver, or
cause to be delivered, the following:

(a) the Initial Purchase Price, paid in accordance with Section 2.2(a);
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(b) the Seller Agreements, executed on behalf of the Company by the Purchaser;

(© a certificate, executed by the Purchaser’s secretary and dated as of the Closing Date, stating
that the Board of Directors of the Purchaser has taken all necessary action to approve and authorize,
including obtaining the approval of the Purchaser’s banks “BMO Harris Bank N.A., MUFG Union Bank,
N.A., Bank of America N.A., Citibank N.A. and U.S. Bank, N.A.”, the Purchaser’s performance of its
obligations under this Agreement and the Purchaser Ancillary Documents to which it is a party and all
actions required to be taken by the Purchaser pursuant hereto and thereto;

(d) a guaranty executed by Willdan Group, Inc. guaranteeing Purchaser’s obligations under this
Agreement; and

(e) all other documents required to be entered into or delivered by the Purchaser at or prior to
Closing pursuant to the express terms of this Agreement.

ARTICLE VIII
INDEMNIFICATION

Section 8.1  Indemnification of the Purchaser Indemnified Parties. Subject to the other provisions of this
Article VIII, from and after the Closing, the Sellers shall indemnify, reimburse, defend and hold harmless the
Purchaser Indemnified Parties from and against any and all Damages incurred, resulting or arising from the
following:

(a) any breach or inaccuracy of any representation or warranty made by the Sellers in Article III
or Article IV this Agreement;

(b) any breach of any covenant, agreement or undertaking made by the Sellers in this Agreement
or any Company Ancillary Document;

(©) Sellers’ Transaction Expenses, to the extent not paid or accrued for at or prior to the Closing;

(d) notwithstanding any Knowledge qualifiers contained in any representations and warranties of
the Sellers hereunder, any Liability or obligation for (i) any Taxes imposed on the Company with respect to
any Pre-Closing Tax Period and the portion of any Straddle Period through and ending on the Closing Date,
other than Taxes for which Sellers are entitled to be indemnified pursuant to Section 6.3 (provided,
however, that the Sellers shall have no liability for Taxes attributable to transactions or occurrences outside
the Ordinary Course on the Closing Date after the Closing), (ii) any Taxes of any member of an affiliated,
consolidated combined or unitary group of which the Company (or predecessor of the Company) was a
member prior to the Closing, for which the Company is liable pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section
1.1502-6 or any analogous or similar state, local or foreign law or regulation, (iii) any Taxes of any Person
(other than the Company) imposed on the Company as a transferee, successor or by Contract, when the
events giving rise to such Taxes and to the Company’s liability for such Taxes occurred prior to the Closing,
(iv) any Taxes imposed upon any income or gain recognized by the
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Sellers or the Company with respect to the sale and purchase of the Shares pursuant to the provisions of this
Agreement, and (v) any Transfer Taxes under California law; and

(e) any Liability or obligation incurred by the Company with respect to any of the Litigation
disclosed or required to be disclosed in Schedule 3.12.

The Damages of the Purchaser Indemnified Parties described in this Section 8.1 as to which the Purchaser
Indemnified Parties are entitled to indemnification are collectively referred to as “Purchaser Losses.” The Sellers’
liability with respect to Purchaser Losses shall be joint and several among the Sellers, other than Purchaser Losses
incurred, resulting or arising from any breach or inaccuracy of any representation or warranty made by the Sellers in
Article IV of this Agreement, which shall be several for all Sellers.

Section 8.2 Indemnification of the Seller Indemnified Parties. Subject to the other provisions of this
Article VIII, from and after the Closing, the Purchaser shall indemnify, reimburse, defend and hold harmless the
Seller Indemnified Parties from and against any and all Damages incurred, resulting or arising from the following:

(a) any breach of any representation or warranty made by the Purchaser in this Agreement;

(b) any breach of any covenant, agreement or undertaking made by the Purchaser in this
Agreement or any Purchaser Ancillary Document and any breach by the Company of any covenant,
agreement or undertaking in this Agreement or any Purchaser Ancillary Document required to be performed
by the Company after the Closing;

(©) any Liability or obligation for (i) any Taxes imposed on the Company with respect to any
periods after the Closing Date, including the portion of any Straddle Period after the Closing Date, (ii) any
Taxes attributable to transactions or occurrences outside the Ordinary Course on the Closing Date and after
the Closing, (iii) any Taxes for which Sellers are entitled to be indemnified pursuant to Section 6.3; and

(d) Purchaser’s Transaction Expenses.

The Damages of the Seller Indemnified Parties described in this Section 8.2 as to which the Seller
Indemnified Parties are entitled to indemnification are collectively referred to as “Seller Losses.”

Section 8.3  Indemnification Procedure. A party making a claim for indemnification under Section 8.1 or
Section 8.2 shall be referred to as an “Indemnified Party” and a party against whom such claim for indemnification
is asserted under Section 8.1 or Section 8.2 shall be referred to as an “Indemnifying Party.” All claims by any
Indemnified Party under Section 8.1 or Section 8.2 shall be asserted and resolved as follows:

(a) In the event that (i) any action, application, suit, demand, claim or legal, administrative,
arbitration or other alternative dispute resolution proceeding, hearing or investigation (each, a “Proceeding”)
is asserted or instituted by any Person other than the Parties or their Affiliates which could give rise to
Damages for which an Indemnifying Party could be liable to an Indemnified Party under this Agreement
(such Proceeding, a
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“Third Party Claim”), or (ii) any Indemnified Party shall have a claim to be indemnified by any
Indemnifying Party under this Agreement which does not involve a Third Party Claim (such claim, a “Direct
Claim” and, together with Third Party Claims, “Indemnification Claims”), the Indemnified Party shall,
promptly after it becomes aware of a Third Party Claim (and in any event, within fourteen (14) days) or
facts supporting a Direct Claim, send to the Indemnifying Party a written notice specifying the nature of
such Indemnification Claim, and, if practicable, the amount or estimated amount thereof (a “Claim Notice”),
together with copies of all notices and documents served on or received by the Indemnified Party in the case
of a Third Party Claim, provided that a delay in notifying the Indemnifying Party (or delivering copies of the
aforementioned notices and documents) shall not relieve the Indemnifying Party of its obligations under
Section 8.1, Section 8.2 or Section 8.3 except to the extent that (and only to the extent that) the
Indemnifying Party shall have been materially prejudiced by such delay, in which case the Indemnifying
Party shall be relieved of its obligations under Section 8.1, Section 8.2 or Section 8.3 only to the extent of
such material prejudice.

(b) In the event of a Third Party Claim, the Indemnifying Party shall, at its sole cost and
expense, have the right to defend against and direct the defense of such Third Party Claim, provided that the
Indemnifying Party shall have acknowledged in writing to the Indemnified Party its obligation to indemnify
the Indemnified Party to the extent provided hereunder and the Indemnifying Party shall be entitled to be
represented by counsel of the Indemnifying Party’s choice at the expense of the Indemnifying Party in
connection with such Proceeding, provided that such counsel is acceptable to the Indemnified Party (which
acceptance shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned). If the Indemnifying Party elects to
defend against and direct the defense of any Third Party Claim, it shall within fourteen (14) days (or sooner,
if the nature of the Third Party Claim so requires) (the “Dispute Period”) notify the Indemnified Party of its
intent to do so, provided that the Indemnifying Party must conduct its defense of the Third Party Claim
actively and diligently thereafter in order to preserve its rights in this regard. If the Indemnifying Party does
not elect within the Dispute Period to defend against and direct the defense of any Third Party Claim or fails
to notify the Indemnified Party of its election during the Dispute Period, the Indemnified Party may defend
against and direct the defense of such Third Party Claim. If the Indemnifying Party elects to defend against
and direct the defense of such Third Party Claim and appoint counsel in connection therewith, (i) the
Indemnifying Party shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to defend and protect the interests of the
Indemnified Party with respect to such Third Party Claim, (ii) the Indemnified Party may participate, at its
own cost and expense, in the defense of such Third Party Claim, and (iii) the Indemnified Party shall have
the right to engage separate counsel in connection therewith, and the Indemnifying Party shall bear the
reasonable fees, costs and expenses of such separate counsel if, and only if, (x) in the reasonable opinion of
counsel to the Indemnifying Party a conflict or potential conflict exists between the Indemnified Party and
the Indemnifying Party that would make such separate representation necessary, (y) the Indemnifying Party
requests that the Indemnified Party participate in such defense, or (z) the Indemnifying Party shall not have
engaged counsel within a reasonable time (but not more than fifteen (15) days) after notice of the institution
of such Third Party Claim. Except as provided in the preceding sentence, nothing in this Section 8.3 shall
require the Indemnifying Party to be responsible for the

54




fees and expenses of more than one law firm representing the Indemnified Party in any jurisdiction at any
time in connection with the defense against a Third Party Claim. If reasonably requested by the
Indemnifying Party, the Indemnified Party shall cooperate with the Indemnifying Party and its counsel in
defending any Proceeding which the Indemnifying Party defends. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Third
Party Claim (1) seeks the imposition of an Order that would materially restrict the future activity or conduct
of the Indemnified Party or any of its Affiliates, or (2) seeks a finding or admission of a criminal violation
by the Indemnified Party or any of its Affiliates, the Indemnified Party alone shall be entitled to contest and
defend such claim in the first instance and, if the Indemnified Party does not contest such Third Party Claim,
the Indemnifying Party shall then have the right to contest such Third Party Claim. No Third Party Claim
may be settled or compromised, or offered to be settled or compromised, or a default permitted or an entry
of any judgment consented to (each, a “Settlement”) (A) by the Indemnifying Party without the prior written
consent of the Indemnified Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or
conditioned) if (1) such Settlement provides for injunctive or other nonmonetary relief affecting the
Indemnified Party or (2) such Settlement does not include a general release of the Indemnified Party from
liability with respect to such Third Party Claim, or (B) by the Indemnified Party without the prior written
consent of the Indemnifying Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or
conditioned). For the avoidance of doubt, this Section 8.3(b) shall not apply to any Tax audit or other Tax
proceeding addressed in Section 6.3(c).

(©) In the event of a Direct Claim, the Indemnifying Party shall notify the Indemnified Party
within fourteen (14) days after receipt of a Claim Notice whether the Indemnifying Party disputes such
Direct Claim.

(d) From and after the delivery of a Claim Notice under this Agreement, at the reasonable
request of either Party, each Party shall grant the other and its Representatives reasonable access to the
books, records, employees, Representatives and properties of such Party to the extent reasonably related to
the matters to which the Claim Notice relates. All such access shall be granted during normal business hours
and shall be granted under conditions which will not unreasonably interfere with the business and operations
of each Party. The Party requesting access will not, and shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause it
Representatives not to, use (except in connection with such Claim Notice) or disclose to any third person
other than the Party’s Representatives (except as may be required by applicable Law) any information
obtained pursuant to this Section 8.3(d) that is designated as confidential by the other
Party. Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither Party shall have access to (i) any medical or other employee
information that is contained in the personnel records of the other Party or its Affiliates and the disclosure of
which would subject that Party or such Affiliate to risk of liability, (ii) any information that is subject of any
attorney-client or other privilege in favor of the other Party or its Affiliates, or (iii) any information the
disclosure of which would cause the other Party or any of its Affiliates to violate any applicable Law.

(e) After any final decision, judgment or award shall have been rendered by a Governmental
Entity of competent jurisdiction and the expiration of the time in which to appeal therefrom, or a Settlement
or arbitration shall have been consummated, or the
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Indemnified Party and the Indemnifying Party shall have arrived at a mutually binding agreement with
respect to an Indemnification Claim hereunder, the Indemnified Party shall forward to the Indemnifying
Party notice of any sums determined or agreed to be due and owing by the Indemnifying Party pursuant to
this Agreement with respect to such matter and the Indemnifying Party shall make prompt payment thereof
by wire transfer within ten (10) Business Days after the date of such notice or, if required earlier, pursuant to
the terms of the agreement reached with respect to the Indemnification Claim.

Section 8.4  Claims Period. The Claims Period shall be as follows:

(a) the representations and warranties of each Party shall survive the Closing until the date that is 36
months following the Closing Date; provided, however, that except as set forth in below, (i) the Claims Period for
any Indefinite Purchaser Claim or Indefinite Seller Claim shall begin on the date hereof and continue indefinitely,
and (i1) the Claims Period for any Statute Of Limitations (“SOL”) Purchaser Claims shall survive the Closing until
the date that is six (6) months following the expiration of the longest applicable statute of limitations (including
any extension thereof agreed to by the Purchaser and the Seller Representative) applicable thereto;

(b) the Claims Period for any covenants, agreements or undertakings made by the Parties in this
Agreement, any Company Ancillary Document or any Purchaser Ancillary Document, other than the
indemnity in Section 8.2, shall survive the Closing in accordance with their express terms, except as set forth
in subsection (¢) immediately below; and

(©) the Claims Period for the covenants, agreements and undertakings set forth in Section 6.3
shall survive the Closing until the date that thirty (30) days following the longest applicable statute of
limitations (including any extension thereof agreed to by the Purchaser and the Seller Representative)
applicable thereto.

No claim or cause of action for indemnification under this Article VIII may be made following the
expiration of the applicable Claims Period; it being understood that in the event notice of any claim for
indemnification under this Article VIII shall have been given within the applicable Claims Period, the
representations, warranties, covenants or obligations that are the subject of such indemnification claim shall survive
with respect to such indemnification claim until such time as such claim is fully and finally resolved, including by
final non-appealable Order of a court of competent jurisdiction, even if the date of such full and final resolution
occurs after the applicable Claims Period.

Section 8.5 Liability Limits. The Purchaser Indemnified Parties may not make a claim for
indemnification under Section 8.1(a) or 8.1(b) for Purchaser Losses unless and until the aggregate amount of
Purchaser Losses for which the Purchaser Indemnified Parties are entitled to seek Indemnification under Sections
8.1(a) and 8.1(b) exceeds $100,000 (the “Deductible”), in which event the Purchaser Indemnified Parties shall be
entitled to indemnification for all Purchaser Losses arising under Section 8.1(a) or 8.1(b) in excess of the
Deductible; but in no event shall the aggregate amount of indemnification under Section 8.1 owed to the Purchaser
Indemnified Parties exceed $5,000,000 (the “Indemnification Cap”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event
shall (i) the Deductible apply to Purchaser Losses under Section 3.9 or (ii) the Deductible or the
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Indemnification Cap apply to any Indefinite Purchaser Claim. Damages with respect to all Indefinite Purchaser
Claims shall not be counted against the Deductible and shall not be counted towards the Indemnification Cap.

Section 8.6 Set-Off Rights. Subject to the limitations and procedures of this Article VIII, the Sellers
agree that any and all Purchaser Losses may be offset against the Earn-Out Payment to be made by Purchaser in
accordance with Section 2.5 hereof.

Section 8.7 Limitation on Damages. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, an Indemnified
Party shall be deemed to have suffered Damages only to the extent that such party has not received any recovery or
benefit (including insurance and net tax benefits) with respect thereto from any other party or Person (which
insurance benefits such Person agrees to use its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain) or based on any Initial
Purchase Price Adjustment; and if an Indemnified Party receives such a recovery or benefit after receipt of payment
from the Indemnifying Party, then the amount of such recovery or benefit (but not exceeding the amount paid by the
Indemnifying Party), net of reasonable expenses incurred in obtaining the recovery or benefit, shall be paid to the
Indemnifying Party. Each Indemnified Party shall (and shall cause its Affiliates to) use commercially reasonable
efforts to pursue all insurance claims available in order to minimize the Damages for which indemnification is
provided under this Article VIII. In determining the amount of any recovery or benefit by an Indemnified Party,
there shall be taken into account any insurance and tax benefit realized by such Indemnified Party after also giving
effect to any indemnification payment and/or any Purchase Price adjustment received by such Indemnified Party.
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, no Person shall be entitled to indemnification or reimbursement
under any provision of this Agreement for any amount to the extent such Person has been reimbursed for such
amount under any other provision of this Agreement, any document executed or delivered in connection with this
Agreement or otherwise.

Section 8.8 Treatment of Indemnity Payments. To the extent permitted under IRS guidelines, all
payments made pursuant to Section 8.1 and Section 8.2 shall be deemed adjustments to the Purchase Price for tax
purposes.

Section 8.9 Exclusive Remedy; Specific Performance. Each Party acknowledges and agrees that the
foregoing indemnification provisions in this Article VIII shall be the sole and exclusive remedy after Closing with
respect to any and all Damages incurred, resulting or arising under Section 8.1 and Section 8.2; provided, however
that this Article VIII shall not prohibit specific performance or other equitable relief as described in this Section
8.9. Each Party hereby acknowledges that the rights of each Party to consummate the transactions contemplated
hereby are special, unique and of extraordinary character and that, in the event that any Party violates or fails or
refuses to perform any covenant or agreement made by it herein, the non-breaching Party may be without an
adequate remedy at law. In the event that any Party violates or fails or refuses to perform any covenant or
agreement made by such Party herein, the non-breaching Party may, subject to the terms hereof, institute and
prosecute an action in any court of competent jurisdiction to enforce specific performances of such covenant or
agreement or seek any other equitable relief.
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ARTICLE IX
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Section 9.1 Notices. All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be
deemed to have been duly given when personally delivered, or if sent by United States certified mail, return receipt
requested, postage prepaid, shall be deemed duly given on delivery by the United States Postal Service, or if sent by
facsimile, electronic mail or receipted overnight courier services shall be deemed duly given on the Business Day
received if received prior to 5:00 p.m. local time or on the following Business Day if received after 5:00 p.m. local
time or on a non-Business Day, addressed to the respective Parties as follows:

To the Purchaser Willdan Energy Solutions
and after the Closing 2401 E. Katella Ave. Suite 300
to the Company: Anaheim, CA 92806

Attn: Mike Bieber
Email: mbieber@willdan.com

with a copy to (which shall Willdan Energy Solutions

not constitute notice): 2401 E. Katella Ave. Suite 300
Anaheim, CA 92806
Attn: Micah Chen
Email: mchen@willdan.com

To the Seller Representative and As set forth on the signature pages hereto
the Sellers:

with a copy to (which shall Fox Rothschild LLP
not constitute notice): 345 California Street, Suite 2200
San Francisco, CA 94104
Attn: Bill Mandel
Fax: (415) 391-4436
Email: bmandel@foxrothschild.com

or to such other representative or at such other address as such Person may furnish to the other Party in writing.

Section 9.2 Schedules and Exhibits. The Schedules and Exhibits are hereby incorporated into this
Agreement and are hereby made a part hereof as if set out in full herein.

Section 9.3 Assignment; Successors in Interest. No assignment or transfer by any Party of his or its
rights and obligations hereunder shall be made except with the prior written consent of the other Party. This
Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective successors and
permitted assigns, and any reference to a Party shall also be a reference to the successors and permitted assigns
thereof.

Section 9.4  Captions. The titles, captions and table of contents contained herein are inserted herein only
as a matter of convenience and for reference and in no way define, limit, extend or describe the scope of this
Agreement or the intent of any provision hereof.

Section 9.5 Controlling Law; Amendment. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and
enforced in accordance with the internal Laws of the State of California without
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reference to choice of law rules. This Agreement may be amended or supplemented in any and all respects only by
written agreement of the Parties.

Section 9.6 ~ Submission to Jurisdiction. Each Party agrees that any legal action or other legal proceeding
arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the enforcement of any provision of this Agreement or the
transactions contemplated hereby shall be brought or otherwise commenced exclusively in any state or federal court
located in the City and County of San Francisco, State of California. Each Party agrees to mediate any dispute
arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the enforcement of any provision of this Agreement or the
transactions contemplated hereby before resorting to litigation. Unless the Parties agree otherwise in writing, the
mediation will be conducted through the City and County of San Francisco, California office of JAMS. A demand
for mediation shall be served in writing on the other Party or Parties to this Agreement within a reasonable time
after the dispute has arisen. A Party may file a legal proceeding in order to preserve the Party’s rights with respect
to the running of any statutes of limitations without violating the requirement of mediation, provided that mediation
is commenced promptly and before the incurrence of significant legal fees or the undertaking of any discovery in
connection with the legal proceeding. A dispute not resolved within ninety (90) days after submission to mediation
shall be resolved by litigation. Each Party:

6] expressly and irrevocably consents and submits to the jurisdiction of each state and
federal court located in the City and County of San Francisco, State of California (and each appellate
court located in the City and County of San Francisco, State of California) in connection with any
such legal proceeding, including to enforce any Order or award;

(i1) consents to service of process in any such proceeding in any manner permitted by the
laws of the State of California, and agrees that service of process by registered or certified mail,
return receipt requested, at its address specified pursuant to Section 9.1 is reasonably calculated to
give actual notice;

(iii) agrees that each state and federal court located in the City and County of San
Francisco, State of California shall be deemed to be a convenient forum,;

@iv) waives and agrees not to assert (by way of motion, as a defense or otherwise), in any
such legal proceeding commenced in any state or federal court located in the City and County of San
Francisco, State of California, any claim that such Party is not subject personally to the jurisdiction
of such court, that such legal proceeding has been brought in an inconvenient forum, that the venue
of such proceeding is improper or that this Agreement or the subject matter hereof or thereof may not
be enforced in or by such court; and

W) agrees to the entry of an Order to enforce any Order or award made pursuant to this
Section 9.6 by the state and federal courts located in the City and County of San Francisco, State of
California and in connection therewith hereby waives, and agrees not to assert by way of motion, as
a defense, or otherwise, any claim that such resolution, settlement, Order or award is inconsistent
with or
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violative of the laws or public policy of the laws of the State of California or any other jurisdiction.

Section 9.7 Severability. Any provision hereof that is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction
shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating
the remaining provisions hereof, and any such prohibition or unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate
or render unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction. To the extent permitted by Law, each Party hereby
waives any provision of Law that renders any such provision prohibited or unenforceable in any respect.

Section 9.8 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which
shall be deemed an original, and it shall not be necessary in making proof of this Agreement or the terms hereof to
produce or account for more than one of such counterparts. This Agreement may be executed and delivered by
facsimile or other electronic transmission.

Section 9.9  Parties in Interest. Nothing expressed or implied herein is intended, or shall be construed, to
confer upon or give any Person other than the Parties, and their successors or permitted assigns (and with respect to
the indemnification provided for in Article VIII only, the Purchaser Indemnified Parties and the Seller Indemnified
Parties) any right, remedy, obligation or liability under or by reason of this Agreement, or result in such Person
being deemed a third-party beneficiary hereof.

Section 9.10  Waiver. Any agreement on the part of a Party to any extension or waiver of any provision
hereof shall be valid only if set forth in an instrument in writing signed on behalf of such Party. A waiver by a Party
of the performance of any covenant, agreement, obligation, condition, representation or warranty shall not be
construed as a waiver of any other covenant, agreement, obligation, condition, representation or warranty. A waiver
by any Party of the performance of any act shall not constitute a waiver of the performance of any other act or an
identical act required to be performed at a later time.

Section 9.11  Integration. This Agreement and the other documents executed pursuant hereto supersede all
negotiations, agreements and understandings among the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and
constitute the entire agreement among the Parties with respect thereto.

Section 9.12  Seller Representative.

(a) By the execution and delivery of this Agreement, including counterparts thereof, each Seller
hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints Ren Orans (the “Seller Representative™), and the Seller
Representative hereby accepts such appointment, as the true and lawful agent and attorney-in-fact of such
Seller with full powers of substitution to act in the name, place and stead of such Seller with respect to the
performance on behalf of such Seller under the terms and provisions hereof and to do or refrain from doing
all such further acts and things, and to execute all such documents, as the Seller Representative shall deem
necessary or appropriate in connection with any transaction contemplated hereunder, including the power to:
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@) act for such Seller, if applicable, with respect to all indemnification matters referred
to herein, including the right to compromise or settle any such claim on behalf of such Seller;

(i)  amend or waive any provision hereof in any manner;

(iii) employ, obtain and rely upon the advice of legal counsel, accountants and other
professional advisors as the Seller Representative, in the sole discretion thereof, deems necessary or
advisable in the performance of his duties as the Seller Representative;

@iv) act for such Seller with respect to all Initial Purchase Price matters, including any
adjustments thereto, and all earn-out matters;

W) incur any expenses, liquidate and withhold assets received on behalf of such Seller
prior to their distribution to such Seller to the extent of any amount that the Seller Representative
deems necessary for the payment of or as a reserve against expenses, and pay such expenses or
deposit the same in an interest-bearing bank account established for such purpose;

(vi) receive all notices, service of process, communications and deliveries hereunder on
behalf of such Seller; and

(vii)  do or refrain from doing any further act or deed on behalf of such Seller that the Seller
Representative deems necessary or appropriate, in the sole discretion of the Seller Representative,
relating to the subject matter hereof as fully and completely as such Seller could do if personally
present and acting and as though any reference to such Seller herein was a reference to the Seller
Representative.

(b) The appointment of the Seller Representative shall be deemed coupled with an interest and
shall be irrevocable, and any other Person may conclusively and absolutely rely, without inquiry, upon any
action of the Seller Representative as the act of such Seller in all matters referred to herein.

(©) The Seller Representative shall not have any duties or obligations except those expressly set
forth herein. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, (i) the Seller Representative shall not be
subject to any fiduciary or other implied duties with respect to any Seller; (ii) the Seller Representative shall
not have any duty to take any discretionary action or exercise any discretionary powers, and (iii) except as
expressly set forth herein, the Seller Representative shall not have any duty to disclose, and shall not be
liable for the failure to disclose to any Seller, any information relating to Purchaser, this Agreement or the
transaction contemplated hereunder except as specifically required herein or in any other agreement,
including but not limited to any information obtained by the Seller Representative in his capacity as a
Seller. The Seller Representative shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by him in the absence
of his own gross negligence or willful misconduct.
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(d) In the event the Seller Representative resigns or ceases to function in such capacity for any
reason whatsoever, then the successor Seller Representative shall be the Person that Ren Orans appoints.

(e) The Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that except for his liability as a Seller hereunder,
Ren Orans shall have no additional liability under this Agreement due to the appointment of such Seller as
the Seller Representative.

[Signature Pages Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first
above written.

THE PURCHASER:
WILLDAN ENERGY SOLUTIONS
By: /s/ Thomas Brisbin

Name: Thomas Brisbin
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

WILLDAN
WILLDAN GROUP, INC.
By: /s/ Thomas Brisbin

Name: Thomas Brisbin
Title: Chief Executive Officer

SIGNATURE PAGE TO STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT




SELLER REPRESENTATIVE:

/s/ Ren Orans

Name: Ren Orans
Address:

Email: ren@ethree.com

SELLERS:

/s/ Ren Orans

By: Ren Orans
Address:

Email: ren@ethree.com

SIGNATURE PAGE TO STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT




/s/ Arne Olson

By: Arne Olson
Address:

Email:  Arne@ethree.com

SIGNATURE PAGE TO STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT




/s/ Brian Horii

By: Brian Horii
Address:

Email:  brian@ethree.com

SIGNATURE PAGE TO STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT




/s/ Snuller Price

By: Snuller Price
Address:

Email:  snuller@ethree.com

SIGNATURE PAGE TO STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT




/s/ Kush Patel

By: Kush Patel
Address:

Email:  kushal.patel@ethree.com
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By: Amber Mahone
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Exhibit 2.2

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO THE
STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This Amendment No. 1 to the Stock Purchase Agreement (“Amendment”) dated as of August 1, 2019 is
entered into by and between INTEGRAL ANALYTICS, INC., an Ohio corporation (the “Seller”) and WILLDAN
ENERGY SOLUTIONS, a California corporation (the “Buyer”). Each of the Seller and the Buyer are referred to
herein as a “Party” and collectively, as the “Parties.” All capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have
the meaning assigned to such term in the Original Agreement (as defined below).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Seller and the Buyer are parties to that certain Stock Purchase Agreement dated July 28,
2017 (the “Original Agreement”).

WHEREAS, Parties desire to amend the definition of “Earn-Out Period” to the Original Agreement pursuant
to this Amendment.

AGREEMENT

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, representations, warranties and agreements
contained herein, and of other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged, and intending to be bound hereby, the Parties agree as follows:

1. Article I Definitions.

(a) “Earn-Out Period” of Section 1.1 of the Original Agreement are hereby amended to (i) delete
“shall mean the period from the Closing Date until the earlier of (a) that period of time pursuant to this Agreement in
which Seller has qualified for the Maximum Payout, or (b) the third anniversary of the Closing Date”, and (ii) to replace
such deletion with “shall mean the period from the Closing Date until the earlier of (a) that period of time pursuant to
this Agreement in which Seller has qualified for the Maximum Payout, or (b) the fourth anniversary of the Closing
Date.”

2. Entire Agreement. This Amendment, together with the Original Agreement, contain the entire
agreement and understanding between the Parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all
prior agreements and understandings relating to such subject matter.

3. Good Faith. Each of the signatories to this Amendment agrees to cooperate in good faith with each
other to facilitate the performance by the Parties of their respective obligations hereunder and the purposes of this
Amendment.

4, Surviving_Terms,_Inconsistencies. Except for those terms and conditions modified in this
Amendment, all terms and conditions of the Original Agreement shall continue unchanged and in full force and
effect, and shall govern the Parties’ rights and obligations thereunder. In the event of any conflict between the
terms and conditions of the Original Agreement and those of this Amendment, the terms and conditions of this
Amendment shall govern.
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SIGNATURE PAGE

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Amendment to be executed and delivered by their
respective authorized representatives as of the date set forth above, to be effective as of August 1, 2019.

INTEGRAL ANALYTICS, INC.
an Ohio corporation

By: /s/ Thomas Osterhus
Thomas Osterhus
President and CEO

WILLDAN ENERGY SOLUTIONS
a California corporation

By: /s/ Mike Bieber
Mike Bieber, President




Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statements on Forms S-3 and S-8 (Nos. 333-217356, 333-
232438, 333-219133, 333-219129, 333-168787, 333-212907, 333-184823, 333-152951 and 333-139127) of Willdan Group,
Inc. of our report dated October 12, 2019 on our audit of the financial statements of Energy and Environmental Economics,
Inc. as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 and the related notes thereto, included in this Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q of Willdan Group Inc. for the quarter ended September 27, 2019, filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on October 31, 2019. We also consent to the reference to our firm under the caption “Experts” in the prospectus.

/s/ Farber Hass Hurley LLP

Chatsworth, CA
October 31, 2019




Exhibit 31.1

SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, Thomas D. Brisbin, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Willdan Group, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared,

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the
period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: October 31, 2019

By: /s/ Thomas D. Brisbin
Thomas D. Brisbin
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2
SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Stacy B. McLaughlin, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Willdan Group, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the
period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: October 31, 2019

By: /s/ Stacy B. McLaughlin
Stacy B. McLaughlin
Chief Financial Officer and Vice President
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Willdan Group, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarterly
period ended September 27, 2019, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”),
Thomas D. Brisbin, as Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Stacy B. McLaughlin, as Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that, to the best of his or her knowledge:

@8 The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934; and
2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and

results of operations of the Company.

By: /s/ Thomas D. Brisbin
Thomas D. Brisbin
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
October 31, 2019

By: /s/ Stacy B. McLaughlin
Stacy B. McLaughlin
Chief Financial Officer and Vice President
(Principal Financial Officer)
October 31, 2019

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except
to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of § 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. A signed original of this written statement required by § 906 has been
provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or
its staff upon request.
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ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL
ECONOMICS, INC.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018
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ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ECONOMICS, INC.

BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
(Unaudited)

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash

Receivables -
Contracts and accounts, including retainage
Related party
State taxes
Others

Prepaid expenses -
Cash balance plan
Insurance
Rent
Others

Total current assets
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Furniture and fixtures

Computer and office equipment
Leasehold improvements

Less - accumulated depreciation

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET
OTHER ASSETS, Security deposits
Total assets

See accompanying notes.

June 30,

2019 2018
1,048,892  $ 2,409,078
3,745,393 2,897,629

- 298,040

7,267 -

335 -

- 4716

65,700 55,286

- 74,750

4,281 3,345
4,871,868 5,742,844
351,243 192,304
278,383 313,948
72,652 96,980
702,278 603,232
282,487 453,375
419,791 149,857
7,012,563 -
340,903 368,443
12,645,125  § 6,261,144




ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ECONOMICS, INC.

BALANCE SHEETS

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

(Unaudited)
June 30,
2019 2018
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables -
Trade $ 306,574 $ 349,659
Other 5,793 5,397
Accrued Liabilities -
Profit sharing 129,626 100,389
Paid time off 188,310 123,357
Other 1,714 7,962
Cash balance plan obligation 8,489 285,419
Deferred revenue 22,092 133,911
Deferred rent - 2,707
Lease liability 577,958 -
Total current liabilities 1,240,556 1,008,801
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Lease liability, less current portion 6,868,423 -
TOTAL LIABILITIES 8,108,979 1,008,801
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common stock, no par value, 1,000,000 authorized, 97.20 and 102.60
shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively 243,929 257,472
Accumulated other comprehensive income 127,970 22,723
Retained earnings 4,164,247 4,972,148
Total stockholders’ equity 4,536,146 5,252,343
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 12,645,125  § 6,261,144

See accompanying notes.




ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ECONOMICS, INC.

STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(Unaudited)

REVENUES, net

COST OF REVENUES
Labor
Subconsultants
Other direct costs

Gross Profit

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Payroll and payroll taxes
Employee benefits
Rent
Professional fees
Travel and entertainment
Licenses and permits
Insurance
Other taxes
Depreciation
Marketing
Dues and subscriptions
Telephone and communication
Supplies
Other

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS
OTHER INCOME AND (EXPENSES)

Interest income
Foreign exchange gain (loss)

INCOME BEFORE PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES
State income taxes

NET INCOME

See accompanying notes.

Six Months Ended June 30,

2019 2018
§ 8,171,051 $ 7.810,534
2,313,227 1,740,240
179,531 264,547
216,071 162,078
2,708,829 2,166,865
5,462,222 5,643,669
1,642,126 1,111,367
311,766 672,671
599,093 260,676
153,750 109,275
111,532 100,352
87,058 65,686
40,183 62,415
28,463 42,099
50,455 31,642
10,550 10,992
3,744 4,084
14,571 11,161
52,419 25,868
23,648 18,412
3,129,358 2,526,700
2,332,864 3,116,969
64 49
(877) 120
(813) 169
2,332,051 3,117,138
4,455 10,763
$ 2327596 $ 3,106,375




ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ECONOMICS, INC.

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Unaudited)
Six Months Ended June 30,
2019 2018
NET INCOME $ 2,327,596 § 3,106,375
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Net change in unrealized gain (losses) on cash balance plan 240,868 (147,616)
Foreign currency translation (4,093) (1,204)

$ 2,564,371 § 2,957,555

See accompanying notes.




ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ECONOMICS, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Balance - December 31, 2017
Distributions

Unrealized loss on cash balance plan
Foreign currency translation

Net income

Balance - June 30, 2018

Balance - December 31, 2018
Distributions

Unrealized gain on cash balance plan
Foreign currency translation

Net income

Balance - June 30, 2019

(Unaudited)
Accumulated Other Total
Comprehensive Stockholders’
Common Stock Income (Loss) Retained Earnings Equity
$ 257,472 § 171,543  §$ 3243317 $§ 3,672,332
- - (1,377,544) (1,377,544)
- (147,616) - (147,616)
- (1,204) - (1,204)
- - 3,106,375 3,106,375
$ 257,472 § 22,723 $ 4,972,148 $§ 5,252,343
Accumulated Other Total
Comprehensive Stockholders’
Common Stock Income (Loss) Retained Earnings Equity
$ 243,929 $ (108,805) $ 4,546,215 $ 4,681,339
- - (2,709,564) (2,709,564)
- 240,868 - 240,868
- (4,093) - (4,093)
- - 2,327,596 2,327,596
$ 243,929 $ 127,970 $ 4,164,247 $§ 4,536,146

See accompanying notes.




CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net Income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities -

Depreciation

Unrealized gain (loss) on cash balance plan
Changes in assets and liabilities
Contracts, accounts and other receivables

Prepaid expenses
Security deposits

Accounts and other payables

Accrued liabilities
Deferred rent
Deferred revenue
Right-of-use asset

Cash balance plan obligation

ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ECONOMICS, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Total adjustments

Net cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Stock redemption

Distributions

Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of foreign currency translation on cash
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH

CASH - BEGINNING OF PERIOD

CASH - END OF PERIOD

(Unaudited)

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:

Cash paid for income taxes

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING

ACTIVITIES:

Right-of-use asset obtained in exchange for operating lease liability

See accompanying notes.

Six Months Ended June 30,

2019 2018
$ 2327596 $ 3,106,375
50,455 31,642
240,868 (147,616)
(228,528) 83,134
46,643 258,303
(3,402) (337,501)
104,122 225,899
(868,624) (343,413)
(94,010) (7,263)
(168,525) (180,302)
433,818 -
(435,565) (248,978)
(922,748) (666,095)
1,404,848 2,440,280
(86,836) (63,264)
(86,836) (63,264)
(845,000) -
(2,709,564) (1,377,544)
(3,554,564) (1,377,544)
(4,093) (1,204)
(2,240,645) 998,268
3,289,537 1,410,810
$  1,048892 $ 2,409,078
$ 6,300 $ 1,300
$ 7473282 S |




ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ECONOMICS, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30,2019 AND 2018
(Unaudited)

1. General and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

General -- Energy and Environmental Economics, Inc. (the “Company”), a California S-corporation, is an
energy consulting firm that provides consulting services to utilities, regulators, policy makers, developers, and
investors. The Company is headquartered in San Francisco, and it operates offices in New York and Boston. The
Company formerly operated an office in Canada and maintained a bank account to support its operations. In 2015,
the Company decided to close its office in Canada. However, in 2019, the Company decided to hire an employee in
Canada to continue its operations.

Basis of Presentation -- The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”).

Cash -- Cash consists of interest and non-interest-bearing accounts with an U.S. and a foreign financial
institution and cash on hand at year end. Cash deposited with the foreign financial institution was $11,742 and
$26,671 as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Contracts and Accounts Receivable -- Contracts and accounts receivable are uncollateralized customer
obligations and are stated at the amount billed. Contracts and accounts receivable are recorded when invoices are
issued. The Company extends credits to customers in the normal course of business. The Company evaluates the
credit worthiness of these customers at the time a contract is signed and monitors the customers’ credit worthiness
on an ongoing basis. An allowance is provided for potential credit losses based on management’s ongoing review of
collections and historical experience. As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, no allowance was provided as management
believes that all receivables are collectible.

Retainage receivable is an agreed upon portion of the contract price that is deliberately withheld until the
project is substantially complete to assure that the Company and its subconsultants will satisfy and complete its
obligations. Retainage receivable was $177,900 and $152,196 at June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Property and Equipment -- Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Expenditures for major additions
and improvements are capitalized and minor replacements, maintenance, and repairs are charged to expense as
incurred. Leasehold improvements are depreciated utilizing the straight-line method over the shorter of estimated
useful lives or the term of the related lease. Other property and equipment is depreciated utilizing the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets as follow:

Type of Property and Equipment Life
Furniture and fixtures 7 years
Computer and office equipment 3 to 5 years
Leasehold improvements 10 years




ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ECONOMICS, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30,2019 AND 2018
(Unaudited)

Depreciation expense amounted to $50,455 and $31,642 for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018
respectively.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets -- The Company periodically evaluates whether changes have occurred
that would require revision of the remaining estimated useful life of the property, improvements, and other long-
lived assets or render them not recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized when estimated undiscounted
future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition are less than its carrying
amount. Through June 30, 2019, there have been no such losses.

Revenue and Cost Recognition -- The Company enters into contracts with its customers that contain
primarily time-and-materials pricing provisions. The Company recognizes revenues in accordance with Accounting
Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customer, codified as Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) Topic 606 and the related amendments (“ASC 606). Pursuant to ASC 606, revenues are
recognized upon applying the following steps:

Identification of the contract(s) with a customer;

Identification of the performance obligations in the contract;

Determination of the transaction price;

Allocation of the transaction price to performance obligations in the contract;
Recognition of revenues when, or as, the contractual obligations are satisfied.

Revenue from customer contracts will still be recognized over time because of the continuous transfer of
control to the customer. Revenue on time-and-materials is recognized as the work is performed in accordance with
the specific rates and terms of the contract. Generally, the Company does not recognize any amount exceeding the
maximum contract value. However, certain time-and-materials contracts require that markdowns be reflected, thus,
revenue is recorded net of any markdowns. The Company recognizes revenues for time-and-materials contracts
based upon the actual hours incurred during a reporting period at contractually agreed upon rates per hour and also
includes in revenue all reimbursable costs incurred during a reporting period.

Certain of the Company’s contracts may include separate phases or elements. The Company evaluates if the
contracts should be segmented based on the technical resources required and/or the supply and demand for the
services being provided. Segmented contract could result in revenues being assigned to the different elements or
phases with different rates of profitability based on the relative value of each element or phase to the estimated total
contract revenue. The Company did not have any segmented contracts for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and
2018.

The Company considers variable consideration when determining the transaction price in accordance with
ASC 606 and estimates the variable consideration component of the transaction price, as well as assessing if an
estimate of variable consideration is constrained. For certain of the Company’s contracts, variable consideration can
arise from modifications to the scope of services resulting from unapproved change orders or customer claims.
Variable consideration is included in the transaction price to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal of
cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is




ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ECONOMICS, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30,2019 AND 2018
(Unaudited)

resolved. The Company estimates of variable consideration and determination of whether to include estimated
amounts in the transaction price are based largely on assessments of legal enforceability, the Company’s
performance, and all information (historical, current and forecasted) that is reasonably available to the Company.

As a significant change in one or more of these estimates could affect the profitability of the Company’s
contracts, the Company reviews and updates the Company’s contract-related estimates regularly through a
company-wide disciplined project review process in which management reviews the progress and execution of the
Company’s performance obligations and the estimate at completion (“EAC”). As part of this process, management
reviews information including, but not limited to, any outstanding key contract matters, progress towards
completion and the related program schedule and the related changes in estimates of revenues and costs.
Management must make assumptions and estimates regarding labor productivity and availability, the complexity of
the work to be performed, the cost and availability of materials, the performance of subcontractors, and the
availability and timing of funding from the customer, among other variables.

The Company recognizes adjustments in estimated profit on contracts under the cumulative catch-up
method. Under this method, the impact of the adjustment on profit recorded to date is recognized in the period the
adjustment is identified.

Revenue and profit in future periods of contract performance is recognized using the adjusted estimate. If at
any time the estimate of contract profitability indicates an anticipated loss on the contract, the Company recognizes
the full amount of estimated loss in the period it is identified.

Contracts are often modified to account for changes in contract specifications and requirements. The
Company considers contract modifications to exist when the modification either creates new rights or obligations or
changes the existing enforceable rights or obligations. Most of the Company’s contract modifications are for
services that are not distinct from existing contracts due to the significant integration provided in the context of the
contract and are accounted for as if they were part of the original contract. The effect of a contract modification that
is not distinct from the existing contract on the transaction price and the Company’s measure of progress for the
performance obligation to which it relates is recognized as an adjustment to revenue (either as an increase in or a
reduction of revenue) on a cumulative catch-up basis.

For contract modifications that result in the promise to deliver services that are distinct from the existing
contract and the increase in price of the contract is for the same amount as the standalone selling price of the
additional services included in the modification, the Company accounts for such contract modifications as a
separate contract.

Direct costs of contract revenue consist primarily of that portion of technical and nontechnical salaries and
wages that has been incurred in connection with revenue producing projects. Direct costs of contract revenue also
include subcontractor services and other expenses that are incurred in connection with revenue producing projects.

Direct costs of contract revenue exclude that portion of technical salaries and wages related to marketing

efforts, vacations, holidays and other time not spent directly generating revenue under existing contracts. Such
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ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ECONOMICS, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30,2019 AND 2018
(Unaudited)

costs are included in selling, general and administrative expenses. Additionally, payroll taxes, bonuses, and
employee benefit costs for all Company personnel are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in
the accompanying statements of income since no allocation of these costs is made to direct costs of contract
revenue. No allocation of facilities costs is made to direct costs of contract revenue. Other companies may classify
as direct costs of contract revenue some of the costs that the Company classifies as general and administrative costs.
The Company expenses direct costs of contract revenue when incurred.

Included in revenue and costs are all reimbursable costs for which the Company has the risk or on which the
fee was based at the time of bid or negotiation. No revenue or cost is recorded for costs in which the Company acts
solely in the capacity of an agent and has no risks associated with such costs.

Billings and/or payments for contracts for which services are not yet performed are recognized as deferred
revenue.

Income Taxes -- The Company, with the consent of its shareholders, elected to be taxed under the
provisions of Sub-chapter S of the Internal Revenue Code. Under these provisions, the Company will not pay
corporate income taxes on its taxable income. Instead, the shareholders will be liable for income taxes on the
Company’s taxable income as it affects the shareholders’ individual tax returns. The Company recognizes interest
and penalties related to income tax matters, if any, in income tax expense.

The Company recognizes and measures its unrecognized tax benefits in accordance with ASC 740, Income
Taxes. Under that guidance the Company assesses the likelihood, based on their technical merit, that tax positions
will be sustained upon examination based on the facts, circumstances and information available at the end of each
period. The measurement of unrecognized tax benefits is adjusted when new information is available, or when an
event occurs that requires a change.

The Company did not recognize any change in its asset or liability for unrecognized tax benefits as the
Company currently has no open examination by an applicable taxing authority or any event that occurred that may
require such adjustments.

Concentration of Credit Risk -- Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to
concentration of credit risk, consist principally of deposits greater than $250,000 with each financial institution.
During the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company had cash balances on deposit that exceeded the
balance insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”). As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, cash
balances on deposit that exceeded the balance insured by the FDIC was $806,642 and $2,163,588, respectively.
Management periodically reviews its cash policies and believes any potential accounting loss is minimal.

Estimates Included in the Unaudited Financial Statements -- The preparation of the unaudited financial
statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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New Accounting Pronouncement Adopted -- The Company early adopted ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic
842), effective January 1, 2019 using the modified retrospective approach and took advantage of the transition
package of practical expedients permitted under the new standard, which among other things, allows the Company
to carryforward the historical lease classifications. For leases with a term of 12 months or less, the Company
elected the short-term lease exemption, which allowed the Company to not recognize right-of-use assets or lease
liabilities for qualifying leases existing at transition and new leases the Company may enter into in the future.

As of January 1, 2019, the Company recorded both an operating lease asset and operating lease liability of
approximately $7.4 million. The Company reclassified the preexisting deferred rent liability balances from the
historical straight-line treatment of operating lease as a reduction of the lease asset upon adoption. The adoption of
the standard did not materially affect the Unaudited Statements of Income or Statements of Cash Flows as operating
lease payments will still be an operating cash outflow. The new standard did not have a material impact on our
liquidity.

2. Risks and Uncertainties

The Company had two major customers (revenues in excess of 10% of the total revenues) that accounted
for 26% of the total revenues totaling $2,155,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2019. The Company had one
major customer that accounted for 15% of the total revenues totaling $1,184,000 for the six months ended June 30,
2018. The Company also had receivables totaling $692,000 and $50,000 as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively,
from these major customers.

The Company’s business is subject to the risks generally associated with changes in economic condition in
which the Company’s business is concentrated.

3. Common Stock

The Company has 1,000,000 authorized shares for common stock with no par value. As of June 30, 2019
and 2018, the Company had 97.2 and 102.6 shares of common stock issued and outstanding, respectively.

4. Related Party Transactions

The Company has receivables amounting to $298,040 from its shareholders at June 30, 2018, and all
balances were reclassified as distributions in December 2018.

5. Lease Commitments

The Company leases office space in San Francisco, California under operating lease, which expires in
March 2027.

Operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and operating lease liabilities are recognized based on the

present value of the future minimum lease payments over the lease term at the commencement date. As the implicit
rate for the lease is not readily determinable, the Company uses the incremental borrowing rate based on

12




ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ECONOMICS, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30,2019 AND 2018
(Unaudited)

the information available at commencement date in determining the present value of future payments. Upon

adoption of the new lease standard, the Company utilized the published Wall Street Journal Prime Rate closest to
the commencement date.

The amounts recorded in the unaudited balance sheet as of June 30, 2019 related to the operating lease
agreement are as follows:

June 30, 2019

Operating Lease
Right-of-use asset $ 7,012,562
Lease liability, current portion $ 577,958
Lease liability, long-term 6,868,423

$ 7,446,381

During the six months ended June 30, 2019, total lease expense recorded was approximately $599,000.

The following is a summary of other information and supplemental cash flow information related to
operating lease as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2019:

June 30, 2019
Operating Lease
Weighted average remaining lease term (in years) 7.75
Weighted average discount rate 525%
Cash paid for amounts Included in the measurment of lease liabilities
Operating cash flow from operating lease $ 224,250
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The future minimum lease commitments under the operating lease at June 30, 2019 are as follows:

Year Ending Amount
Reminder of 2019 $ 450,742
December 31, 2020 1,056,976
December 31, 2021 1,133,406
December 31, 2022 1,167,462
December 31, 2023 1,202,458
December 31, 2024 1,238,534
Thereafter 2,927,149
Total minimum lease payments 9,176,727
Less: interest 1,730,346
7,446,381
Less: current portion 577,958
Noncurrent lease liability $ 6,868,423

6. Retirement Plans

The Company has a defined contribution plan that covers substantially all eligible employees after
three months of service. The Company may make discretionary matching or profit sharing contributions. The
Company accrued approximately $130,000 and $100,400 of employer profit sharing contributions to the plan as of
June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The Company also has a cash balance plan that covers substantially all eligible employees after one year of
service, and a notional balance for each of the plan’s participants is maintained. The Company terminated the plan
effective April 15, 2019 and will make a final distribution of benefits to all participants upon completion of a
60-day wait period as required by the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation (“PBGC”) (see Note 7). As of June 30,
2019 and 2018, estimated funded status of the cash balance plan was a liability of approximately $34,000 and
$310,000, respectively.

During the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, pension expense for the cash balance plan was
$49,931 and $451,781, respectively. Management contributions to the cash balance plan made during the
six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 was $244,628 and $534,397, respectively.

7. Subsequent Events

On September 24, 2019, the Company received a letter from PBGC relating to the cash balance plan’s
termination notice. There is a 60-day wait period before any distributions to the participants can take place to
ascertain that there is no non-compliance. On September 25, 2019, the Company also received the Internal Revenue
Service determination letter stating that the termination does not affect its qualification for federal tax purposes. The
Company intends to cover any obligation required at time of distribution.
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The Company has evaluated subsequent events through October 25, 2019, the date on which the unaudited
financial statements was available to be issued and except as discussed above, noted no other subsequent events that
would require recognition in the unaudited financial statements or the notes thereto as of October 25, 2019.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of Energy and Environmental Economics, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Energy and Environmental Economics, Inc. (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related statements of income, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the financial statements). In our opinion, the
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2018
and 2017, and the results of their operations and cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether
due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control
over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Farber Hass Hurley LLP
Farber Hass Hurley LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2019.

Chatsworth, California
October 12,2019
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ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ECONOMICS, INC.

BALANCE SHEETS -- DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

ASSETS
2018 2017
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash $ 3,289,537 $ 1,410,810
Receivables -
Contracts and accounts, including retainage 3,518,401 2,976,659
Related party — 298,040
State taxes 5,782 —
Others 284 4,104
Prepaid expenses -
Cash balance plan — 313,978
Insurance 38,225 35,476
Rent — 43912
Others 3,649 3,034
Total current assets 6,855,878 5,086,013
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Furniture and Fixtures 325,605 182,812
Computer and office equipment 251,701 260,176
Leasehold improvements 38,136 96,980
615,442 539,968
Less - accumulated depreciation 232,032 421,733
383,410 118,235
OTHER ASSETS, security deposits 412,251 30,942
Total assets $ 7,651,539 §$ 5,235,190

See accompanying notes.
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ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ECONOMICS, INC.
BALANCE SHEETS -- DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

2018 2017
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables -
Trade $ 197487 $§ 123,760
Stock redemption 845,000 —
Other 10,758 5,397
Accrued Liabilities -
Bonus 934,000 254,320
Profit sharing 181,547 145,034
Other 72,727 175,767
Cash balance plan obligation 444,054 534,397
Deferred revenue 190,617 314,213
Deferred rent 94,010 9,970
Total current liabilities 2,970,200 1,562,858
TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,970,200 1,562,858
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common stock, no par value, 1,000,000 authorized, 97.20 and 102.60 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively 243,929 257,472
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (108,805) 171,543
Retained earnings 4,546,215 3,243,317
Total stockholders' equity 4,681,339 3,672,332
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 7,651,539 $ 5,235,190

No assurance is provided on this financial statement.
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ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ECONOMICS, INC.

STATEMENTS OF INCOME

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

REVENUES, net

COST OF REVENUES
Labor
Subconsultants
Other direct costs

Gross Profit

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Payroll and payroll taxes
Employee benefits
Rent
Professional fees
Travel and entertainment
Licenses and permits
Insurance
Other taxes
Depreciation
Marketing
Dues and subscriptions
Bad debts
Telephone and communication
Supplies
Other

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS
OTHER INCOME AND (EXPENSES)
Interest income
Foreign exchange gain (loss)
Loss on disposal of property and equipment
INCOME BEFORE PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES
State income taxes

NET INCOME

See accompanying notes.

2018

2017

$ 16,128,564 § 11,892,499

4,547,787 3,607,439
443,167 637,032
372,948 279,621

5,363,902 4,524,092
10,764,662 7,368,407
4,285,609 3,389,146
883,239 770,655
645,162 514,246
324,165 206,197
191,547 133,158
137,838 60,682
62,093 49,722
90,993 48,822
67,646 66,124
27,621 32,662
21,883 18,440
— 25,149

22,035 42,344
53,972 44,744
33,786 36,074
6,847,589 5,438,165
3,917,073 1,930,242
113 75
120 (180)
(9,084) —
(8,851) (105)
3,908,222 1,930,137
18,283 16,875

$ 3,889,939 $ 1,913,262
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ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ECONOMICS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

2018 2017
NET INCOME $ 3,889,939 $§ 1,913,262
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Net change in unrealized gain (losses) on cash balance plan (278,744) 159,726
Foreign currency translation (1,604) 1,836

$ 3,609,591 § 2,074,824

See accompanying notes.
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ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ECONOMICS, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

Balance - December 31, 2016
Distributions

Unrealized gain on cash balance plan
Foreign currency translation

Net income

Balance - December 31, 2017
Stock redemption

Distributions

Unrealized loss on cash balance plan
Foreign currency translation

Net income

Balance - December 31, 2018

Accumulated
Other
Total
Comprehensive Stockholders'
Common Retained
Stock Income (Loss) Earnings Equity
$ 257472 $ 9,981 $ 2,332,947 $ 2,600,400
— —  (1,002,892) (1,002,892)
— 159,726 — 159,726
— 1,836 — 1,836
— — 1,913,262 1,913,262
257,472 171,543 3,243,317 3,672,332
(13,543) — (911,457) (925,000)
— — (1,675,584) (1,675,584)
— (278,744) — (278,744)
— (1,604) — (1,604)
— — 3,889,939 3,889,939
$ 243,929 $ (108,805) $ 4,546,215 $ 4,681,339

See accompanying notes.




Table of Contents

ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ECONOMICS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

2018 2017
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net Income $ 3,889,939 § 1,913,262
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities -
Depreciation 67,646 66,124
Unrealized gain (loss) on cash balance plan (278,744) 159,726
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 9,084 —
Changes in assets and liabilities
Contracts, accounts and other receivables (543,704) (885,270)
Prepaid expenses 354,526 (242,455)
Security deposits (381,309) —
Accounts and other payables 79,088 (35,115)
Accrued liabilities 613,153 377,415
Deferred rent 84,040 (5,077)
Deferred revenue (123,596) 105,790
Cash balance plan obligation (90,343) 40,871
Total adjustments (210,159) (417,991)
Net cash provided by operating activities 3,679,780 1,495,271
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and equipment (341,905) (5,594)
Net cash used in investing activities (341,905) (5,594)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Stock redemption (80,000) —
Distributions (1,377,544) (1,002,892)
Net cash used in financing activities (1,457,544) (1,002,892)
Effect of foreign currency translation on cash (1,604) 1,836
NET INCREASE IN CASH 1,878,727 488,621
CASH - BEGINNING OF PERIOD 1,410,810 922,189
CASH - END OF PERIOD $ 3,289,537 §$ 1,410,810
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid for income taxes $ 1,800 § 707
NON CASH FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Payable to stockholder for stock redemption $ 845,000 § —
Receivables from stockholders reclassified as distributions $ 298,040 $ —

See accompanying notes.
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ENERGY AND EVIRONMENTAL ENCONOMICS, INC
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31,2018 AND 2017

1. General and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

General -- Energy and Environmental Economics, Inc. (the “Company”), a California S-corporation, is an energy
consulting firm that provides consulting services to utilities, regulators, policy makers, developers, and investors. The
Company is headquartered in San Francisco, and it operates offices in New York and Boston. The Company formerly
operated an office in Canada and maintained a bank account to support its operations. In 2015, the Company decided to close
its office in Canada. However, in 2019, the Company decided to hire an employee in Canada to continue its operations.

Basis of Presentation -- The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”).

Cash -- Cash consists of interest and non-interest-bearing accounts with an U.S. and a foreign financial institution
and cash on hand at year end. Cash deposited with the foreign financial institution was $14,468 and $27,903 as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Contracts and Accounts Receivable — Contracts and accounts receivable are uncollateralized customer obligations
and are stated at the amount billed. Contracts and accounts receivable are recorded when invoices are issued. The Company
extends credits to customers in the normal course of business. The Company evaluates the credit worthiness of these
customers at the time a contract is signed and monitors the customers’ credit worthiness on an ongoing basis. An allowance
is provided for potential credit losses based on management’s ongoing review of collections and historical experience. As of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, no allowance was provided as management believes that all receivables are collectible.

Retainage receivable is an agreed upon portion of the contract price that is deliberately withheld until the project is
substantially complete to assure that the Company and its subconsultants will satisfy and complete its obligations. Retainage
receivable was $191,742 and $202,765 at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Property and Equipment -- Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Expenditures for major additions and
improvements are capitalized and minor replacements, maintenance, and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.
Leasehold improvements are depreciated utilizing the straight-line method over the shorter of estimated useful lives or the
term of the related lease. Other property and equipment is depreciated utilizing the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the respective assets as follow:

Type of Property and Equipment Life
Furniture and fixtures 7 years
Computer and office equipment 3 to 5 years
Leasehold improvements 10 years

Depreciation expense amounted to $67,646 and $66,124 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets -- The Company periodically evaluates whether changes have occurred that
would require revision of the remaining estimated useful life of the property, improvements, and other long-lived assets or
render them not recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized when estimated undiscounted future cash flows
expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition are less than its carrying amount. Through
December 31, 2018, there have been no such losses.

Revenue and Cost Recognition — The Company enters into contracts with its customers that contain primarily

time-and-materials pricing provisions. The Company recognizes revenues in accordance with Accounting Standards Update
(“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customer, codified as Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”)
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ENERGY AND EVIRONMENTAL ENCONOMICS, INC
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

Topic 606 and the related amendments (“ASC 606”). Pursuant to ASC 606, revenues are recognized upon applying the
following steps:

Identification of the contract(s) with a customer;

Identification of the performance obligations in the contract;

Determination of the transaction price;

Allocation of the transaction price to performance obligations in the contract;
Recognition of revenues when, or as, the contractual obligations are satisfied.

Revenue from customer contracts will still be recognized over time because of the continuous transfer of control to
the customer. Revenue on time-and-materials is recognized as the work is performed in accordance with the specific rates and
terms of the contract. Generally, the Company does not recognize any amount exceeding the maximum contract value.
However, certain time-and-materials contracts require that markdowns be reflected, thus, revenue is recorded net of any
markdowns. The Company recognizes revenues for time-and-materials contracts based upon the actual hours incurred during
a reporting period at contractually agreed upon rates per hour and also includes in revenue all reimbursable costs incurred
during a reporting period.

Certain of the Company’s contracts may include separate phases or elements. The Company evaluates if the
contracts should be segmented based on the technical resources required and/or the supply and demand for the services being
provided. Segmented contract could result in revenues being assigned to the different elements or phases with different rates
of profitability based on the relative value of each element or phase to the estimated total contract revenue. The Company did
not have any segmented contracts for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.

The Company considers variable consideration when determining the transaction price in accordance with ASC 606
and estimates the variable consideration component of the transaction price, as well as assessing if an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained. For certain of the Company’s contracts, variable consideration can arise from modifications to
the scope of services resulting from unapproved change orders or customer claims. Variable consideration is included in the
transaction price to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when
the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is resolved. The Company estimates of variable consideration and
determination of whether to include estimated amounts in the transaction price are based largely on assessments of legal
enforceability, the Company’s performance, and all information (historical, current and forecasted) that is reasonably
available to the Company.

As a significant change in one or more of these estimates could affect the profitability of the Company’s contracts,
the Company reviews and updates the Company’s contract-related estimates regularly through a company-wide disciplined
project review process in which management reviews the progress and execution of the Company’s performance obligations
and the estimate at completion (EAC). As part of this process, management reviews information including, but not limited to,
any outstanding key contract matters, progress towards completion and the related program schedule and the related changes
in estimates of revenues and costs. Management must make assumptions and estimates regarding labor productivity and
availability, the complexity of the work to be performed, the cost and availability of materials, the performance of
subcontractors, and the availability and timing of funding from the customer, among other variables.

The Company recognizes adjustments in estimated profit on contracts under the cumulative catch-up method. Under
this method, the impact of the adjustment on profit recorded to date is recognized in the period the adjustment is identified.

Revenue and profit in future periods of contract performance is recognized using the adjusted estimate. If at any

time the estimate of contract profitability indicates an anticipated loss on the contract, the Company recognizes the full
amount of estimated loss in the period it is identified.
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ENERGY AND EVIRONMENTAL ENCONOMICS, INC
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

Contracts are often modified to account for changes in contract specifications and requirements. The Company
considers contract modifications to exist when the modification either creates new rights or obligations or changes the
existing enforceable rights or obligations. Most of the Company’s contract modifications are for services that are not distinct
from existing contracts due to the significant integration provided in the context of the contract and are accounted for as if
they were part of the original contract. The effect of a contract modification that is not distinct from the existing contract on
the transaction price and the Company’s measure of progress for the performance obligation to which it relates is recognized
as an adjustment to revenue (either as an increase in or a reduction of revenue) on a cumulative catch-up basis.

For contract modifications that result in the promise to deliver services that are distinct from the existing contract
and the increase in price of the contract is for the same amount as the standalone selling price of the additional services
included in the modification, the Company accounts for such contract modifications as a separate contract.

Direct costs of contract revenue consist primarily of that portion of technical and nontechnical salaries and wages
that has been incurred in connection with revenue producing projects. Direct costs of contract revenue also include
subcontractor services and other expenses that are incurred in connection with revenue producing projects.

Direct costs of contract revenue exclude that portion of technical salaries and wages related to marketing efforts,
vacations, holidays and other time not spent directly generating revenue under existing contracts. Such costs are included in
selling, general and administrative expenses. Additionally, payroll taxes, bonuses, and employee benefit costs for all
Company personnel are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying statements of income
since no allocation of these costs is made to direct costs of contract revenue. No allocation of facilities costs is made to direct
costs of contract revenue. Other companies may classify as direct costs of contract revenue some of the costs that the
Company classifies as general and administrative costs. The Company expenses direct costs of contract revenue when
incurred.

Included in revenue and costs are all reimbursable costs for which the Company has the risk or on which the fee was
based at the time of bid or negotiation. No revenue or cost is recorded for costs in which the Company acts solely in the
capacity of an agent and has no risks associated with such costs.

Billings and/or payments for contracts for which services are not yet performed are recognized as deferred revenue.

Income Taxes — The Company, with the consent of its shareholders, elected to be taxed under the provisions of Sub-
chapter S of the Internal Revenue Code. Under these provisions, the Company will not pay corporate income taxes on its
taxable income. Instead, the shareholders will be liable for income taxes on the Company’s taxable income as it affects the
shareholders’ individual tax returns.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to income tax matters, if any, in income tax expense.

The Company recognizes and measures its unrecognized tax benefits in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes.
Under that guidance the Company assesses the likelihood, based on their technical merit, that tax positions will be sustained
upon examination based on the facts, circumstances and information available at the end of each period. The measurement of
unrecognized tax benefits is adjusted when new information is available, or when an event occurs that requires a change.

The Company did not recognize any change in its asset or liability for unrecognized tax benefits as the Company

currently has no open examination by an applicable taxing authority or any event that occurred that may require such
adjustments.
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Concentration of Credit Risk -- Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentration of
credit risk, consist principally of deposits greater than $250,000 with each financial institution. During the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company had cash balances on deposit that exceeded the balance insured by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”). As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, cash balances on deposit that exceeded the
balance insured by the FDIC was $3,039,537 and $1,170,453, respectively. Management periodically reviews its cash
policies and believes any potential accounting loss is minimal.

Estimates Included in the Financial Statements -- The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

New Accounting Pronouncement Adopted -- The Company early adopted Accounting Standards Update
(“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, and the subsequent amendments to the initial guidance, effective
January 1, 2018. Under the new standard, revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of promised goods or
services in an amount that reflects the consideration the entity expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services (see
Note 1). In addition, the standard requires disclosure of the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows
arising from contracts with customers.

New Accounting Pronouncement Not Yet Adopted -- In February 2016, FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases
(Topic 842), which requires lessees to recognize lease liabilities and corresponding right-of-use assets for those leases
classified as operating leases under previous U.S. GAAP to increase transparency and comparability. Under the new
standard, enhanced disclosures are required to meet the objective of enabling users of financial statements to assess the
amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from the leases. The new standard requires to use a modified
retrospective approach including a number of optional practical expedients and will be effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2019. The Company will early adopt the new standard in its annual reporting period beginning January 1,
2019. The Company is evaluating the impact of adopting this guidance to the financial statements.

2. Risks and Uncertainties

The Company had one major customer (revenues in excess of 10% of the total revenues) that accounted for 12% and
14% of the total revenues totaling $1,880,000 and $1,688,000 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
The Company also had receivables totaling $212,000 and $139,000 as of December 31, 2018, and 2017, respectively, from

this major customer.

The Company’s business is subject to the risks generally associated with changes in economic condition in which
the Company’s business is concentrated.

3. Common Stock

The Company has 1,000,000 authorized shares for common stock with no par value. During the year ended
December 31, 2018, the Company redeemed 5.4 shares of common stock from one of its shareholders for $925,000. $80,000
of the redemption price was paid in December 2018, and $845,000 will be paid in 2019. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
the Company had 97.2 and 102.6 shares of common stock issued and outstanding, respectively.
4. Related Party Transactions

The Company has receivables amounting to $298,040 from its shareholders at December 31, 2017, and all balances

were reclassified as distributions during 2018.
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5. Lease Commitments

In 2018, the Company entered into a new operating lease agreement in San Francisco, California, which expires in
March 2027. The following is a schedule of the future minimum lease payments:

Year Ending Amount
December 31, 2019 $ 674,993
December 31, 2020 1,056,976
December 31, 2021 1,133,406
December 31, 2022 1,167,462
December 31, 2023 1,202,458

Thereafter 4,165,684

$ 9,400,979

Total rent expense for the operating lease was $645,162 and $514,246 during the years ended December 31, 2018
and 2017, respectively.

6. Retirement Plans

The Company has a defined contribution plan that covers substantially all eligible employees after three months of
service. The Company may make discretionary matching or profit sharing contributions. The Company accrued
approximately $183,000 and $145,000 of employer profit sharing contributions to the plan as of December 31, 2018 and
2017, respectively.

The Company also has a cash balance plan that covers substantially all eligible employees after one year of service,
and a notional balance for each of the plan’s participants is maintained. The Company annually adds to the notional balance a
contribution and an interest credit. Contribution credits are based on a pre-determined formula for different eligible employee
groups as defined in the plan document. Interest credits are based on the yield of 30-year Treasury securities. At termination
of employment, participants may elect a lump sum distribution equal to their vested notional balances. The Company accrued
approximately $245,000 and $534,000 of employer contributions to the plan as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Effective April 15, 2019, the cash balance plan is frozen, and no additional benefits will be accrued and no contributions
credits will be provided (see Note 7)
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The following table sets forth the Plan’s funded status and benefit obligations at December 31, 2018 and 2017:

(1) Change in Benefit Obiligation
(a) Benefit Obligation at the Beginning of the Year
(b) Service Cost
(c) Interest Cost
(d) Benefits Paid
(e) Change in Plan Provisions
(f) Actual (Gain) or Loss
(g) Assumption change(Gain) or Loss
(h) Benefit Obligation at the End of the Year

(2) Change in Plan Assets
(a) Fair Value of Plan Assets at the Beginning of the Year
(b) Actual Return on Plan Assets
(c) Benefits Paid
(d) Employer Contributions
(e) Fair Value of Assets at the End of the Year

(3) Net Amount Recognized
(a) Funded Status

(4) Amounts Recognized in the Statement of Financial Position

(a) Noncurrent Assets

(b) Current Liabilities

(c) Noncurrent Liabilities
(d) Net Amount Recognized

(5) Amounts Recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

(a) Prior Service Cost

(b) Net (Gain) or Loss

(c) Effect of Curtailment

(d) Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

(6) Weighted Average Assumptions at the End of the Year
(a) Interest Crediting Rate
(b) Mortality

15

2018 2017
$ 2,456,067 $ 1,869,083
534,398 491,677
68,770 53,456
31,804 41,851
$ 3,001,039 $ 2,456,067
$ 2210375 $ 1,431,410
(123,061) 285,439
534,397 493,526
$ 2,621,711 $ 2,210,375
$ (469.328) $ (245,692)
$ — 3 —
(469,328) —
— (245,692)
$ (469328) $ (245,692)
$ — 3 —
151,422 (127,322)
$ 151422 $ (127322

3.36 % 2.80 %

NA NA
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The following table provides the components of net periodic benefit cost and other changes in plan assets and
benefit obligations recognized in other comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
(1) Net Periodic Benefit Cost
(a) Service Cost $ 534398 § 491,677
(b) Interest Cost 68,770 53,456
(c) Expected Return on Plan Assets (123,879) (83,862)
(d) Amortization of Prior Service Cost — —
(e) Amortization of Net (Gain) or Loss — —
(f) Total Net Periodic Benefit Cost 479,289 461,271
(g) Recognition of Gain upon Settlement — —
(h) Immediate Recognition of Prior Service Cost in AOCI — —
(i) Net Expense under ASC 715 — —
Total Pension Expense $ 479,289 $§ 461,271
(2) Other Changes in Plan Assets and Benefit Obligations Recognized in Other
Comprehensive Income
(a) Prior Service Cost for period $ — 3 —
(b) Net (Gain) or Loss for period 278,744 (159,726)
(c) Amortization of Prior Service Cost — —
(d) Amortization of Net (Gain) or Loss — —
(e) Effect of Curtailment and Settlement — —
(f) Total Recognized in Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) $§ 278,744 $ (159,726)
(3) Total Recognized in Net Periodic Benefit Cost and OCI $ 758,033 $§ 301,545
(4) Weighted Average Assumptions to determine Net Periodic Benefit Cost
(a) Interest Crediting Rate 2.8 % 2.86 %
(b) Expected Return on Plan Assets 5% 5%
(c) Rate of Compensation Increase NA NA
Plan Assets
Mutual Funds 43 % 37 %
Exchange Traded Funds 57 % 63 %

Fair Value of Plan Assets - Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The three levels of the fair

value hierarchy under FASB ASC 820 are described as follows:

Level 1 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities

in active markets.

Level 2 - Inputs to the valuation methodology include: quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in
active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets; inputs other
than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability; and other inputs that are derived principally

from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.

Level 3 — Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable.
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The cash balance plan assets consist of all publicly traded mutual funds and exchange traded funds and are
categorized as Level 1.

During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, pension expense for the cash balance plan was $479,289 and
$461,271. Management contributions to the cash balance plan made in 2019 for 2018 was $244,628.

7. Subsequent Events

On April 15, 2019, the Company has restated the cash balance plan to freeze and terminate all plan benefits. The
cash balance plan obligations presented on the financial statements as of December 31, 2018 may not be fully indicative of its
actual obligation at the time of distribution of benefits to all participants due to factors such as market value of assets and
interest credits. Management believes its obligations may be lower than stated at December 31, 2018. Projected distributions
based on the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation (“PBGC”) timetable approximate $3.188 million. At August 31, 2019,
fair value of plan assets approximate $3.125 million inclusive of $244,628 contributions received in March 2019. On
September 24, 2019, the Company received a letter from PBGC relating to the plan’s termination notice. There is a 60-day
wait period before any distributions to the participants can take place to ascertain that there is no non-compliance. On
September 25, 2019, the Company also received the Internal Revenue Service determination letter stating that the termination
does not affect its qualification for federal tax purposes. The Company intends to cover any obligation required at time of
distribution.

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through October 12, 2019, the date on which the financial statements

was available to be issued and except as discussed above and in Note 6, noted no subsequent events that would require
recognition in the financial statements or the notes thereto as of October 12, 2019.
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Exhibit 99.3

WILLDAN GROUP, INC. AND E3, INC.
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Willdan Group, Inc., together with its direct and indirect subsidiaries, is referred to herein collectively as “we,” “our,” “Willdan,”
or the “Company.”

Acquisition of E3, Inc.

On October 28, 2019 (the “E3, Inc. Closing Date”), the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary WES, acquired (“the
Acquisition”) all of the capital stock of Energy and Environmental Economics, Inc. (“E3, Inc.”) pursuant to the terms of a stock purchase
agreement (the “Stock Purchase Agreement”) by and among the Company, WES, E3, Inc., each of the stockholders of E3, Inc. (the “E3,
Inc. Stockholders™) and Ren Orans, as seller representative of the E3, Inc. Stockholders. E3, Inc. is an energy consulting firm that helps
utilities, regulators, policy makers, developers, and investors make strategic decisions as they implement new public policies, respond to
technological advances, and address customers’ shifting expectations in clean energy. The Company agreed to pay up to $44.0 million for
the purchase of all of the capital stock of E3, Inc., which purchase price consists of (i) $27.0 million in cash paid on the E3, Inc. Closing
Date (subject to holdbacks and adjustments), (ii) $5.0 million in shares of the Company’s common stock, based on the volume-weighted
average price per share of the Company’s common stock for the ten trading days immediately following, but not including, the E3, Inc.
Closing Date and (iii) up to $12.0 million in cash if E3, Inc. exceeds certain financial targets during the three years after the E3, Inc.
Closing Date, as more fully described below (such potential payments of up to $12.0 million, being referred to as “Earn-Out Payments”
and $12.0 million in respect thereof, being referred to as the “Maximum Payout”).

The amount of the Earn-Out Payments to be paid will be determined based on E3, Inc.’s earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”). The E3, Inc. Stockholders will receive Earn-Out Payments in each of the three years after the
E3, Inc. Closing Date (the “Earn-Out Period”) based on the amount by which E3, Inc.’s EBITDA exceeds certain targets. The amounts due
to the E3, Inc. Stockholders as Earn-Out Payments will in no event, individually or in the aggregate, exceed the Maximum Payout. Earn-
Out Payments will be made in annual installments for each of the three years of the Earn-Out Period. In addition, the Earn-Out Payments
will be subject to certain subordination provisions in favor of the lenders under the Company’s Credit Agreement.

The Purchase Agreement also contains customary representations and warranties regarding WES, the Company, E3, Inc. and the
E3, Inc. Stockholders, indemnification provisions and other provisions customary for transactions of this nature.

The Company borrowed $27.0 million under its Delayed Draw Term Loan on October 28, 2019 to fund the $27.0 million cash
payment paid on the E3, Inc. Closing Date, which reduced the future borrowing capacity under the Delayed Draw Term Loan to $23.0
million. See Note 7 “—Debt Obligations” of the notes to the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements included in its report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 27, 2019 for a description of the Delayed Draw Term Loan.

E3, Inc.’s financial information will be included within the Energy segment beginning in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2019.
The Company expects to finalize the purchase price allocation with respect to this transaction during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020.

Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is based on the historical consolidated financial
statements of the Company and the historical financial statements of E3, Inc. and is intended to provide information about how the
Acquisition and the related borrowings under the Delayed Draw Term Loan may affect the Company’s historical consolidated financial
statements. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations and comprehensive income information for the fiscal
year ended December 28, 2018 and for the six months ended June 28, 2019 are presented as if the Acquisition and the related borrowings
under the Delayed Draw Term Loan occurred on December 30, 2017. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of
June 28, 2019 is presented as if the Acquisition and the related borrowings under the Delayed Draw Term Loan occurred on June 28, 2019.
The pro forma adjustments are described in the accompanying notes and are based upon available information and assumptions that we
believe are reasonable at the time of the filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information presented herein should be read in conjunction with:
the Company’s unaudited historical financial statements and related notes thereto contained in its Quarterly Reports on

Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 29, 2019 and six months ended June 28, 2019, filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on May 6, 2019 and August 2, 2019, respectively;




the Company’s audited historical consolidated financial statements and related notes, contained in its Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2018, filed with the SEC on March 8, 2019;

E3 Inc.’s unaudited historical financial statements and related notes thereto as of and for the six months ended June 30,
2019 and 2018, attached to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as Exhibit 99.1; and

E3, Inc.’s audited historical financial statements and related notes thereto as of and for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017, attached to this Current Report on Form 10-Q as Exhibit 99.2.

We present the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information for informational purposes only. The unaudited
pro forma condensed combined financial information is not necessarily indicative of what our financial position or results of operations
would have been had we completed the Acquisition and the related borrowings under the Delayed Draw Term Loan as of the dates
indicated above. In addition, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information does not purport to project the future
financial position or operating results of the combined company.

E3, Inc.’s assets and liabilities are recorded at their estimated fair values. Pro forma purchase price allocation adjustments have
been made for the purpose of providing unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information based on current estimates and
currently available information, and are subject to revision based on final, independent determinations of fair value and final allocation of
purchase price to the assets and liabilities of the business acquired. Differences between the estimates reflected in the unaudited pro forma
condensed combined financial information and the final acquisition accounting will likely occur, and these
differences could have a material impact on the accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information and the
combined company’s future consolidated financial condition or results of operations.

Further, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations and comprehensive income do not reflect the
realization of any expected cost savings and other synergies resulting from the Acquisition as a result of any cost saving initiatives nor do
they reflect any nonrecurring costs directly attributable to the Acquisition. The accounting policies used in the presentation of the following
unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information are those set out in the Company’s audited consolidated financial
statements for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2018.




WILLDAN GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

(Unaudited)
Willdan
Group, Inc. E3, Inc.
Historical Historical
Six Months Six Months Willdan
Ended Ended Group, Inc.
June 28, June 30, Pro Forma Pro Forma
2019 2019 Adjustments Combined
Contract revenue $ 196,189 $ 8,171 § — $ 204,360
Direct costs of contract revenue (inclusive of directly related depreciation
and amortization):
Salaries and wages 30,534 2,313 — 32,847
Subcontractor services and other direct costs 108,571 396 — 108,967
Total direct costs of contract revenue 139,105 2,709 — 141,814
General and administrative expenses:
Salaries and wages, payroll taxes and employee benefits 30,406 1,954 — 32,360
Facilities and facility related 3,819 599 — 4418
Stock-based compensation 4,041 — — 4,041
Depreciation and amortization 5,520 50 950 (a) 6,520
Other 10,759 526 — 11,285
Total general and administrative expenses 54,545 3,129 950 58,624
Income from operations 2,539 2,333 (950) 3,922
Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net (2,342) — (514)(b) (2,856)
Other, net 29 (1) — 28
Total other expense, net (2,313) (1) (514) (2,828)
Income before income taxes 226 2,332 (1,464) 1,094
Income tax (benefit) expense (997) 4 243 (c) (750)
Net income $ 1,223 $ 2328 $  (1,707) § 1,844
Other comprehensive income:
Net unrealized gain (loss) on derivative contracts and foreign currency
translation $ (438) $ 236 $ — 3 (202)
Comprehensive income $ 785 $ 2,564 §  (1,707) § 1,642
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 0.11 $ 0.17
Diluted $ 0.10 $ 0.16
Weighted-average shares outstanding:
Basic 11,037 127 (d) 11,164 (d)
Diluted 11,670 127 (d) 11,797 (d)

(a) Reflects $0.95 million of amortization expenses attributable to intangible assets assumed to be acquired as part of the acquisition.

(b) Reflects estimated incremental interest expense after $27.0 million in new term loan borrowings under the Company’s Delayed
Draw Term Loan to finance the Acquisition. The interest expense for borrowings under the Delayed Draw Term Loan is based on an
interest rate of 3.80%, which assumes one-month LIBOR as of October 28, 2019 plus an applicable margin of 2.00% based on the
Company’s consolidated leverage ratio after the Acquisition. The Delayed Draw Term Loan bears interest at a rate equal to either, at the
Company’s option, (i) the highest of the prime rate, the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.50% or one-month LIBOR plus 1.00% (“Base Rate”)
or (ii) LIBOR, in each case plus an applicable margin ranging from 0.125% to 1.00% with respect to Base Rate borrowings and 1.125%
to 2.00% with respect to LIBOR borrowings. The applicable margin is based upon the Company’s consolidated total leverage ratio. A
change of 12.5 basis points in the interest rate would change interest expense for the period shown by $16,900.




(c) Represents the income tax impact of the pro forma adjustments based on the federal statutory rate of 28.0%.

(d) Represents estimated issuance of 127,000 shares of the Company’s common stock as part of the purchase price for the
Acquisition. The Company agreed to issue a number of shares of Company common stock having a value equal to $5,000,000 based
upon the volume weighted average price for the ten (10) trading days immediately following the closing date of the Acquisition,
excluding the closing date. For purposes of these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements, the Company has
assumed shares were issued at $39.37 per share, which was the Company’s closing price as of October 28, 2019.




WILLDAN GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

(Unaudited)
Willdan
Group, Inc. E3, Inc.
Historical Historical Willdan
Year Ended Year Ended Group, Inc.
December 28,  December 31, Pro Forma Pro Forma
2018 2018 Adjustments Combined
Contract revenue $ 272252 $§ 16,129 $ $ 288,381
Direct costs of contract revenue (inclusive of directly related
depreciation and amortization):
Salaries and wages 46,588 4,548 — 51,136
Subcontractor services and other direct costs 132,693 816 — 133,509
Total direct costs of contract revenue 179,281 5,364 — 184,645
General and administrative expenses:

Salaries and wages, payroll taxes and employee benefits 45,248 5,169 — 50,417

Facilities and facility related 5,600 645 — 6,245

Stock-based compensation 6,262 — — 6,262

Depreciation and amortization 6,060 68 1,600 (a) 7,728

Other 17,030 966 — 17,996

Total general and administrative expenses 80,200 6,848 1,600 88,648
Income from operations 12,771 3,917 (1,600) 15,088
Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net (700) — (1,027)(b) (1,727)
Other, net 90 ) 81
Total other expense, net (610) ) (1,027) (1,646)
Income before income taxes 12,161 3,908 (2,627) 13,442
Income tax (benefit) expense 2,131 18 359 (¢) 2,508
Net income $ 10,030 $ 3,800 $  (2986) $ 10,934
Other comprehensive income:

Net unrealized loss on foreign currency translation $ $ (280) $ $ (280)
Comprehensive income § 10,030 § 3610 $ (2986) $ 10,654
Earnings per share:

Basic $ 1.08 $ 1.16

Diluted $ 1.03 $ 1.10
Weighted-average shares outstanding:

Basic 9,264 127 (d) 9,391 (d)

Diluted 9,763 127 (d) 9,890 (d)

(a) Reflects $1.6 million of amortization expenses attributable to intangible assets assumed to be acquired as part of the
Acquisition.

(b) Reflects estimated incremental interest expense after $27.0 million in new term loan borrowings under the Company’s Delayed
Draw Term Loan to finance the Acquisition. The interest expense for borrowings under the Delayed Draw Term Loan is based on
an interest rate of 3.80%, which assumes one-month LIBOR as of October 28, 2019 plus an applicable margin of 2.00% based on
the Company’s consolidated leverage ratio after the Acquisition. The Delayed Draw Term Loan bears interest at a rate equal to
either, at the Company’s option, (i) the highest of the prime rate, the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.50% or one-month LIBOR plus
1.00% (“Base Rate”) or (ii) LIBOR, in each case plus an applicable margin ranging from 0.125% to 1.00% with respect to Base
Rate borrowings and 1.125% to 2.00% with respect to LIBOR borrowings. The applicable margin is based upon the Company’s
consolidated total leverage ratio. A change of 12.5 basis points in the interest rate would change interest expense for the period
shown by $33,800.




(c) Represents the income tax impact of the pro forma adjustments based on the federal statutory rate of 28.0%.

(d) Represents estimated issuance of 127,000 shares of the Company’s common stock as part of the purchase price for the
Acquisition. The Company agreed to issue a number of shares of Company common stock having a value equal to $5,000,000 based
upon the volume weighted average price for the ten (10) trading days immediately following the closing date of the Acquisition,
excluding the closing date. For purposes of these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements, the Company has
assumed shares were issued at $39.37 per share, which was the Company’s closing price as of October 28, 2019.




Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

WILLDAN GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet

(in thousands, except par value)

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $501 at June

28,2019
Contract assets
Other receivables
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Equipment and leasehold improvements, net
Goodwill
Right-of-use assets
Other intangible assets, net
Other assets
Deferred income taxes, net
Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Contingent consideration payable
Contract liabilities
Notes payable
Finance lease obligations
Lease liability
Total current liabilities
Contingent consideration payable
Notes payable
Finance lease obligations, less current portion
Lease liability, less current portion
Other noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 10,000 shares authorized, no shares issued

and outstanding

Common stock, $0.01 par value, 40,000 shares authorized; 11,317 and
10,968 shares issued and outstanding at September 27, 2019 and December

28, 2018, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

Willdan
Group, Inc. E3, Inc
Historical Historical Willdan
As of As of Group, Inc.
June 28, June 30, Pro Forma Pro Forma
2019 2019 Adjustments Combined
$ 27,602 $ 1,049 $ — $ 28,651
46,828 3,745 — 50,573
60,433 — — 60,433
3,649 — — 3,649
5,143 78 — 5,221
143,655 4,872 — 148,527
10,556 420 — 10,976
110,204 — 20,164 (a) 130,368
12,036 7,012 — 19,048
48,087 — 13,300 (b) 61,387
4,366 341 — 4,707
12,488 — — 12,488
$ 341,392 § 12,645 $ 33,464 $ 387,501
$ 30,261 $ 312 $ — $ 30,573
40,174 351 — 40,525
1,681 — — 1,681
5,291 — — 5,291
10,643 — 2,700 (c) 13,343
396 — — 396
4,056 578 — 4,634
92,502 1,241 2,700 96,443
1,040 — 6,000 (f) 7,040
90,139 — 24,300 (c) 114,439
261 — — 261
8,944 6,868 — 15,812
981 — — 981
193,867 8,109 33,000 234,976
112 244 (243)(d) 113
116,457 — 4,999 (d) 121,456
(438) 128 (128)(e) (438)
31,394 4,164 (4,164)(e) 31,394
147,525 4,536 464 152,525
$ 341,392 $ 12,645 $ 33,464 $ 387,501

(a) Reflects the estimated amount of goodwill to be acquired at the date of the Acquisition. Goodwill represents the total excess of the total purchase price over
the fair value of the net assets acquired. This allocation is based on preliminary estimates; the final acquisition cost allocation may differ materially from the
preliminary assessment outlined above. Any changes to the initial estimates of the fair value of the assets and liabilities will be allocated to goodwill. Residual
goodwill at the date of Acquisition will vary from goodwill presented in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet due to changes in the net
book value of intangible assets during the period from June 30, 2019 through the date of the Acquisition as well as results of an independent valuation, which has

not been completed at the time of this report.

(b) Reflects the preliminary estimate of the fair value of the acquired intangible assets. The purchase price allocated to these intangible assets is based on
management’s estimate of the fair value of assets purchased, and has not been subject to an independent valuation at the time of this report.

(c¢) Reflects borrowings of $27.0 million under the Company’s Delayed Draw Term Loan to finance the Acquisition.




(d) Represents the estimated issuance of 127,000 shares of the Company’s common stock as part of the purchase price for the Acquisition and the elimination of
the historical owners’ equity interests in E3, Inc. The Company agreed to issue a number of shares of Company common stock having a value equal to $5,000,000
based upon the volume weighted average price for the ten (10) trading days immediately following the closing date of the Acquisition, excluding the closing

date. For purposes of these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements, the Company has assumed shares were issued at $39.37 per share,
which was the Company’s closing price as of October 28, 2019.

(e) Represents the elimination of the historical owners' equity interest in E3.

(f) Represents the estimated net present value of the maximum $12 million earn out potential over the three year period subsequent to the closing.




